EFiled: May 06 2022 09:38AM EDT Transaction ID 67594017 Case No. 2022-0396-

IN THE COURT OF CHANCERY OF THE STATE OF DELAWARE

ORLANDO POLICE PENSION FUND, on)	
behalf of itself and all other similarly	
situated stockholders of TWITTER, INC.,	
)	
Plaintiff,	C A N - 2022
)	C.A. No. 2022
V.)	
TWITTER, INC., PARAG AGRAWAL,	
MIMI ALEMAYEHOU, JACK DORSEY,)	
EGON DURBAN, MARTHA LANE FOX,)	
OMID KORDESTANI, FEI-FEI LI,	
PATRICK PICHETTE, DAVID	
ROSENBLATT, BRET TAYLOR,	
ROBERT ZOELLICK, and ELON MUSK,	
Defendants.	

PLAINTIFF'S MOTION FOR EXPEDITED DISCOVERY AND PROCEEDINGS AND SETTING A PROMPT TRIAL

Plaintiff Orlando Police Pension Fund ("Plaintiff") hereby moves the Court to enter the attached [Proposed] Order Expediting Discovery and Proceedings and Setting a Prompt Trial. The grounds for this motion (the "Motion") follow.¹

PRELIMINARY STATEMENT AND FACTUAL BACKGROUND

1. On April 25, 2022, Twitter entered into a Merger Agreement to be acquired by an entity wholly-owned by Elon Musk ("Musk") in exchange for \$54.20 per share in an all-cash deal valued at approximately \$44 billion (the "Proposed Takeover"), subject to approval by a simple majority of Twitter's outstanding voting

¹ Capitalized terms used herein but not otherwise defined have the meanings ascribed to them in the Complaint, referred to herein as "¶ " or "¶¶ ".

- stock. ¶¶ 1, 31. Because Musk was an "interested stockholder" under 8 *Del. C.* § 203 ("Section 203") before the Merger Agreement was approved by Twitter's board of directors (the "Board"), however, the Proposed Takeover may not lawfully close until 2025 absent approval by the affirmative vote of $66^2/_3\%$ of Twitter's voting stock not "owned" by Musk within the meaning of Section 203.
- 2. As detailed in Plaintiff's Complaint, Musk became an "interested stockholder" under Section 203 based on his own substantial beneficial holdings of Twitter common stock (approximately 9.6%, which he acquired beginning in January 2022) and the holdings of at least two other substantial Twitter stockholders with whom Musk had an "agreement, arrangement, or understanding" within the meaning of Section 203: (i) Morgan Stanley, which beneficially owns approximately 8.8% of Twitter's outstanding voting stock and serves as Musk's financial adviser and primary financier in connection with the Proposed Takeover; and (ii) Twitter co-founder, former CEO, and director Jack Dorsey ("Dorsey"), who beneficially owns approximately 2.4% of Twitter's outstanding voting stock, encouraged Musk to take Twitter private through the Proposed Takeover, and appears likely to receive equity in the newly-private Company following the Proposed Takeover should it close. ¶¶ 2, 4, 34-39.
- 3. Additionally, according to public reporting, it appears Musk likely also has AAUs with other significant holders of Twitter common stock whose support

for the Proposed Takeover Musk secured prior to the Twitter Board's approval of the deal. ¶¶ 3, 65-66.

- Even putting aside the AAUs with other significant holders of Twitter common stock, Musk, Morgan Stanley, and Dorsey collectively own approximately 20.8% of Twitter's outstanding common stock, exceeding the 15% threshold triggering application of Section 203. Yet, the Merger Agreement incorrectly states that: (i) in the three years prior to its execution, Musk was not an "interested stockholder' (as defined in Section 203 of the DGCL) of the Company"; and (ii) the Proposed Takeover may lawfully close in 2022 if it is approved by the "affirmative vote of a majority of the outstanding shares of Company Common Stock entitled to vote," including such stock owned by Musk. Indeed, the Merger Agreement includes a termination date, subject to a potential six-month extension, of October 24, 2022. ¶¶ 4, 39-40, 72, 74; see also Merger Agreement (Ex. 1 hereto) at § 5.8 (representation Musk is not an "interested stockholder"); § 4.20 (voting standard); § 6.2(d) (Musk's participation in vote); § 8.1 (termination date).
- 5. Plaintiff brings this action: (i) for a declaratory judgment that Musk is an "interested stockholder" within the meaning of Section 203 and that the Proposed Takeover may not lawfully close within three years of the time that Musk became an "interested stockholder," unless the Proposed Takeover is approved by the affirmative vote of at least $66^2/_3\%$ of Twitter's outstanding voting stock not "owned"

by Musk within the meaning of Section 203; and (ii) to hold the members of the Board accountable for their failure to properly condition the Proposed Takeover on the $66^2/_3\%$ unaffiliated vote required by Section 203.

6. Plaintiff seeks a prompt trial to ensure the vote of Twitter stockholders on the Proposed Takeover is properly informed concerning the applicability of Section 203 and its implications for the Proposed Takeover and the interests of Twitter's public stockholders in connection therewith.

ARGUMENT

A. Standard for Expedition

- 7. The Court will grant expedited proceedings when a "plaintiff has articulated a sufficiently colorable claim and shown a sufficient possibility of a threatened irreparable injury" *Sinchareonkul v. Fahnemann*, 2015 WL 292314, at *4 (Del. Ch. Jan. 22, 2015), quoting *Giammargo v. Snapple Beverage Corp.*, 1994 WL 672698, at *2 (Del. Ch. Nov. 15, 1994).
- 8. In determining whether a Plaintiff has pled a colorable claim, "the Court will not pass on the ultimate likelihood of success." *Cty of York Emps. Ret. Plan v. Merrill Lynch & Co., Inc.*, 2008 WL 4824053, at *8 (Del. Ch. Oct. 28, 2008). Rather, the Court must accept the allegations within the Complaint as true and "ascertain whether, based on the allegations, a colorable claim or claims exist." *TCW Tech. Ltd. P'ship v. Intermediate Commc'ns, Inc.*, 2000 WL 1478537, at *2

(Del. Ch. Oct. 2, 2000). The standard of pleading a colorable claim is "if . . . not the lowest in our law, it is near the lowest." *In re USG Corp. S'holder Litig.*, Consol. C.A. No. 2018-0602-SG, at 25 (Del. Ch. Aug. 29, 2018) (TRANSCRIPT).

B. Plaintiff Has Stated Valid and Plainly Colorable Claims Concerning Section 203

- 9. Under Section 203, an "interested stockholder" may not engage in a "business combination" with a Delaware corporation for three years after such stockholder became an "interested stockholder," unless, as relevant here: (i) prior to such time the Board approves the event by which a party became an interested stockholder; or (ii) the business combination is subject to a $66^2/_3\%$ vote of the company's unaffiliated stockholders. 8 *Del. C.* § 203(a).
- 10. Section 203(c)(5) defines "interested stockholder" as any "person" that "is the owner of 15% or more of the outstanding voting stock of the corporation." Siegman v. Columbia Pictures Entm't, Inc., 576 A.2d 625, 629 (Del. Ch. 1989).
 - 11. In turn, the statute broadly defines "Owner" to include:

a person that individually or with or through any of its affiliates or associates: (i) [b]eneficially owns such stock, directly or indirectly; or . . . (iii) [h]as any agreement, arrangement or understanding for the purpose of acquiring, holding, voting . . . or disposing of such stock ["AAU"] with any other person that beneficially owns, or whose affiliates or associates beneficially own, directly or indirectly, such stock.

8 *Del. C.* § 203(c)(9) (emphasis added).

- 12. This Court interprets the meaning of an AAU expansively, to encompass "all arrangements, whether formal or informal, written or unwritten." *Siegman*, 576 A.2d at 631-32; *see also Chesapeake Corp. v. Shore*, 771 A.2d 293, 353 (Del. Ch. 2000) (finding an AAU "permit[s] a fairly high degree of informality in the form in which parties come together.").
- 13. Musk and Morgan Stanley had at least three distinct "agreement[s], arrangement[s] or understanding[s] for the purposes of acquiring, holding, voting ... or disposing" of Morgan Stanley's Twitter stock by no later than April 20, 2022—the date of Morgan Stanley's financing commitment to Musk and five days before the Board approved the Merger Agreement. ¶¶ 39, 41-52.
- 14. *First*, Musk and Morgan Stanley had an AAU that Morgan Stanley would serve as Musk's lead financial advisor in connection with Musk's efforts to acquire Twitter and would work to accomplish Musk's acquisition of all Twitter shares that he did not already own, including Morgan Stanley's own Twitter shares. ¶49.
- 15. Second, Musk and Morgan Stanley had an AAU that Morgan Stanley would finance Musk's acquisition of all Twitter shares that he did not already own, including Morgan Stanley's own Twitter shares. ¶ 50.
- 16. *Third*, Musk and Morgan Stanley had an AAU that Morgan Stanley would vote its Twitter shares in favor of Musk's attempt to acquire Twitter. It is

reasonably inferable that, given Morgan Stanley's role as Musk's primary adviser and financial backer for his takeover efforts—and the profit Morgan Stanley stood to receive in connection therewith—Musk and Morgan Stanley had an "understanding" that Morgan Stanley would vote its Twitter shares in favor of Musk's Proposed Takeover. ¶ 51.

- 17. Musk similarly had an "agreement, arrangement or understanding for the purposes of acquiring, holding, voting . . . or disposing" of Dorsey's Twitter stock before the Board's approval of the Merger Agreement. Specifically, Dorsey helped to instigate Musk's takeover of Twitter, including by encouraging Musk to take the Company private. ¶¶ 53-63. When the Board initially rebuffed Musk's takeover bid, Dorsey publicly sided with Musk and tweeted about the dysfunction of the Board. ¶¶ 58-59.
- 18. Once Musk secured the Board's approval for the Proposed Takeover, Dorsey tweeted praise of Musk, stating "Elon is the singular solution I trust. I trust his mission to extend the light of consciousness" and "This is the right path . . . I believe it with all my heart." ¶ 59. There has also been widespread speculation that Musk may reinstate Dorsey as CEO of the newly-private Company. ¶ 61. Additionally, it has been reported that Musk and Dorsey are in talks for Dorsey to roll over equity in the newly-private Company following the Proposed Takeover. ¶ 62.

- 19. Thus, it is reasonably inferable that, prior to the Board's approval of the Merger Agreement, Dorsey and Musk had an "understanding" within the meaning of Section 203 that Dorsey would vote his Twitter shares in support of Musk's takeover bid.
- 20. The above-described AAUs rendered Musk the "owner" of the 8.8% and 2.4% of Twitter shares beneficially owned by Morgan Stanley and Dorsey, respectively, under Section 203(c)(9)(iii). For purposes of Section 203, Musk is therefore the "owner" of at least 20.8% of Twitter's outstanding shares of common stock.²
- 21. Prior to the time that Musk reached AAUs with Morgan Stanley and Dorsey and became an "interested stockholder" of Twitter, the Board had not approved the AAUs or the Proposed Takeover, nor waived the requirements of Section 203. ¶¶ 39, 87.
- 22. Thus, when Musk became an "interested stockholder" under Section 203, he was prohibited from acquiring Twitter for three years absent satisfaction of

² As detailed in the Complaint, public reports suggest that Musk likely secured *additional* AAUs with other large Twitter stockholders prior to securing the Twitter Board's agreement to the Proposed Takeover, which would make Musk the "owner" (for purposes of Section 203) of even more than 20.8% of Twitter's outstanding shares. ¶¶ 3, 68-69.

one of Section 203's three enumerated exceptions, none of which have been or will be satisfied in connection with the Proposed Takeover. ¶ 87.

C. Plaintiff and the Class Face Irreparable Harm

- 23. Plaintiff need only show "a possibility" of irreparable injury to obtain expedited proceedings. *TCW Tech. Ltd. P'ship v. Intermedia Commc'ns, Inc.*, 2000 WL 1478537, at *2 (Del. Ch. Oct. 2, 2000). A motion to expedite should not be denied merely because money damages are theoretically possible. *Cty. of York*, 2008 WL 4824053, at *8. Plaintiff has easily shown the possibility of irreparable harm.
- 24. "[A] colorable claim under Section 203 establishes a sufficient threat of irreparable harm." *Hawkes v. Bettino, et al.* ("*TD Ameritrade*"), C.A. No. 2020-0360-PAF, at 50 (Del. Ch. May 15, 2020) (TRANSCRIPT) (Ex. 2 hereto). This is because violations of "fundamental stockholder rights guaranteed by statute," such as Section 203 rights, cause irreparable harm *per se. See Datapoint Corp. v. Plaza Sec. Co.*, 496 A.2d 1031, 1036 (Del. 1985).
- 25. Hence, the Court routinely expedites colorable Section 203 claims. *See, e.g., TD Ameritrade*, Tr. at 50; *TCW Tech.*, 2000 WL 1478537, at *2 (Del. Ch. 2000) (finding a "sufficient possibility of a threatened irreparable injury" where Section 203 claim was colorable).
- 26. Here, absent expedition, Twitter stockholders face the irreparable harm of being forced to vote on the Proposed Takeover without being properly informed

concerning the applicability of Section 203 and its implications for the transaction, and of having their Company proceed towards a transaction which cannot lawfully close.

CONCLUSION

Plaintiff respectfully requests an Order expediting proceedings and setting a trial on Plaintiff's Section 203 claim prior to the stockholder vote.

Of Counsel:

David Wales SAXENA WHITE P.A. 10 Bank St., 8th Floor White Plains, NY 10606 (914) 437-8551 (pro hac vice motion forthcoming)

Adam Warden SAXENA WHITE P.A. 7777 Glades Rd., Suite 300 Boca Raton, FL 33434 (561) 394-3399 (pro hac vice motion forthcoming)

Jeremy Friedman
David Tejtel
FRIEDMAN OSTER &
TEJTEL PLLC
493 Bedford Center Road, Suite 2D
Bedford Hills, NY 10507
(888) 529-1108
(pro hac vice motions forthcoming)

May 6, 2022

SAXENA WHITE P.A.

/s/ Thomas Curry

Thomas Curry (#5877)
Tayler D. Bolton (#6640)
1000 N. West Street, Suite 1200
Wilmington, DE 19801
(302) 485-0483
tcurry@saxenawhite.com
tbolton@saxenawhite.com

Counsel for Plaintiff

Words: 2,001

EFiled: May 06 2022 09:38AM EDT Transaction ID 67594017 Case No. 2022-0396-

Exhibit 1

Exhibit 2.1 EXECUTION VERSION

AGREEMENT AND PLAN OF MERGER

by and among

X HOLDINGS I, INC.,

X HOLDINGS II, INC.

and

TWITTER, INC.

Dated as of April 25, 2022

TABLE OF CONTENTS

ARTICLE I DEFINITIONS ARTICLE II THE MERGER		2
		13
Section 2.1	The Merger	13
Section 2.2	The Closing	13
Section 2.3	Effective Time	13
Section 2.4	Certificate of Incorporation and Bylaws	13
Section 2.5	Board of Directors	14
Section 2.6	Officers	14
ARTICLE III EFFE	ECT OF THE MERGER ON CAPITAL STOCK	14
Section 3.1	Effect on Securities	14
Section 3.2	Payment for Securities; Exchange of Certificates	15
Section 3.3	Lost Certificates	17
Section 3.4	Transfers; No Further Ownership Rights	17
Section 3.5	Dissenting Shares	17
Section 3.6	Company Equity Awards	18
Section 3.7	Company ESPP	20
ARTICLE IV REP	RESENTATIONS AND WARRANTIES OF THE COMPANY	21
Section 4.1	Organization and Qualification; Subsidiaries	21
Section 4.2	Capitalization	21
Section 4.3	Authority Relative to Agreement	23
Section 4.4	No Conflict; Required Filings and Consents	23
Section 4.5	Permits; Compliance With Laws	24
Section 4.6	Company SEC Documents; Financial Statements	25
Section 4.7	Information Supplied	25
Section 4.8	Disclosure Controls and Procedures	25
Section 4.9	Absence of Certain Changes or Events	26
Section 4.10	No Undisclosed Liabilities	26
Section 4.11	Litigation	26
Section 4.12	Employee Benefit Plans	26
Section 4.13	Labor Matters	28
Section 4.14	Intellectual Property	28
Section 4.15	Taxes	29
Section 4.16	Material Contracts	30
Section 4.17	RESERVED	30
Section 4.18	RESERVED	30
Section 4.19	Takeover Statutes	30
Section 4.20	Vote Required	30
Section 4.21	Brokers	30
Section 4.22	Opinions of Financial Advisors	31
Section 4.23	Rights Agreement	31
Section 4.24	RESERVED	31

Section 4.25	No Other Representations or Warranties	31
ARTICLE V REPRI	ESENTATIONS AND WARRANTIES OF PARENT AND ACQUISITION SUB	31
Section 5.1	Organization and Qualification	31
Section 5.2	Authority Relative to Agreement	32
Section 5.3	No Conflict; Required Filings and Consents	33
Section 5.4	Financing	33
Section 5.5	Information Supplied	35
Section 5.6	Brokers	35
Section 5.7	Compliance With Laws	36
Section 5.8	Ownership of Company	36
Section 5.9	Solvency	36
Section 5.10	Parent Guarantee	36
Section 5.11	Acknowledgment of Disclaimer of Other Representations and Warranties	37
ARTICLE VI COVI	ENANTS AND AGREEMENTS	37
Section 6.1	Conduct of Business by the Company Pending the Merger	37
Section 6.2	Preparation of the Proxy Statement; Company Stockholders' Meeting	40
Section 6.3	Efforts to Close; Regulatory Filings	41
Section 6.4	Access to Information; Confidentiality	43
Section 6.5	Non-Solicitation; Competing Proposals	44
Section 6.6	Directors' and Officers' Indemnification and Insurance	48
Section 6.7	Notification of Certain Matters	50
Section 6.8	Public Announcements	50
Section 6.9	Employee Benefits	51
Section 6.10	Financing	52
Section 6.11	Financing Cooperation	56
Section 6.12	Acquisition Sub	59
Section 6.13	Rule 16b-3 Matters	59
Section 6.14	Delisting of Company Common Stock	59
ARTICLE VII CON	IDITIONS TO THE MERGER	59
Section 7.1	Conditions to the Obligations of Each Party	59
Section 7.2	Conditions to the Obligations of Parent and Acquisition Sub	60
Section 7.3	Conditions to the Obligation of the Company to Effect the Merger	60
ARTICLE VIII TER	RMINATION, AMENDMENT AND WAIVER	61
Section 8.1	Termination	61
Section 8.2	Effect of Termination	62
Section 8.3	Termination Fee	63
Section 8.4	Amendment	65
Section 8.5	Extension; Waiver	65
Section 8.6	Expenses; Transfer Taxes	66

RTICLE IX GENE	ERAL PROVISIONS	60
Section 9.1	Non-Survival of Representations, Warranties and Agreements	60
Section 9.2	Notices	60
Section 9.3	Interpretation; Certain Definitions	68
Section 9.4	Severability	69
Section 9.5	Assignment	69
Section 9.6	Entire Agreement	69
Section 9.7	No Third-Party Beneficiaries	69
Section 9.8	Governing Law	69
Section 9.9	Specific Performance	70
Section 9.10	Consent to Jurisdiction	7
Section 9.11	Counterparts	7
Section 9.12	WAIVER OF JURY TRIAL	7
Section 9.13	Debt Financing Source Related Part	7

Index of Defined Terms

Acceptable Confidentiality Agreement	Section 6.5(c)
Acquisition Sub	Article I, Preamble
Acquisition Sub Board	Article I, Recitals
Adverse Board Recommendation Change	Section 6.5(d), Article 1
Affiliate	Article
Aggregate Merger Consideration	Article 1
Agreement	Article I, Preamble
Alternative Financing	Section 6.10(c), Article 1
Alternative Financing Debt Commitment Letter	Section 6.10(c), Article 1
Antitrust Laws	Section 4.4(b), Article 1
Bank Debt Commitment Letter	Section 5.4, Article
Bank Debt Financing	Section 5.4, Article 1
Blue Sky Laws	Article
Book-Entry Shares	Section 3.1(c), Article 1
Business Day	Article
Canceled Shares	Section 3.1(b)
CCC	Article
Certificate of Merger	Section 2.3(a), Article
Certificates	Section 3.1(c), Article 1
Closing	Section 2.2, Article 1
Closing Date	Section 2.2, Article
Code	Article
Company	Article I, Preamble
Company ASR Confirmations	Article
Company Benefit Plan	Article 1
Company Board	Article I, Recitals
Company Board Recommendation	Recitals
Company Bond Hedge Documentation	Article 1
Company Bond Hedge Transactions	Article 1
Company Bylaws	Section 4.1, Article 1
Company Certificate of Incorporation	Section 4.1, Article
Company Common Stock	Section 3.1(b), Article 1
Company Disclosure Letter	Article 1
Company Equity Awards	Article 1
Company ESPP	Article 1
Company Intellectual Property	Section 4.14(a), Article 1
Company Material Adverse Effect	Article 1
Company Material Contract	Section 4.16(a), Article 1
Company Option	Article 1
Company Permits	Section 4.5(a), Article 1
Company PSU	Article 1
Company Related Parties	Section 8.3(c), Article
Company RSA	Article 1
Company RSU	Article 3
Company SEC Documents	Section 4.6(a), Article

Article I

Company Service Provider Article I Company Stockholder Advisory Vote Section 4.3(a), Article I Company Stockholder Approval Section 4.20, Article I Company Stockholders' Meeting Section 6.2(c), Article I Company Warrant Confirmations Article I Competing Proposal Section 6.5(g)(i), Article I Consent Section 4.4(b), Article I Continuation Period Section 6.9(a), Article I Continuing Employees Section 6.9(a), Article I Contract Article I COVID-19 Article I COVID-19 Measures Article I **D&O** Indemnified Parties Section 6.6(a), Article I **Debt Commitment Letters** Section 5.4, Article I Debt Financing Section 5.4, Article I Debt Financing Source Article I Debt Financing Source Related Party Article I **DGCL** Article I, Recitals Dissenting Shares Section 3.5, Article I DTC Article I Effective Time Section 2.3(a), Article I **Enforceability Exceptions** Section 4.3(a), Article I **Equity Commitment Letter** Section 5.4, Article I **Equity Financing** Section 5.4 **Equity Investor** Preamble **ERISA** Article I ERISA Affiliate Article I Exchange Act Article I Exchange Fund Section 3.2(a), Article I Existing 2027 Senior Notes Article I Existing 2030 Senior Notes Article I **Existing Convertible Notes** Article I **Existing Credit Agreement** Article I Existing D&O Insurance Policies Section 6.6(c), Article I **Existing Senior Notes** Article I Expenses Article I Final Offering Period Section 3.7, Article I Financing Section 5.4, Article I Financing Agreements Section 6.10(a)(i), Article I **Financing Commitments** Section 5.4, Article I **Financing Sources** Article I Foreign Investment Laws Article I Foreign Plan Article I **Funding Obligations** Section 5.4, Article I

Article I

Section 4.21, Article I

GAAP

Goldman Sachs

Governmental Authority Article I Guarantor Recitals Hazardous Materials Article I HSR Act Article I **Intellectual Property Rights** Section 4.14(a), Article I Intervening Event Section 6.5(d) **IRS** Article I J.P. Morgan Section 4.21 Knowledge Article I Law Article I Lien Article I Section 5.4, Article I Margin Loan Borrower Margin Loan Commitment Letter Section 5.4, Article I Margin Loan Financing Section 5.4, Article I Merger Article I, Recitals Merger Consideration Section 3.1(c), Article I Notice of Adverse Board Recommendation Change Section 6.5(d), Article I Notice of Superior Proposal Section 6.5(d), Article I Order Article I Parent Article I. Preamble Parent Board Article I, Recitals Parent Disclosure Letter Article I Parent Guarantee Recitals Parent Material Adverse Effect Article I Parent Owned Shares Section 5.8 Parent Related Parties Section 8.3(c), Article I Parent Termination Fee Article I Section 3.2(a), Article I Paying Agent Paying Agent Agreement Section 3.2(a), Article I Permitted Lien Article I Person Article I Personal Information Section 4.14 Post-Closing Plans Section 6.9(b), Article I Post-Closing Welfare Plans Section 6.9(c), Article I Proxy Statement Section 4.7, Article I Representatives Section 6.4, Article I SEC Article I Section 2.3(a), Article I Secretary of State Securities Act Article I Silver Lake Investment Agreement Article I Solvent Section 5.9, Article I Specified Provisions Article I, Preamble Stockholder Rights Article I Stockholder Rights Agreement Article I Stockholder Rights Plan Article I

Article I

Subsidiary

Superior Proposal Section 6.5(g)(iii), Article I **Surviving Corporation** Section 2.1, Article I Article I Tax Returns Article I Taxes Article I **Termination Date** Section 8.1(b)(i), Article I Termination Fee Article I Tesla Shares Article I Third Party Article I U.S. Article I **Unvested Company Option** Section 3.6(a)(ii) Unvested Company PSU Section 3.6(b)(ii) Unvested Company RSU Section 3.6(d)(ii) Unvested Option Consideration Section 3.6(a)(ii) Unvested PSU Consideration Section 3.6(b)(ii) Unvested RSA Consideration Section 3.6(c) Unvested RSU Consideration Section 3.6(d)(ii) Vested Company Option Section 3.6(a)(i) Vested Company PSU Section 3.6(b)(i) Vested Company RSU Section 3.6(d)(i) Vested Option Consideration Section 3.6(a)(i) Vested PSU Consideration Section 3.6(b)(i) Vested RSU Consideration Section 3.6(d)(i)

AGREEMENT AND PLAN OF MERGER

THIS AGREEMENT AND PLAN OF MERGER, dated as of April 25, 2022 (this "Agreement"), is made by and among Twitter, Inc., a Delaware corporation (the "Company"), X Holdings I, Inc., a Delaware corporation and a direct wholly owned Subsidiary of Parent ("Acquisition Sub"), and, solely for purposes of Sections 5.4, 6.2(d), 6.3, 6.8, 6.10, 6.11, 6.12 and 9.9 (the "Specified Provisions"), Elon R. Musk (the "Equity Investor").

WITNESSETH:

WHEREAS, the parties desire for Parent to acquire the Company by way of a merger (the "Merger") of Acquisition Sub with and into the Company pursuant to the General Corporation Law of the State of Delaware (the "DGCL") upon the terms and subject to the conditions set forth in this Agreement;

WHEREAS, the board of directors of Acquisition Sub (the "Acquisition Sub Board") has determined that it is advisable to, fair to and in the best interests of Acquisition Sub and its stockholders to effect the Merger of Acquisition Sub with and into the Company pursuant to the DGCL upon the terms and subject to the conditions set forth in this Agreement;

WHEREAS, the Company's board of directors (the "Company Board") has, by resolutions duly adopted by the unanimous vote of the directors at a duly held meeting (i) determined that the terms and conditions of this Agreement, the Merger and the other transactions contemplated by this Agreement are advisable and in the best interests of the Company and the Company's stockholders, (ii) authorized the execution and delivery of this Agreement and declared advisable and approved the consummation of the transactions contemplated by this Agreement, including the Merger, (iii) directed that this Agreement be submitted for consideration at a meeting of the Company's stockholders and (iv) subject to the terms of this Agreement, recommended that the Company's stockholders adopt this Agreement and approve the transactions contemplated by this Agreement, including the Merger (the "Company Board Recommendation");

WHEREAS, the Acquisition Sub Board has, by resolutions duly adopted, (i) determined that the terms and conditions of this Agreement, the Merger and the other transactions contemplated by this Agreement are advisable and in the best interests of the Acquisition Sub and Parent, as the sole stockholder of Acquisition Sub; (ii) authorized the execution and delivery of this Agreement and declared advisable and approved the consummation of the transactions contemplated by this Agreement, including the Merger, (iii) directed that this Agreement be submitted for consideration by Parent, as the sole stockholder of Acquisition Sub and (iv) recommended that Parent, as the sole stockholder of Acquisition Sub approve the Merger, and Parent, as the sole stockholder of Acquisition Sub, has approved this Agreement and the consummation of the transactions contemplated by this Agreement, including the Merger;

WHEREAS, the board of directors of Parent (the "**Parent Board**") has, by resolutions duly adopted by the unanimous vote of the directors, (i) adopted this Agreement and approved the consummation of the transactions contemplated by this Agreement, including the Merger and (ii) determined that this Agreement and the transactions contemplated by this Agreement are advisable and in the best interests of Parent and Elon Musk, as the sole stockholder of Parent;

WHEREAS, as a material inducement to, and as a condition to, the Company entering into this Agreement, concurrently with the execution of this Agreement, Elon Musk (the "Guarantor") has entered into a limited guarantee, dated as of the date hereof, guaranteeing certain of Parent's and Acquisition Sub's obligations under this Agreement (the "Parent Guarantee"); and

WHEREAS, each of Parent, Acquisition Sub and the Company desires to make certain representations, warranties, covenants and agreements in connection with the Merger and also to prescribe various conditions to the Merger.

NOW, THEREFORE, in consideration of the foregoing and the representations, warranties and covenants and subject to the conditions herein contained, and intending to be legally bound hereby, the parties hereto hereby agree as follows:

ARTICLE I

DEFINITIONS

As used in this Agreement, the following terms shall have the respective meanings set forth or referenced below:

- "Acquisition Sub" shall have the meaning set forth in the Preamble.
- "Acquisition Sub Board" shall have the meaning set forth in the Recitals.
- "Adverse Board Recommendation Change" shall have the meaning set forth in Section 6.5(d).
- "Affiliate" has the meaning set forth in Rule 12b-2 of the Exchange Act.
- "Aggregate Merger Consideration" shall mean the product of (x) the number of shares of Company Common Stock issued and outstanding (other than those shares canceled or retired pursuant to Section 3.1(b)) immediately prior to the Effective Time *multiplied by* (y) the Merger Consideration.
 - "Agreement" shall have the meaning set forth in the Preamble.
 - "Alternative Financing" shall have the meaning set forth in Section 6.10(c).
 - "Alternative Financing Debt Commitment Letter" shall have the meaning set forth in Section 6.10(c).
 - "Antitrust Laws" shall have the meaning set forth in Section 4.4(b).
 - "Bank Debt Commitment Letter" shall have the meaning set forth in Section 5.4.

"Bank Debt Financing" shall have the meaning set forth in Section 5.4.

"Blue Sky Laws" shall mean state securities or "blue sky" laws.

"Book-Entry Shares" shall have the meaning set forth in Section 3.1(c).

"Business Day" shall mean any day other than a Saturday, Sunday or a day on which all banking institutions in San Francisco, California or New York, New York are authorized or obligated by Law or executive order to close.

"CCC" means the California Corporations Code.

"Certificate of Merger" shall have the meaning set forth in Section 2.3(a).

"Certificates" shall have the meaning set forth in Section 3.1(c).

"Closing" shall have the meaning set forth in Section 2.2.

"Closing Date" shall have the meaning set forth in Section 2.2.

"Code" shall mean the Internal Revenue Code of 1986, as amended.

"Company" shall have the meaning set forth in the Preamble.

"Company ASR Confirmations" means (i) the Master Confirmation re Accelerated Stock Repurchases, dated February 10, 2022, between the Company and Morgan Stanley & Co. LLC and (ii) the Master Confirmation re Accelerated Stock Repurchases, dated February 10, 2022, between the Company and Wells Fargo Bank, National Association, in each case, as amended through the date hereof.

"Company Benefit Plan" shall mean (i) "employee benefit plan" (within the meaning of Section 3(3) of ERISA, whether or not subject to ERISA), and (ii) each other employment agreement, bonus, stock option, stock purchase or other equity-based, benefit, incentive compensation, profit sharing, savings, retirement (including early retirement and supplemental retirement), disability, insurance, vacation, incentive, deferred compensation, supplemental retirement (including termination indemnities and seniority payments), severance, termination, retention, change of control and other similar fringe, welfare or other employee benefit plans, benefit programs, benefit agreements, benefit contracts, benefit policies or benefit arrangements (whether or not in writing), in each case, (x) which is sponsored, maintained or contributed to for the benefit of or relating to any current or former director, officer or employee of the Company or its Subsidiaries and (y) with respect to which the Company or any of its Subsidiaries has or may have any liability.

"Company Board" shall have the meaning set forth in the Recitals.

"Company Bond Hedge Documentation" means (a)(i) the call option transaction confirmation, dated June 6, 2018, between the Company and Barclays Bank PLC, (ii) the call option transaction confirmation, dated June 6, 2018, between the Company and JPMorgan Chase Bank, N.A., London Branch, (iii) the call option transaction confirmation, dated June 6, 2018, between the Company and Wells Fargo Bank, National Association, (iv) the additional call option transaction confirmation, dated June 7, 2018, between the Company and Barclays Bank PLC, (v) the additional call option transaction confirmation, dated June 7, 2018, between the Company and JPMorgan Chase Bank, N.A., London Branch, (vi) the additional call option transaction confirmation, dated June 7, 2018, between the Company and Wells Fargo Bank, National Association, and (b)(i) the call option transaction confirmation, dated March 1, 2021, between the Company and Bank of America, N.A., (ii) the call option transaction confirmation, dated March 1, 2021, between the Company and Barclays Bank PLC, (iii) the call option transaction confirmation, dated March 1, 2021, between the Company and Goldman Sachs & Co. LLC, (iv) the call option transaction confirmation, dated March 1, 2021, between the Company and Wells Fargo Bank, National Association, (v) the additional call option transaction confirmation, dated March 12, 2021, between the Company and Bank of America, N.A., (vi) the additional call option transaction confirmation, dated March 12, 2021, between the Company and Barclays Bank PLC, (vii) the additional call option transaction confirmation, dated March 12, 2021, between the Company and Goldman Sachs & Co. LLC, (viii) the additional call option transaction confirmation, dated March 12, 2021, between the Company and Wells Fargo Bank, National Association, (ix) the letter agreement, dated March 1, 2021, between the Company and Bank of America, N.A., (x) the letter agreement, dated March 1, 2021, between the Company and Barclays Bank PLC, (xi) the letter agreement, dated March 1, 2021, between the Company and Goldman Sachs & Co. LLC, (xii) the letter agreement, dated March 1, 2021, between the Company and Wells Fargo Bank, National Association, (xiii) the additional letter agreement, dated March 12, 2021, between the Company and Bank of America, N.A., (xiv) the additional letter agreement, dated March 12, 2021, between the Company and Barclays Bank PLC, (xv) the additional letter agreement, dated March 12, 2021, between the Company and Goldman Sachs & Co. LLC, and (xvi) the additional letter agreement, dated March 12, 2021, between the Company and Wells Fargo Bank, National Association.

"Company Bond Hedge Transactions" means each of the call option transactions evidenced by the Company Bond Hedge Documentation.

"Company Bylaws" shall have the meaning set forth in Section 4.1.

"Company Certificate of Incorporation" shall have the meaning set forth in Section 4.1.

"Company Common Stock" shall have the meaning set forth in Section 3.1(a).

"Company Disclosure Letter" shall mean the disclosure letter delivered by the Company to Parent simultaneously with the execution of this Agreement.

"Company Equity Awards" shall mean, collectively, (i) Company Options, (ii) Company PSUs, (iii) Company RSAs, and (iv) Company RSUs.

"Company ESPP" shall mean the Company 2013 Employee Stock Purchase Plan.

"Company Intellectual Property" shall have the meaning set forth in Section 4.14(a).

"Company Material Adverse Effect" means any change, event, effect or circumstance which, individually or in the aggregate, has resulted in or would reasonably be expected to result in a material adverse effect on the business, financial condition or results of operations of the Company and its Subsidiaries, taken as a whole; provided, however, that changes, events, effects or circumstances which, directly or indirectly, to the extent they relate to or result from the following shall be excluded from, and not taken into account in, the determination of Company Material Adverse Effect: (i) any condition, change, effect or circumstance generally affecting any of the industries or markets in which the Company or its Subsidiaries operate; (ii) any change in any Law or GAAP (or changes in interpretations of any Law or GAAP); (iii) general economic, regulatory or political conditions (or changes therein) or conditions (or changes therein) in the financial, credit or securities markets (including changes in interest or currency exchange rates) in the United States or any other country or region in the world; (iv) any acts of God, force majeure events, natural disasters, terrorism, cyberattack, data breach, armed hostilities, sabotage, war or any escalation or worsening of any of the foregoing; (v) any epidemics, pandemics or contagious disease outbreaks (including COVID-19) and any political or social conditions, including civil unrest, protests and public demonstrations or any other COVID-19 Measures that relate to, or arise out of, an epidemic, pandemic or disease outbreak (including COVID-19) or any change in such COVID-19 Measures, directive, pronouncement or guideline or interpretation thereof, or any continuation or of any of the foregoing, in the United States or any other country or region in the world; (vi) the negotiation, execution, announcement, performance, consummation or existence of this Agreement or the transactions contemplated by this Agreement, including (A) by reason of the identity of Elon Musk, Parent or any of their Affiliates or their respective financing sources, or any communication by Parent or any of its Affiliates or their respective financing sources, including regarding their plans or intentions with respect to the conduct of the business of the Company or any of its Subsidiaries and (B) any litigation, claim or legal proceeding threatened or initiated against Parent, Acquisition Sub, the Company or any of their respective Affiliates, officers or directors, in each case, arising out of or relating to the this Agreement or the transactions contemplated by this Agreement, and including the impact of any of the foregoing on any relationships with customers, suppliers, vendors, collaboration partners, employees, unions or regulators; (vii) any action taken pursuant to the terms of this Agreement or with the consent or at the direction of Parent or Acquisition Sub (or any action not taken as a result of the failure of Parent to consent to any action requiring Parent's consent pursuant to Section 6.1); (viii) any changes in the market price or trading volume of the Company Common Stock, any failure by the Company or its Subsidiaries to meet internal, analysts' or other earnings estimates or financial projections or forecasts for any period, any changes in credit ratings and any changes in any analysts' recommendations or ratings with respect to the Company or any of its Subsidiaries (provided that the facts or occurrences giving rise to or contributing to such changes or failure that are not otherwise excluded from the definition of "Company Material Adverse Effect" may be taken into account in determining whether there has been a Company Material Adverse Effect); and (ix) any matter disclosed in the Company SEC Documents filed by the Company prior to the date of this Agreement (other than any disclosures set forth under the headings "Risk Factors" or "Forward-Looking Statements").

"Company Material Contract" shall have the meaning set forth in Section 4.16(a).

"Company Option" shall mean each outstanding option to purchase shares of Company Common Stock granted to any employee or director of, or other Company Service Provider.

"Company Permits" shall have the meaning set forth in Section 4.5(a).

"Company PSU" shall mean each performance-based restricted stock unit that vests on the basis of time and the achievement of performance metrics and was granted to any Company Service Provider.

"Company Related Parties" shall have the meaning set forth in Section 8.3(d).

"Company RSA" shall mean each share of Company Common Stock granted to any Company Service Provider that remains subject to vesting, lapse or forfeiture provisions.

"Company RSU" shall mean each time-based restricted stock unit that vests on the basis of time and was granted to any Company Service Provider.

"Company SEC Documents" shall have the meaning set forth in Section 4.6(a).

"Company Service Provider" shall mean each current or former director, employee, consultant or independent contractor of the Company or any of its Subsidiaries

"Company Stockholder Advisory Vote" shall have the meaning set forth in Section 4.3(a).

"Company Stockholder Approval" shall have the meaning set forth in Section 4.20.

"Company Stockholders' Meeting" shall have the meaning set forth in Section 6.2(c).

"Company Warrant Confirmations" means (a)(i) the warrant confirmation, dated June 6, 2018, between the Company and Barclays Bank PLC, (ii) the warrant confirmation, dated June 6, 2018, between the Company and JPMorgan Chase Bank, N.A., London Branch, (iii) the warrant confirmation, dated June 6, 2018, between the Company and Wells Fargo Bank, National Association, (iv) the additional warrant confirmation, dated June 7, 2018, between the Company and Barclays Bank PLC, (v) the additional warrant confirmation, dated June 7, 2018, between the Company and Wells Fargo Bank, National Association, and (b)(i) the warrant confirmation, dated March 1, 2021, between the Company and Barclays Bank PLC, (iii) the warrant confirmation, dated March 1, 2021, between the Company and Goldman Sachs & Co. LLC, (iv) the warrant confirmation, dated March 1, 2021, between the Company and Bank of America, N.A., (vi) the additional warrant confirmation, dated March 12, 2021, between the Company and Bank of America, N.A., (vi) the additional warrant confirmation, dated March 12, 2021, between the Company and Bank of America, N.A., (vi) the additional warrant confirmation, dated March 12, 2021, between the Company and Barclays Bank PLC, (vii) the additional warrant confirmation, dated March 12, 2021, between the Company and Barclays Bank PLC, (vii) the additional warrant confirmation, dated March 12, 2021, between the Company and Barclays Bank PLC, (vii) the additional warrant confirmation, dated March 12, 2021, between the Company and Barclays Bank PLC, (vii) the additional warrant confirmation, dated March 12, 2021, between the Company and Barclays Bank PLC, (vii) the additional warrant confirmation, dated March 12, 2021, between the Company and Wells Fargo Bank, National Association.

"Competing Proposal" shall have the meaning set forth in Section 6.5(g)(i).

"Consent" shall have the meaning set forth in Section 4.4(b).

"Continuation Period" shall have the meaning set forth in Section 6.9(a).

"Continuing Employees" shall have the meaning set forth in Section 6.9(a).

"Contract" means any written contract, subcontract, lease, sublease, conditional sales contract, purchase order, sales order, task order, delivery order, license, indenture, note, bond, loan, instrument, understanding, permit, concession, franchise, commitment or other agreement.

"COVID-19" means SARS-Co V-2 or COVID-19 or any evolutions, variants or mutations thereof.

"COVID-19 Measures" means quarantine, "shelter in place," "stay at home," workforce reduction, social distancing, shut down, closure, sequester, safety or similar laws, directives, restrictions, guidelines, responses or recommendations of or promulgated by any Governmental Authority, including the Centers for Disease Control and Prevention and the World Health Organization, or other reasonable actions taken in response to the foregoing or otherwise, in each case, in connection with or in response to COVID-19 and any evolutions, variants or mutations thereof or related or associated epidemics, pandemics or disease outbreaks.

"D&O Indemnified Parties" shall have the meaning set forth in Section 6.6(a).

"Debt Commitment Letters" shall have the meaning set forth in Section 5.4.

"Debt Financing" shall have the meaning set forth in Section 5.4.

"Debt Financing Source" shall mean (i) the commitment parties party, as of the date hereof, to the Debt Commitment Letters that have been delivered to the Company in accordance with Section 5.4, and (ii) the Persons, in their respective capacities as such, that have committed to arrange or provide or have otherwise entered into agreements (including the Debt Commitment Letters or any Financing Agreements), in each case, in connection with all or any portion of the Debt Financing or Alternative Financing in connection with the transactions contemplated hereby, and any joinder agreements, indentures or credit agreements entered into pursuant thereto, together with their Affiliates, and any of their or their Affiliates' respective, direct or indirect, former, current or future stockholders, managers, members, directors, officers, employees, agents, advisors, other representatives or any successors or assignees of any of the foregoing (it being understood that Parent, Acquisition Sub and any of their respective Affiliates shall not constitute "Debt Financing Sources" for any purposes hereunder).

"Debt Financing Source Related Party" means any Debt Financing Source, together with their respective Affiliates and their and their respective Affiliates' former, current and future officers, directors, employees, agents and representatives and their respective successors and assigns.

"DGCL" shall have the meaning set forth in the Recitals.

"Dissenting Shares" shall have the meaning set forth in Section 3.5.

"DTC" shall have the meaning set forth in Section 3.2(b)(ii).

- "Effective Time" shall have the meaning set forth in Section 2.3(a).
- "Enforceability Exceptions" shall have the meaning set forth in Section 4.3(a).
- "Equity Commitment Letter" shall have the meaning set forth in Section 5.4.
- "ERISA" means the Employee Retirement Income Security Act of 1974, as amended.
- "ERISA Affiliate" shall mean, for any Person, each trade or business, whether or not incorporated, that, together with such Person, would be deemed a "single employer" within the meaning set forth in Section 414 of the Code.
 - "Exchange Act" shall mean the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended.
 - "Exchange Fund" shall have the meaning set forth in Section 3.2(a).
- "Existing Credit Agreement" shall mean that certain Revolving Credit Agreement, dated as of August 17, 2018, among the Company, the lenders from time to time party thereto and JPMorgan Chase Bank, N.A. as administrative agent, as amended, amended and restated, supplemented or otherwise modified from time to time.
 - "Existing D&O Insurance Policies" shall have the meaning set forth in Section 6.6(c).
- **Existing 2027 Senior Notes**" shall mean the 3.875% Senior Notes due 2027 issued pursuant to that certain Indenture, dated December 9, 2019, among the Company, as issuer, and U.S. Bank National Association, as trustee, as amended, amended and restated, supplemented or otherwise modified from time to time.
- "Existing 2030 Senior Notes" shall mean the 5.000% Senior Notes due 2030 issued pursuant to that certain Indenture, dated February 25, 2022, among the Company, as issuer, and U.S. Bank National Association, as trustee, as amended, amended and restated, supplemented or otherwise modified from time to time.
- "Existing Convertible Notes" shall mean the (i) 0.25% Convertible Senior Notes due 2024 issued pursuant to that certain Indenture, dated June 11, 2018, among the Company, as issuer, and U.S. Bank National Association, as trustee, (ii) 0.375% Convertible Senior Notes due 2025 issued pursuant to that certain Indenture, dated March 12, 2020, among the Company, as issuer, and U.S. Bank National Association, as trustee, and (iii) 0% Convertible Senior Notes due 2026 issued pursuant to that certain Indenture, dated March 4, 2021, among the Company, as issuer, and U.S. Bank National Association, as trustee, in each case as amended, amended and restated, supplemented or otherwise modified from time to time.
 - "Existing Senior Notes" shall mean the (i) the Existing 2027 Senior Notes and (ii) the Existing 2030 Senior Notes.

"Expenses" shall mean all out-of-pocket expenses (including all fees and expenses of counsel, accountants, investment bankers, experts and consultants to a party hereto and its Affiliates) incurred by a party or on its behalf in connection with or related to the authorization, preparation, negotiation, execution and performance of this Agreement, the preparation, printing, filing and mailing of the Proxy Statement and all SEC and other regulatory filing fees incurred in connection with the Proxy Statement, the solicitation of stockholder approvals, any filing with, and obtaining of any necessary action or non-action, Consent or approval from any Governmental Authority pursuant to any Antitrust Laws or Foreign Investment Laws, engaging the services of the Paying Agent, any other filings with the SEC, and all other matters related to the Closing and the other transactions contemplated by this Agreement.

"Final Offering Period" shall have the meaning set forth in Section 3.7.

"Financing" shall have the meaning set forth in Section 5.4.

"Financing Agreements" shall have the meaning set forth in Section 6.10(a).

"Financing Commitments" shall have the meaning set forth in Section 5.4.

"Financing Sources" means the Debt Financing Sources and Elon Musk.

"Foreign Investment Laws" shall mean any Laws designed or intended to prohibit, restrict or regulate actions (i) by foreigners to acquire interests in or control over domestic equities, securities, assets, land or interests, or (ii) to acquire interests in or control over equities, securities, entities, assets, land or interests that might harm domestic national security or public interest, other than Antitrust Laws.

"Foreign Plan" shall mean each Company Benefit Plan that primarily covers current or former employees, directors or individual service providers of the Company or any of its subsidiaries based outside of the U.S. and/or that is subject to any Law other than U.S., federal, state or local law (other than any plan or program that is required by statute or maintained by a Governmental Authority to which the Company or any of its subsidiaries contributes pursuant to applicable Law).

"Funding Obligations" shall have the meaning set forth in Section 5.4.

"GAAP" shall mean the U.S. generally accepted accounting principles.

"Goldman Sachs" shall have the meaning set forth in Section 4.21.

"Governmental Authority" shall mean any U.S. (federal, state or local) or foreign government, or any governmental, regulatory, judicial or administrative authority, agency or commission.

"Hazardous Materials" means all substances (i) defined as hazardous substances, oils, pollutants or contaminants in the National Oil and Hazardous Substances Pollution Contingency Plan, 40 C.F.R. § 300.5, or (ii) defined as hazardous substances, hazardous materials, pollutants, contaminants, toxic substances (or words of similar import) by or regulated as such under any Environmental Law.

- "HSR Act" shall mean the Hart-Scott-Rodino Antitrust Improvements Act of 1976, as amended, and the rules and regulations thereunder.
- "Intellectual Property Rights" shall have the meaning set forth in Section 4.14(a).
- "IRS" shall mean the Internal Revenue Service.
- "Knowledge" means the actual knowledge of the directors and officers of the relevant party, following due inquiry of their direct reports and others who would be reasonably expected to have knowledge of the subject matter in question.
- "Law" shall mean any and all domestic (federal, state or local) or foreign laws (including common law), rules, regulations, orders, judgments or decrees promulgated by any Governmental Authority.
 - "Lien" shall mean liens, claims, mortgages, encumbrances, pledges, security interests or charges of any kind.
 - "Margin Loan Borrower" shall have the meaning set forth in Section 5.4.
 - "Margin Loan Commitment Letter" shall have the meaning set forth in Section 5.4.
 - "Margin Loan Financing" shall have the meaning set forth in Section 5.4.
 - "Merger" shall have the meaning set forth in the Recitals.
 - "Merger Consideration" shall have the meaning set forth in Section 3.1(c).
 - "Notice of Adverse Board Recommendation Change" shall have the meaning set forth in Section 6.5(d).
 - "Notice of Superior Proposal" shall have the meaning set forth in Section 6.5(d).
- "Order" shall mean any decree, order, judgment, injunction, temporary restraining order or other order in any suit or proceeding by or with any Governmental Authority.
 - "Parent" shall have the meaning set forth in the Preamble.
 - "Parent Board" shall have the meaning set forth in the Recitals.
- "Parent Disclosure Letter" shall mean the disclosure letter delivered by Parent to the Company simultaneously with the execution of this Agreement.
- "Parent Material Adverse Effect" shall mean any change, effect or circumstance which, individually or in the aggregate, has prevented or materially delayed or materially impaired, or would reasonably be expected to prevent or materially delay or materially impair, the ability of Parent or Acquisition Sub to consummate the Merger and the other transactions contemplated by this Agreement.

"Parent Related Parties" shall have the meaning set forth in Section 8.3(c).

"Parent Termination Fee" shall mean an amount equal to \$1,000,000,000.

"Paying Agent" shall have the meaning set forth in Section 3.2(a).

"Paying Agent Agreement" shall have the meaning set forth in Section 3.2(a).

"Permitted Lien" shall mean (i) any Lien for Taxes not yet delinquent or that are being contested in good faith by any appropriate proceedings and for which adequate accruals or reserves have been established in accordance with GAAP, (ii) Liens securing indebtedness or liabilities that are reflected in the Company SEC Documents or incurred in the ordinary course of business since the end of the most recent fiscal year for which an Annual Report on Form 10-K has been filed by the Company with the SEC and Liens securing indebtedness or liabilities that have otherwise been disclosed to Parent in writing, (iii) such Liens or other imperfections of title, if any, that do not have a Company Material Adverse Effect, including (A) easements or claims of easements whether or not shown by the public records, boundary line disputes, overlaps, encroachments and any matters not of record which would be disclosed by an accurate survey or a personal inspection of the property, (B) rights of parties in possession, (C) any supplemental Taxes or assessments not shown by the public records and (D) title to any portion of the premises lying within the right of way or boundary of any public road or private road, (iv) Liens imposed or promulgated by Laws with respect to real property and improvements, including zoning regulations, (v) Liens disclosed on existing title reports or existing surveys, (vi) mechanics', carriers', workmen's, repairmen's and similar Liens incurred in the ordinary course of business, (vii) Liens securing acquisition financing with respect to the applicable asset, including refinancings thereof and (viii) licenses of Intellectual Property Rights.

"Person" shall mean an individual, a corporation, a limited liability company, a partnership, an association, a trust or any other entity or organization, including a Governmental Authority.

"Post-Closing Plans" shall have the meaning set forth in Section 6.9(b).

"Post-Closing Welfare Plans" shall have the meaning set forth in Section 6.9(c).

"Proxy Statement" shall have the meaning set forth in Section 4.7.

"Representatives" shall have the meaning set forth in Section 6.4.

"SEC" shall mean the Securities and Exchange Commission.

"Secretary of State" shall have the meaning set forth in Section 2.3(a).

"Securities Act" shall mean the Securities Act of 1933, as amended.

"Silver Lake Investment Agreement" means the Investment Agreement, dated as of March 9, 2020, among Twitter, Inc. and Silver Lake Partners V DE (AIV), L.P., as amended, restated, supplemented or otherwise modified from time to time.

- "Solvent" shall have the meaning set forth in Section 5.12.
- "Specified Provisions" shall have the meaning set forth in the Preamble.
- "Stockholder Rights" means the rights distributed to the Stockholders pursuant to Company Stockholder Rights Agreement.
- "Stockholder Rights Plan" means the Company Stockholder Rights and the Company Stockholder Rights Agreement.
- "Stockholder Rights Agreement" means the Preferred Stock Rights Agreement, dated as of April 15, 2022, between the Company and Computershare Trust Company, N.A., as rights agent, as amended, restated, supplemented or otherwise modified from time to time
- "Subsidiary" of any Person shall mean any corporation, partnership, joint venture or other legal entity of which such Person (either above or through or together with any other subsidiary) owns, directly or indirectly, more than 50% of the stock or other equity interests, the holders of which are generally entitled to vote for the election of the board of directors or other governing body of such corporation or other legal entity.
 - "Superior Proposal" shall have the meaning set forth in Section 6.5(g)(iii).
 - "Surviving Corporation" shall have the meaning set forth in Section 2.1.
- "Tax" or "Taxes" shall mean all federal, state, local and foreign income, profits, franchise, gross receipts, customs duty, capital stock, severance, stamp, payroll, sales, employment, unemployment, disability, use, property, withholding, excise, license, production, value added, occupancy and other taxes of any kind whatsoever, together with all interest, penalties and additions imposed with respect thereto.
- "Tax Returns" shall mean all returns and reports (including elections, declarations, disclosures, schedules, estimates and information returns) filed or required to be filed with a Tax authority.
 - "Termination Date" shall have the meaning set forth in Section 8.1(b)(i).
 - "Termination Fee" shall mean an amount equal to \$1,000,000,000.
 - "Tesla Shares" means shares of common stock of Tesla, Inc., \$0.001 par value.
 - "Third Party" shall mean any Person or group other than Parent, Acquisition Sub and their respective Affiliates.
 - "U.S." means the United States of America and its territories, commonwealths and possessions.

ARTICLE II

THE MERGER

<u>Section 2.1 The Merger</u>. Upon the terms and subject to the conditions of this Agreement, and in accordance with the DGCL, at the Effective Time, Acquisition Sub shall be merged with and into the Company, whereupon the separate existence of Acquisition Sub shall cease, and the Company shall continue under the name "Twitter, Inc." as the surviving corporation (the "**Surviving Corporation**") and shall continue to be governed by the laws of the State of Delaware.

Section 2.2 The Closing. Subject to the provisions of Article VII, the closing of the Merger (the "Closing") shall take place at 9:00 a.m. (Pacific Time) on a date to be specified by the parties hereto, but no later than the second (2nd) Business Day after the satisfaction or waiver of all of the conditions set forth in Article VII (other than those conditions that by their terms are to be satisfied at the Closing, but subject to the satisfaction or waiver of such conditions at the Closing). The Closing shall take place virtually by the electronic exchange of documents, unless another time, date or place is agreed to in writing by the parties hereto (such date, the "Closing Date").

Section 2.3 Effective Time.

- (a) Concurrently with the Closing, the Company, Parent and Acquisition Sub shall cause a certificate of merger with respect to the Merger (the "Certificate of Merger") to be executed and filed with the Secretary of State of the State of Delaware (the "Secretary of State") in accordance with the relevant provisions of the DGCL and any other applicable Law of the State of Delaware. The Merger shall become effective on the date and time at which the Certificate of Merger has been duly filed with the Secretary of State or such other date and time as may be agreed to by Parent and the Company and as set forth in the Certificate of Merger in accordance with the DGCL (such date and time hereinafter referred to as the "Effective Time").
- (b) The Merger shall have the effects set forth in this Agreement and in the applicable provisions of the DGCL. Without limiting the generality of the foregoing, from and after the Effective Time, (i) the Company shall be the surviving corporation in the Merger, (ii) all the property, rights, privileges, immunities, powers, franchises and liabilities of the Company and Acquisition Sub are vested in the Surviving Corporation, (iii) the separate existence of Acquisition Sub shall cease and (iv) the Company shall continue to be governed by the laws of the State of Delaware.

Section 2.4 Certificate of Incorporation and Bylaws. The parties will take all necessary actions so that at the Effective Time, the certificate of incorporation and the bylaws of Acquisition Sub, each as in effect immediately prior to the Effective Time, will be the certificate of incorporation and the bylaws, respectively, of the Surviving Corporation (except that the titles thereof shall read "Certificate of Incorporation of Twitter, Inc." and "Bylaws of Twitter, Inc.", respectively) until, subject to Section 6.6, thereafter amended in accordance with the applicable provisions of the DGCL and the certificate of incorporation and bylaws of the Surviving Corporation.

Section 2.5 Board of Directors. The board of directors of the Surviving Corporation effective as of, and immediately following, the Effective Time shall consist of the members of the Acquisition Sub Board immediately prior to the Effective Time, each to serve in accordance with the certificate of incorporation and bylaws of the Surviving Corporation until their respective successors shall have been duly elected and qualified, or until their earlier death, resignation or removal in accordance with the certificate of incorporation and bylaws of the Surviving Corporation.

<u>Section 2.6 Officers</u>. From and after the Effective Time, the officers of the Company at the Effective Time shall be the officers of the Surviving Corporation, until their respective successors are duly elected or appointed and qualified in accordance with applicable Law.

ARTICLE III

EFFECT OF THE MERGER ON CAPITAL STOCK

- <u>Section 3.1 Effect on Securities</u>. At the Effective Time, by virtue of the Merger and without any action on the part of the Company, Parent, Acquisition Sub or the holders of any securities of the Company or Acquisition Sub:
- (a) <u>Conversion of Acquisition Sub Capital Stock</u>. At the Effective Time, by virtue of the Merger and without any action on the part of the holder thereof, each share of common stock, \$0.01 par value per share, of Acquisition Sub issued and outstanding immediately prior to the Effective Time shall be converted into and become one (1) fully paid share of common stock, \$0.01 par value per share, of the Surviving Corporation and constitute the only issued or outstanding shares of capital stock of the Surviving Corporation.
- (b) <u>Cancellation of Certain Company Securities</u>. Each share of common stock, par value \$0.000005 per share, of the Company (the "Company Common Stock") held by the Company or any of its Subsidiaries or held, directly or indirectly, by the Equity Investor, Parent or Acquisition Sub immediately prior to the Effective Time (collectively, the "Canceled Shares") shall automatically be canceled and retired and shall cease to exist as issued or outstanding shares, and no consideration or payment shall be delivered in exchange therefor or in respect thereof.
- (c) Conversion of Company Securities. Except as otherwise provided in this Agreement, each share of Company Common Stock issued and outstanding immediately prior to the Effective Time (other than any Canceled Shares or Dissenting Shares) shall be converted into the right to receive \$54.20 per share of Company Common Stock in cash, without interest (the "Merger Consideration"). Each share of Company Common Stock to be converted into the right to receive the Merger Consideration as provided in this Section 3.1(c) shall no longer be issued or outstanding and shall be automatically canceled and shall cease to exist, and the holders of certificates (the "Certificates") or book-entry shares ("Book-Entry Shares") which immediately prior to the Effective Time represented such shares of Company Common Stock shall cease to have any rights with respect to such Company Common Stock other than the right to receive, upon surrender of such Certificates or Book-Entry Shares in accordance with Section 3.2(b), the Merger Consideration, without interest thereon.

(d) Adjustments. Without limiting the other provisions of this Agreement, if at any time during the period between the date of this Agreement and the Effective Time, any change in the number of outstanding shares of Company Common Stock shall occur as a result of a reclassification, recapitalization, stock split (including a reverse stock split) or similar event, or combination or exchange of shares, or any stock dividend or stock distribution with a record date during such period (in each case, other than with respect to the initial distribution of Stockholder Rights under the Stockholder Rights Plan or such Stockholder Rights becoming exercisable as a result of Parent or any of its Affiliates or Representatives becoming an "Acquiring Person" (as defined in the Stockholder Rights Agreement)), the Merger Consideration shall be equitably adjusted to provide the same economic effect as contemplated by this Agreement prior to such event. Nothing in this Section 3.1(d) shall be construed to permit any party to take any action that is otherwise prohibited or restricted by any other provision of this Agreement.

Section 3.2 Payment for Securities; Exchange of Certificates.

- (a) <u>Designation of Paying Agent; Deposit of Exchange Fund</u>. Prior to the Closing, Parent shall designate a reputable bank or trust company (the "Paying Agent") that is organized and doing business under the laws of the U.S., the identity and the terms of appointment of which to be reasonably acceptable to the Company, to act as Paying Agent for the payment of the Merger Consideration as provided in <u>Section 3.1(b)</u>, and shall enter into an agreement (the "Paying Agent Agreement") relating to the Paying Agent's responsibilities with respect thereto, in form and substance reasonably acceptable to the Company. At or prior to the Effective Time, Parent shall deposit, or cause to be deposited with the Paying Agent, cash constituting an amount equal to the Aggregate Merger Consideration (such Aggregate Merger Consideration as deposited with the Paying Agent, the "Exchange Fund"). In the event the Exchange Fund shall be insufficient to make the payments contemplated by <u>Section 3.1(b)</u>, Parent shall promptly deposit, or cause to be deposited, additional funds with the Paying Agent in an amount which is equal to the deficiency in the amount required to make such payments in full. Parent shall cause the Exchange Fund to be (A) held for the benefit of the holders of Company Common Stock and (B) applied promptly to make payments pursuant to <u>Section 3.1(b)</u>. The Exchange Fund shall not be used for any purpose other than to fund payments pursuant to <u>Section 3.1</u>, except as expressly provided for in this Agreement.
- (b) Procedures for Exchange. As promptly as reasonably practicable following the Effective Time and in any event not later than two (2) Business Days thereafter, the Surviving Corporation shall cause the Paying Agent to mail to each holder of record a Certificate that immediately prior to the Effective Time represented outstanding shares of Company Common Stock (A) a letter of transmittal, which shall specify that delivery shall be effected, and risk of loss and title to the Certificates shall pass, only upon proper delivery of the Certificates (or affidavits of loss in lieu thereof) to the Paying Agent and which shall be in the form and have such other provisions as Parent and the Company may reasonably specify and (B) instructions for use in effecting the surrender of the Certificates in exchange for the Merger Consideration into which the number of shares of Company Common Stock previously represented by such Certificate shall have been converted pursuant to this Agreement (which instructions shall be in the form and have such other provisions as Parent and the Company may reasonably specify). Any holder of Book-Entry Shares shall not be required to deliver a Certificate or an executed letter of transmittal to receive the Merger Consideration with respect to such Book-Entry Shares.

- (c) <u>Timing of Exchange</u>. Upon surrender of a Certificate (or affidavit of loss in lieu thereof) or Book-Entry Share for cancellation to the Paying Agent, together with, in the case of Certificates, a letter of transmittal duly completed and validly executed in accordance with the instructions thereto, or, in the case of Book-Entry Shares, receipt of an "agent's message" by the Paying Agent (it being understood that holders of Book-Entry Shares will be deemed to have surrendered such Book-Entry Shares upon receipt of an "agent's message" with respect to such Book-Entry Shares), and such other customary evidence of surrender as the Paying Agent may reasonably require, the holder of such Certificate or Book-Entry Share shall be entitled to receive in exchange therefor (and Parent shall cause the Paying Agent to promptly deliver in exchange therefor) the Merger Consideration for each share of Company Common Stock formerly represented by such Certificate or Book-Entry Share upon the later to occur of (i) the Effective Time or (ii) the Paying Agent's receipt of such Certificate (or affidavit of loss in lieu thereof) or Book-Entry Share, in accordance with Section 3.2(b), as applicable, and the Certificate (or affidavit of loss in lieu thereof) or Book-Entry Share so surrendered shall be forthwith canceled. The Paying Agent Agreement shall provide that the Paying Agent shall accept such Certificates (or affidavits of loss in lieu thereof) or Book-Entry Shares upon compliance with such reasonable terms and conditions as the Paying Agent may impose to effect an orderly exchange thereof in accordance with customary exchange practices. No interest shall be paid or accrued for the benefit of holders of the Certificates or Book-Entry Shares on the Merger Consideration payable upon the surrender of the Certificates or Book-Entry Shares.
- (d) <u>Termination of Exchange Fund</u>. Any portion of the Exchange Fund which remains undistributed to the holders of the Certificates or Book-Entry Shares for one (1) year after the Effective Time shall be delivered to the Surviving Corporation, upon written demand, and any such holders prior to the Merger who have not theretofore complied with this <u>Article III</u> shall thereafter look only to the Surviving Corporation as a general creditor thereof for payment of their claims for the Merger Consideration in respect thereof.
- (e) No Liability. None of Parent, Acquisition Sub, the Company, the Surviving Corporation or the Paying Agent shall be liable to any Person in respect of any cash held in the Exchange Fund delivered to a public official pursuant to any applicable abandoned property, escheat or similar Law. If any Certificates or Book-Entry Shares shall not have been surrendered immediately prior to the date on which any cash in respect of such Certificate or Book-Entry Share would otherwise escheat to or become the property of any Governmental Authority, any such cash in respect of such Certificate or Book-Entry Share shall, to the extent permitted by applicable Law, become the property of the Surviving Corporation, free and clear of all claims or interest of any Person previously entitled thereto.
- (f) Investment of Exchange Fund. The Paying Agent Agreement shall provide that the Paying Agent shall invest any cash included in the Exchange Fund as directed by Parent or, after the Effective Time, the Surviving Corporation; provided that (i) no such investment shall relieve Parent or the Paying Agent from making the payments required by this Article III, and following any losses Parent shall promptly provide additional funds to the Paying Agent for the benefit of the holders of Company Common Stock in the amount of such losses, (ii) no such investment shall have maturities that could prevent or delay payments to be made pursuant to this Agreement and (iii) all such investments shall be in short-term obligations of the U.S. with maturities of no more than thirty (30) days or guaranteed by the U.S. and backed by the full faith and credit of the U.S. Any interest or income produced by such investments will be payable to the Surviving Corporation or Parent, as directed by Parent.

(g) Withholding. Each of Parent, the Surviving Corporation and the Paying Agent shall be entitled to deduct and withhold from the Merger Consideration and any amounts otherwise payable pursuant to this Agreement to any Person such amounts as are required to be deducted and withheld with respect to the making of such payment under any applicable Law. To the extent that amounts are so deducted and withheld, such amounts (i) shall be promptly remitted by Parent, the Surviving Corporation or the Paying Agent, as applicable, to the applicable Governmental Authority, and (ii) shall be treated for all purposes of this Agreement as having been paid to the Person in respect of which such deduction and withholding was made.

Section 3.3 Lost Certificates. If any Certificate shall have been lost, stolen or destroyed, then upon the making of an affidavit, in form and substance reasonably acceptable to Parent, of that fact by the Person claiming such Certificate to be lost, stolen or destroyed, the Paying Agent shall issue, in exchange for such lost, stolen or destroyed Certificate, the Merger Consideration to which the holder thereof is entitled pursuant to this Article III.

Section 3.4 Transfers; No Further Ownership Rights. After the Effective Time, there shall be no registration of transfers on the stock transfer books of the Company of shares of Company Common Stock that were outstanding immediately prior to the Effective Time. If Certificates or Book-Entry Shares are presented to the Surviving Corporation, Parent or Paying Agent for transfer following the Effective Time, they shall be canceled against delivery of the applicable Merger Consideration, as provided for in Section 3.1(b), for each share of Company Common Stock formerly represented by such Certificates or Book-Entry Shares. Payment of the Merger Consideration in accordance with the terms of this Article III, and, if applicable, any unclaimed dividends upon the surrender of Certificates, shall be deemed to have been paid in full satisfaction of all rights pertaining to the shares of Company Common Stock formerly represented by such Certificates or Book-Entry Shares.

Section 3.5 Dissenting Shares. Notwithstanding any other provision of this Agreement to the contrary, to the extent that holders thereof are entitled to appraisal rights under Section 262 of the DGCL or similar appraisal or dissenters' rights under any other applicable Law, shares of Company Common Stock issued and outstanding immediately prior to the Effective Time and held by a holder who has properly exercised and perfected his or her demand for appraisal or dissenters' rights under Section 262 of the DGCL or such other applicable Law (the "Dissenting Shares"), shall not be converted into the right to receive the Merger Consideration. At the Effective Time, the Dissenting Shares shall no longer be outstanding and shall automatically be canceled and shall cease to exist, and each holder of Dissenting Shares shall cease to have any rights with respect thereto, but the holders of such Dissenting Shares shall be entitled to receive such consideration as shall be determined pursuant to Section 262 of the DGCL or such other applicable Law; provided, however, that if any such holder shall have failed to perfect or shall have effectively withdrawn or lost his or her right to appraisal or dissenters' rights and payment under the DGCL or such other applicable Law, as applicable (whether occurring before, at or after the Effective Time), such holder's shares of Company Common Stock shall thereupon be deemed to have been converted as of the Effective Time into the right to receive the Merger Consideration, without any interest thereon, and such shares shall not be deemed to be Dissenting Shares. Any payments

required to be made with respect to the Dissenting Shares shall be made by Parent (and not the Company or Acquisition Sub), and the Aggregate Merger Consideration shall be reduced, on a dollar-for-dollar basis, as if the holder of such Dissenting Shares had not been a stockholder on the Closing Date. The Company shall give prompt written notice to Parent of any demands for appraisal of or dissenters' rights respecting any shares of Company Common Stock, withdrawals of such demands and any other instruments served pursuant to the DGCL or such other applicable Law received by the Company relating to appraisal or dissenters' demands, and Parent shall have the right to participate in all negotiations and proceedings with respect to such demands. Prior to the Effective Time, the Company shall not, without the prior written consent of Parent (which consent shall not be unreasonably withheld or delayed), voluntarily make any payment with respect to, or settle or offer to settle, any such demands, or agree to do or commit to do any of the foregoing.

Section 3.6 Company Equity Awards.

(a) Company Options.

- (i) As of the Effective Time, each Company Option that is vested in accordance with its terms and outstanding as of immediately prior to the Effective Time (each, a "Vested Company Option") shall be canceled and converted into the right to receive an amount in cash, without interest, equal to the product of (i) the total number of shares of Company Common Stock subject to such Vested Company Option and (ii) the excess, if any, of the Merger Consideration, over the exercise price per share of Company Common Stock underlying such Vested Company Option (the "Vested Option Consideration"); provided, that if the exercise price per share of Company Common Stock underlying such Vested Company Option is equal to or greater than the Merger Consideration, such Vested Company Option shall be canceled without any cash payment or other consideration being made in respect thereof.
- (ii) As of the Effective Time, each Company Option that is outstanding and is not a Vested Company Option (each, an "Unvested Company Option") shall be canceled and converted into the right to receive an amount in cash, without interest, equal to the product of (i) the total number of shares of Company Common Stock subject to such Unvested Company Option and (ii) the excess, if any, of the Merger Consideration, over the exercise price per share of Company Common Stock underlying such Unvested Company Option (the "Unvested Option Consideration"); provided that, if the exercise price per share of Company Common Stock underlying such Unvested Company Option is equal to or greater than the Merger Consideration, such Unvested Company Option shall be canceled without any cash payment or other consideration being made in respect thereof. Subject to the holder's continued service with Parent and its Affiliates (including the Surviving Corporation and its Subsidiaries) through the applicable vesting dates, such Unvested Option Consideration will vest and become payable at the same time as the Unvested Company Option from which such Unvested Option Consideration was converted would have vested and been payable pursuant to its terms and shall otherwise remain subject to the same terms and conditions as were applicable to the underlying Unvested Company Option immediately prior to the Effective Time.

(b) Company PSUs.

- (i) As of the Effective Time, each Company PSU that is vested in accordance with its terms and outstanding as of immediately prior to the Effective Time (each, a "Vested Company PSU") shall be canceled and converted into the right to receive an amount in cash, without interest, equal to the product of (i) the total number of shares of Company Common Stock subject to such Vested Company PSU based on the achievement of the applicable performance metrics at the level of performance for which such Vested Company PSU vested in accordance with its terms and (ii) the Merger Consideration (the "Vested PSU Consideration").
- (ii) As of the Effective Time, each Company PSU that is outstanding immediately prior thereto and that is not a Vested Company PSU (each, an "Unvested Company PSU") shall be canceled and converted into the right to receive an amount in cash, without interest, equal to the product of (i) the total number of shares of Company Common Stock subject to such Unvested Company PSU based on the achievement of the applicable performance metrics at the target level of performance and (ii) the Merger Consideration (the "Unvested PSU Consideration"). Subject to the holder's continued service with Parent and its Affiliates (including the Surviving Corporation and its Subsidiaries) through the applicable vesting dates, such Unvested PSU Consideration will vest and become payable at the same time as the Unvested Company PSU from which such Unvested PSU Consideration was converted would have vested and been payable pursuant to its terms and shall otherwise remain subject to the same terms and conditions as were applicable to the underlying Unvested Company PSU immediately prior to the Effective Time (except that performance-based vesting metrics and criteria shall not apply from and after the Effective Time).
- (c) <u>Company RSAs</u>. At the Effective Time, each Company RSA that is outstanding immediately prior to the Effective Time shall be canceled and converted into the right to receive an amount in cash, without interest, equal to the product of (i) the total number of shares of Company Common Stock subject to such Company RSA and (ii) the Merger Consideration (the "Unvested RSA Consideration"). Subject to the holder's continued service with Parent and its Affiliates (including the Surviving Corporation and its Subsidiaries) through the applicable vesting dates, such Unvested RSA Consideration will vest and become payable at the same time as the Company RSA from which such Unvested RSA Consideration was converted would have vested and been payable pursuant to its terms and shall otherwise remain subject to the same terms and conditions as were applicable to the underlying Company RSA immediately prior to the Effective Time; provided that the Company shall be permitted to accelerate the vesting of any unvested Company RSA if the holder thereof would be subject to Taxes in connection with the Closing as a result of the treatment contemplated by this Section 3.3(c).

(d) Company RSUs.

(i) As of the Effective Time, each Company RSU that is vested in accordance with its terms as of immediately prior to the Effective Time and each Company RSU held by a non-employee member of the Company Board, in either case, that is outstanding immediately prior to the Effective Time, (each, a "Vested Company RSU") shall be canceled and converted into the right to receive an amount in cash, without interest, equal to the product of (i) the total number of shares of Company Common Stock subject to such Vested Company RSU and (ii) the Merger Consideration (the "Vested RSU Consideration").

(ii) As of the Effective Time, each Company RSU that is outstanding immediately prior thereto and that is not a Vested Company RSU (each, an "Unvested Company RSU") shall be canceled and converted into the right to receive an amount in cash, without interest, equal to the product of (i) the total number of shares of Company Common Stock subject to such Unvested Company RSU and (ii) the Merger Consideration (the "Unvested RSU Consideration"). Subject to the holder's continued service with Parent and its Affiliates (including the Surviving Corporation and its Subsidiaries) through the applicable vesting dates, such Unvested RSU Consideration will vest and become payable at the same time as the Unvested Company RSU from which such Unvested RSU Consideration was converted would have vested and been payable pursuant to its terms and shall otherwise remain subject to the same terms and conditions as were applicable to the underlying Unvested Company RSU immediately prior to the Effective Time.

(e) <u>Delivery of Company Equity Award Payments</u>. Parent shall cause the Surviving Corporation to pay through the payroll system of the Surviving Corporation (to the extent applicable) the Vested Option Consideration, the Vested PSU Consideration, and the Vested RSU Consideration to each holder of a Vested Company Option, Vested Company PSU and Vested Company RSU, as applicable, less any required withholding Taxes and without interest, within five (5) Business Days following the Effective Time.

Section 3.7 Company ESPP. As soon as practicable following the date of this Agreement, the Company Board or a committee thereof shall adopt resolutions or take other actions as may be required to provide that (A) the Offering Period (as defined in the Company ESPP) in effect as of the date hereof shall be the final Offering Period (such period, the "Final Offering Period") and no further Offering Period shall commence pursuant to the Company ESPP after the date hereof, and (B) each individual participating in the Final Offering Period on the date of this Agreement shall not be permitted to (x) increase his or her payroll contribution rate pursuant to the Company ESPP from the rate in effect when the Final Offering Period commenced or (y) make separate non-payroll contributions to the Company ESPP on or following the date of this Agreement, except as may be required by applicable Law. Prior to the Effective Time, the Company shall take all action that may be necessary to, effective upon the consummation of the Merger, (A) cause the Final Offering Period, to the extent that it would otherwise be outstanding at the Effective Time, to be terminated no later than ten (10) Business Days prior to the date on which the Effective Time occurs; (B) make any pro rata adjustments that may be necessary to reflect the Final Offering Period, but otherwise treat the Final Offering Period as a fully effective and completed Offering Period for all purposes pursuant to the Company ESPP; and (C) cause the exercise (as of no later than ten (10) Business Days prior to the date on which the Effective Time occurs) of each outstanding purchase right pursuant to the Company ESPP. On such exercise date, the Company shall apply the funds credited as of such date pursuant to the Company ESPP within each participant's payroll withholding account to the purchase of whole shares of Company Common Stock in accordance with the terms of the Company ESPP, and such Common Shares shall be entitled to the Merger Consideration in accordance with Secti

ARTICLE IV

REPRESENTATIONS AND WARRANTIES OF THE COMPANY

Except as disclosed in the Company Disclosure Letter or in the Company SEC Documents filed by the Company prior to the date of this Agreement (other than any disclosures set forth under the headings "Risk Factors" or "Forward-Looking Statements" and any other disclosures included therein to the extent they are forward-looking in nature), the Company hereby represents and warrants to Parent and Acquisition Sub as follows:

Section 4.1 Organization and Qualification; Subsidiaries. Each of the Company and its Subsidiaries is a corporation, partnership or other entity duly organized, validly existing and (to the extent applicable) in good standing under the laws of the jurisdiction of its incorporation or organization and has the requisite entity power and authority to conduct its business as it is now being conducted, except where the failure to be duly organized, validly existing or in good standing or to have such power and authority would not have a Company Material Adverse Effect. Each of the Company and its Subsidiaries is duly qualified or licensed to do business and is in good standing in each jurisdiction in which the nature of the business conducted by it makes such qualification or licensing necessary, except where the failure to be so duly qualified or licensed and in good standing would not have a Company Material Adverse Effect. The Company's Amended and Restated Certificate of Incorporation (as may be further amended from time to time, the "Company Certificate of Incorporation") and the Company's Amended and Restated Bylaws (as may be further amended from time to time, the "Company Bylaws"), in each case, as currently in effect, are included in the Company SEC Documents.

Section 4.2 Capitalization.

(a) As of March 31, 2022, the authorized capital stock of the Company consists of (i) 5,000,000,000 shares of Company Common Stock, 763,577,530 of which were issued and outstanding (including 1,386,850 Company RSAs), and none of which were held in treasury, and (ii) 200,000,000 shares of preferred stock, par value \$0.000005 per share, of the Company, none of which were issued and outstanding. As of March 31, 2022, there were (i) 953,365 Company Options outstanding, (ii) 2,900,689 Company PSUs outstanding (assuming attainment of the applicable performance metrics at the target level of performance), (iii) 67,575,223 Company RSUs outstanding, and (iv) shares of Company Common Stock subject to outstanding purchase rights under the Company ESPP. Except as described above and other than the Stockholder Rights, the Existing Convertible Notes, the Company Warrant Confirmations and any issuances or grants (or promises or offers to issue or grant) Company Equity Awards since March 31, 2022 in connection with employee hiring, retention or promotions in the ordinary course of business in an amount less than 5,000,000 Company Equity Awards (assuming attainment of the applicable performance metrics at the target level of performance) in the aggregate, as of the date of this Agreement, there are no additional existing and outstanding (i) options, warrants, calls, subscriptions or other rights, convertible securities, agreements or commitments of any character to which the Company or any of its Subsidiaries is a party obligating the Company or any of its

Subsidiaries to issue, transfer or sell any shares of capital stock or other equity interests in the Company or any of its Subsidiaries or securities convertible into or exchangeable for such shares or equity interests, (ii) contractual obligations of the Company or any of its Subsidiaries to repurchase, redeem or otherwise acquire any capital stock of the Company or any of its Subsidiaries, except pursuant to the other than the Company ASR Confirmations and the Company Bond Hedging Transactions or (iii) voting trusts or similar agreements to which the Company is a party with respect to the voting of the capital stock of the Company, other than the Silver Lake Investment Agreement.

- (b) Except as would not be material to the Company and its Subsidiaries, taken as a whole, all of the outstanding shares of capital stock or equivalent equity interests of each of the Company's Subsidiaries are owned of record and beneficially, directly or indirectly, by the Company or the relevant wholly owned Subsidiary (except for de minimis equity interests held by a Third Party for local regulatory reasons) and free and clear of all Liens except for restrictions imposed by applicable securities laws and Permitted Liens.
- (c) Prior to the Closing, the Company will provide Parent with a correct and complete list, as of such date, of all outstanding Company Equity Awards, including the holder (by employee identification number), type of Company Equity Award, date of grant, number of shares of Company Common Stock underlying such award (and, if applicable, assuming achievement of the applicable performance metrics at the target level of performance), whether such Company Equity Award is intended to qualify as an "incentive stock option" under Section 422 of the Code, the equity plan pursuant to which the Company Equity Award was granted, and, where applicable, the exercise price per share and expiration date.

Section 4.3 Authority Relative to Agreement.

- (a) The Company has all necessary corporate power and authority to execute and deliver this Agreement and, assuming the accuracy of the representations and warranties set forth in the second sentence of Section 5.8 and subject to obtaining the Company Stockholder Approval and the occurrence of the stockholder advisory vote contemplated by Rule 14a-21(c) under the Exchange Act, regardless of the outcome of such advisory vote (the "Company Stockholder Advisory Vote"), to consummate the transactions contemplated by this Agreement, including the Merger. The execution, delivery and performance of this Agreement by the Company, and the consummation by the Company of the transactions contemplated by this Agreement, including the Merger, have been duly and validly authorized by all necessary corporate action by the Company, and assuming the accuracy of the representations and warranties set forth in the second sentence of Section 5.8 and except for the Company Stockholder Approval, the occurrence of the Company Stockholder Advisory Vote, no other corporate action or proceeding on the part of the Company is necessary to authorize the execution, delivery and performance of this Agreement by the Company and the consummation by the Company of the transactions contemplated by this Agreement, including the Merger. This Agreement has been duly executed and delivered by the Company and, assuming the due authorization, execution and delivery of this Agreement by the other parties hereto, constitutes a legal, valid and binding obligation of the Company, enforceable against the Company in accordance with its terms, except that such enforceability may be subject to applicable bankruptcy, insolvency, fraudulent conveyance, reorganization, moratorium or other similar Laws, now or hereafter in effect, affecting creditors' rights and remedies generally (the "Enforceability Exceptions").
- (b) The Company Board has, by resolutions duly adopted by the unanimous vote of the directors at a duly held meeting (i) determined that the terms and conditions of this Agreement, the Merger and the other transactions contemplated by this Agreement are advisable and in the best interests of the Company and the Company's stockholders, (ii) authorized the execution and delivery of this Agreement and declared advisable and approved the consummation of the transactions contemplated by this Agreement, including the Merger, (iii) directed that this Agreement be submitted for consideration at a meeting of the Company's stockholders and (iv) subject to the terms of this Agreement, resolved to recommend that the Company's stockholders adopt this Agreement and approve the transactions contemplated hereby, including the Merger.

Section 4.4 No Conflict; Required Filings and Consents.

(a) Neither the execution and delivery of this Agreement by the Company nor the consummation by the Company of the transactions contemplated by this Agreement will (i) violate any provision of the Company Certificate of Incorporation or the Company Bylaws or (ii) assuming the accuracy of the representations and warranties set forth in the second sentence of Section 5.8 and that the Consents, registrations, declarations, filings and notices referred to in Section 4.4(b) have been obtained or made, any applicable waiting periods referred to therein have expired and any condition precedent to any such Consent has been satisfied, conflict with or violate any Law applicable to the Company or any of its Subsidiaries or by which any property or asset of the Company or any of its Subsidiaries is bound or affected or (iii) except with respect to the Existing Credit Agreement and the Existing Notes, result in any breach of, or constitute a default (with or without notice or lapse of time, or both) under, or give rise to any right of termination, acceleration or cancellation of, any Company Material Contract (other than any Company Benefit Plan), other than, in the case of clauses (ii) and (iii) any such conflict, violation, breach, default, termination, acceleration or cancellation that would not have a Company Material Adverse Effect.

(b) No consent, approval, clearance, license, permit, order or authorization (each of the foregoing, a "Consent") of, or registration, declaration or filing with, or notice to, any Governmental Authority is required to be obtained or made by or with respect to the Company or any of its Subsidiaries under applicable Law in connection with the execution, delivery and performance of this Agreement or the consummation of the transactions contemplated by this Agreement, other than (i) the applicable reporting or other requirements of and filings with the SEC under the Exchange Act (including the filing of the Proxy Statement), (ii) the filing of the Certificate of Merger with the Secretary of State in accordance with the DGCL and appropriate documents with the relevant authorities of the other jurisdictions in which the Company or any of its Subsidiaries is qualified to do business, (iii) the applicable requirements under corporation or Blue Sky Laws of various states, (iv) such filings as may be required in connection with the Taxes described in Section 8.6, (v) filings with the New York Stock Exchange, (vi) such other items required solely by reason of the participation of Parent or Acquisition Sub or any of their Affiliates in the transactions contemplated by this Agreement, (vii) compliance with and filings or notifications under the HSR Act and any other applicable U.S. or foreign competition, antitrust or merger control Laws (together with the HSR Act, "Antitrust Laws"), (viii) compliance with and filings or notifications under any applicable Foreign Investment Laws, and (ix) such other Consents, registrations, declarations, filings or notices the failure of which to be obtained or made would not have a Company Material Adverse Effect.

Section 4.5 Permits; Compliance With Laws.

- (a) As of the date of this Agreement, the Company and its Subsidiaries are in possession of all franchises, grants, authorizations, licenses, permits, easements, variances, exceptions, consents, certificates, approvals and orders necessary for the Company and its Subsidiaries to carry on their respective business as it is now being conducted (the "Company Permits") and all Company Permits are in full force and effect and no suspension or cancellation of any of the Company Permits is pending or, to the Knowledge of the Company, threatened, except where the failure to be in possession of or be in full force and effect, or the suspension or cancellation of, any of the Company Permits would not have a Company Material Adverse Effect.
- (b) Neither the Company nor any of its Subsidiaries is in default or violation of any Law applicable to the Company, any of its Subsidiaries or by which any of their respective properties or assets are bound, except for any such defaults or violations that would not have a Company Material Adverse Effect. Notwithstanding the foregoing, no representation or warranty in Section 4.5(a) or this Section 4.5(b) is made with respect to Company SEC Documents or financial statements, "disclosure controls and procedures" or "internal control over financial reporting," employee benefits matters, Intellectual Property Rights matters, Tax matters, which are addressed exclusively in Section 4.6 (Company SEC Documents; Financial Statements), Section 4.8 (Disclosure Controls and Procedures), Section 4.12 (Employee Benefit Plans), Section 4.14 (Intellectual Property Rights), Section 4.15 (Taxes), respectively.

Section 4.6 Company SEC Documents; Financial Statements.

- (a) Since January 1, 2022, the Company has filed or furnished with the SEC all material forms, documents and reports required to be filed or furnished prior to the date of this Agreement by it with the SEC (such forms, documents and reports filed with the SEC, including any amendments or supplements thereto and any exhibits or other documents attached to or incorporated by reference therein, the "Company SEC Documents"). As of their respective dates, or, if amended or supplemented, as of the date of the last such amendment or supplement, the Company SEC Documents complied in all material respects with the requirements of the Securities Act and the Exchange Act, as the case may be, and the applicable rules and regulations promulgated thereunder, and none of the Company SEC Documents at the time it was filed (or, if amended or supplemented, as of the date of the last amendment or supplement) contained any untrue statement of a material fact or omitted to state any material fact required to be stated therein or necessary to make the statements therein, in light of the circumstances under which they were made, or are to be made, not misleading.
- (b) The consolidated financial statements (including all related notes) of the Company included in the Company SEC Documents fairly present in all material respects the consolidated financial position of the Company and its consolidated Subsidiaries as at the respective dates thereof and its consolidated statements of operations and consolidated statements of cash flows for the respective periods then ended (subject, in the case of unaudited interim statements, to normal year-end audit adjustments, none of which would have a Company Material Adverse Effect, to the absence of notes and to any other adjustments described therein, including in any notes thereto) in conformity with GAAP (except, in the case of unaudited statements, as permitted by Form 10-Q, Form 8-K or any successor form or other rules under the Exchange Act).

Section 4.7 Information Supplied. None of the information supplied or to be supplied by or on behalf of the Company or any of its Subsidiaries expressly for inclusion or incorporation by reference in the proxy statement relating to the matters to be submitted to the Company's stockholders at the Company Stockholders' Meeting (such proxy statement and any amendments or supplements thereto, the "Proxy Statement") shall, at the time the Proxy Statement is first mailed to the Company's stockholders and at the time of the Company Stockholders' Meeting to be held in connection with the Merger, contain any untrue statement of material fact or omit to state any material fact required to be stated therein or necessary to make the statements therein, in light of the circumstances under which they were made, not misleading at such applicable time, except that no representation or warranty is made by the Company with respect to statements made therein based on information supplied, or required to be supplied, by Parent or its Representatives in writing expressly for inclusion therein. The Proxy Statement will comply as to form in all material respects with the provisions of the Securities Act and the Exchange Act, and the rules and regulations promulgated thereunder.

Section 4.8 Disclosure Controls and Procedures. The Company has established and maintains "disclosure controls and procedures" and "internal control over financial reporting" (as such terms are defined in paragraphs (e) and (f), respectively, of Rule 13a-15 promulgated under the Exchange Act) as required by Rule 13a-15 promulgated under the Exchange Act. The Company has disclosed, based on its most recent evaluation of the Company's internal control over financial reporting prior to the date of this Agreement, to the Company's auditors and the

audit committee of the Company Board (i) any significant deficiencies and material weaknesses in the design or operation of its internal controls over financial reporting (as defined in Rule 13a-15(f) under the Exchange Act) that are reasonably likely to adversely affect the Company's ability to record, process, summarize and report financial information and (ii) any fraud to the Knowledge of the Company, whether or not material, that involves management or other employees who have a significant role in the Company's internal control over financial reporting.

Section 4.9 Absence of Certain Changes or Events. Since January 1, 2022 and until the date of this Agreement, (a) the businesses of the Company and its Subsidiaries have been conducted in the ordinary course of business (other than as a result of COVID-19 and COVID-19 Measures or with respect to the Existing 2030 Notes or the transactions contemplated hereby) and (b) there has not been any adverse change, event, development or state of circumstances that has had a Company Material Adverse Effect.

Section 4.10 No Undisclosed Liabilities. Except (a) as reflected, disclosed or reserved against in the Company's financial statements (as amended or restated, as applicable) or the notes thereto included in the Company SEC Documents, (b) for liabilities or obligations incurred in the ordinary course of business since December 31, 2021, (c) the Existing 2030 Notes, (d) for liabilities or obligations incurred in connection with the transactions contemplated by this Agreement, including the Merger, or (e) for liabilities or obligations that would not have a Company Material Adverse Effect, as of the date of this Agreement, the Company and its Subsidiaries do not have any liabilities of any nature, whether or not accrued, contingent or otherwise, that would be required by GAAP to be reflected on a consolidated balance sheet (or in the notes thereto) of the Company.

Section 4.11 Litigation. As of the date of this Agreement, there is no suit, action or proceeding pending or, to the Knowledge of the Company, threatened in writing against the Company or any of its Subsidiaries, that would have a Company Material Adverse Effect, nor is there any judgment of any Governmental Authority outstanding against, or, to the Knowledge of the Company, investigation by any Governmental Authority involving the Company or any of its Subsidiaries that would have a Company Material Adverse Effect. As of the date of this Agreement, there is no suit, action or proceeding pending or, to the Knowledge of the Company, threatened in writing seeking to prevent, hinder, modify, delay or challenge the Merger or any of the other transactions contemplated by this Agreement.

Section 4.12 Employee Benefit Plans.

(a) Prior to the Closing, the Company will provide a true and complete list, as of the date of this Agreement, of each material Company Benefit Plan (which list may reference a form of such Company Benefit Plan). Prior to the Closing, the Company will make available to Parent a true and complete copy of each material Company Benefit Plan and all amendments thereto and a true and complete copy of the following items (in each case, only if applicable): (i) each trust or other funding arrangement; (ii) each current summary plan description and current summary of material modifications; (iii) the most recently filed annual report on IRS Form 5500; and (iv) the most recently received IRS determination letter or IRS opinion letter.

- (b) Except as would not have a Company Material Adverse Effect:
- (i) each of the Company Benefit Plans has been maintained, operated, administered and funded in accordance with its terms and in compliance with applicable Laws;
- (ii) there are no claims pending, or, to the Knowledge of the Company, threatened actions, suits, disputes or claims (other than routine claims for benefits) against or affecting any Company Benefit Plan, by any employee or beneficiary covered under such Company Benefit Plan, as applicable, or otherwise involving such Company Benefit Plan;
- (iii) neither the Company nor its Subsidiaries has any material obligations for post-termination health or life insurance benefits under any Company Benefit Plan (other than for continuation coverage required to be provided pursuant to Section 4980B of the Code); and
- (iv) each Foreign Plan (A) if required to be registered or approved by a non-U.S. Governmental Authority, has been registered or approved and has been maintained in good standing with applicable regulatory authorities, and, to the Knowledge of the Company, no event has occurred since the date of the most recent approval or application therefor relating to any such Foreign Plan that would reasonably be expected to adversely affect any such approval or good standing, (B) that is intended to qualify for special Tax treatment meets all requirements for such treatment, and (C) if required to be fully funded or fully insured, is fully funded or fully insured on an ongoing and termination or solvency basis (determined using reasonable actuarial assumptions) in compliance with applicable Laws.
- (e) If, and to the extent, the execution or delivery of this Agreement or the consummation of the Merger (either alone or in combination with another event) will: (i) entitle any Company Service Provider to any material payment; (ii) materially increase the amount or value of any benefit or compensation or other obligation payable or required to be provided to any Company Service Provider; (iii) accelerate the time of payment or vesting of amounts due to any Company Service Provider or accelerate the time of any funding (whether to a trust or otherwise) of compensation or benefits in respect of any of the Company Benefit Plans; (iv) give rise to the payment of any amount by the Company or any of its Subsidiaries that would be non-deductible by reason of Section 280G of the Code, then, prior to the Closing, the Company will provide a true and complete list of each Company Benefit Plan that would trigger any of (i) through (iv) above. There is no contract, agreement, plan or arrangement to which the Company or any of its Subsidiaries is a party by which it is required by its terms to compensate, gross-up, indemnify, or otherwise reimburse any Person for excise Taxes imposed pursuant to Section 4999 or Section 409A of the Code.
- (f) Except as would not have a Company Material Adverse Effect, there are no claims pending, or, to the Knowledge of the Company, threatened actions, suits, disputes or claims (other than routine claims for benefits) against or affecting any Company Benefit Plan, by any employee or beneficiary covered under such Company Benefit Plan, as applicable, or otherwise involving such Company Benefit Plan.

- (g) Except as would not have a Company Material Adverse Effect, neither the Company nor its Subsidiaries has any material obligations for post-termination health or life insurance benefits under any Company Benefit Plan (other than for continuation coverage required to be provided pursuant to Section 4980B of the Code).
- (h) Except as would not have a Company Material Adverse Effect, each Foreign Plan (i) has been maintained, operated and administered in compliance with its terms and in compliance with applicable Laws; (ii) if required to be registered or approved by a non-U.S. Governmental Authority, has been registered or approved and has been maintained in good standing with applicable regulatory authorities, and, to the Knowledge of the Company, no event has occurred since the date of the most recent approval or application therefor relating to any such Foreign Plan that would reasonably be expected to adversely affect any such approval or good standing; (iii) that is intended to qualify for special Tax treatment meets all requirements for such treatment; (iv) if required to be fully funded or fully insured, is fully funded or fully insured on an ongoing and termination or solvency basis (determined using reasonable actuarial assumptions) in compliance with applicable Laws; and (v) is not subject to any pending or, to the Knowledge of the Company, threatened claims by or on behalf of any participant in any Foreign Plan, or otherwise involving any such Foreign Plan or the assets of any Foreign Plan, other than routine claims for benefits.

Section 4.13 Labor Matters. If, and to the extent that, the Company or any of its Subsidiaries is a party to or bound by any works council or collective bargaining agreement and no employees of the Company or any of its Subsidiaries are represented by a labor organization with respect to their employment with the Company or any of its Subsidiaries, then, prior to the Closing, the Company will provide a true and complete list of each such works council or collective bargaining agreement, or labor organization, as applicable. There are no labor related strikes, walkouts or work stoppages pending or, to the Knowledge of the Company, threatened in writing.

Section 4.14 Intellectual Property.

- (a) Except as would not have a Company Material Adverse Effect, the Company and its Subsidiaries solely and exclusively own all patents, trademarks, trade names, copyrights, Internet domain names, service marks, trade secrets and other intellectual property rights (the "Intellectual Property Rights") purported to be owned by the Company and its Subsidiaries (the "Company Intellectual Property"), free and clear of all Liens, except Permitted Liens.
- (b) To the Knowledge of the Company, the conduct of the business of the Company and its Subsidiaries as currently conducted does not infringe, misappropriate or otherwise violate any Intellectual Property Rights of any other Person, except for any such infringement, misappropriation or other violation that would not have a Company Material Adverse Effect. To the Knowledge of the Company, no other Person is infringing, misappropriating or otherwise violating any Company Intellectual Property, except for any such infringement, misappropriation or other violation as would not have a Company Material Adverse Effect.

The Company and its Subsidiaries are in compliance with all applicable Laws, Contracts to which the Company or its Subsidiaries are bound, and internal- and external-facing policies of the Company or its Subsidiaries, in each case, relating to privacy, data protection, and the collection and use of information that constitutes "personal information" under applicable Laws ("Personal Information") collected, used or held for use by the Company or its Subsidiaries, except where the failure to be in compliance would not have a Company Material Adverse Effect.

(e) Neither the Company nor any of its Subsidiaries has experienced any unauthorized access to the information technology systems owned or used by the Company or its Subsidiaries or Personal Information collected, used, held for use or otherwise processed by the Company or its Subsidiaries, except as would not have a Company Material Adverse Effect.

Section 4.15 Taxes.

- (a) Except as would not have a Company Material Adverse Effect, (i) the Company and its Subsidiaries have timely filed all Tax Returns (taking into account any extensions) required to be filed, and such Tax Returns (taking into account all amendments thereto) are complete and accurate, and (ii) all Taxes required to be paid by the Company and its Subsidiaries have been paid.
- (b) Except as would not have a Company Material Adverse Effect, (i) neither the Company nor any of its Subsidiaries has received written notice of any audit, examination, investigation or other proceeding from any Governmental Authority in respect of liabilities for Taxes of the Company or any of its Subsidiaries, which have not been fully paid or settled; (ii) there are no Liens for Taxes on any of the assets of the Company or any of its Subsidiaries other than Permitted Liens; (iii) with respect to any tax years open for audit as of the date of this Agreement, neither the Company nor any of its Subsidiaries has granted any waiver of any statute of limitations with respect to, or any extension of a period for the assessment of, any Tax; and (iv) neither the Company nor any of its Subsidiaries has any liability for the Taxes of any Person (other than the Company and its Subsidiaries) pursuant to Treasury Regulation Section 1.1502-6 (or any similar provision of state, local or non-U.S. Law) as a transferee or successor, by contract (other than contracts entered into in the ordinary course of business the primary purpose of which does not relate to Tax) or otherwise by operation of law.
- (c) Neither the Company nor any of its Subsidiaries has engaged in any "listed transaction" as defined in Treasury Regulation Section 1.6011-4(b)(2) in any tax year for which the statute of limitations has not expired.
- (d) The Company is not nor has been during the applicable period specified in Section 897(c)(1)(A)(ii) of the Code a "United States real property holding corporation" within the meaning of Section 897(c)(2) of the Code.
- (e) Except with respect to <u>Section 4.12</u>, the representations in this <u>Section 4.15</u> are the sole and exclusive representations and warranties concerning Tax matters.

Section 4.16 Material Contracts.

- (a) For purposes of this Agreement, "Company Material Contract" means any Contract (other than any Company Benefit Plan) to which the Company or any of its Subsidiaries is a party or by which their respective properties or assets are bound, except for this Agreement, that constitutes a "material contract" (as such term is defined in item 601(b)(10) of Regulation S-K of the Securities Act).
- (b) Neither the Company nor any of its Subsidiaries is in breach of or default under the terms of any Company Material Contract where such breach or default would have a Company Material Adverse Effect. To the Knowledge of the Company, no other party to any Company Material Contract is in breach of or default under the terms of any Company Material Contract where such breach or default would have a Company Material Adverse Effect. Each Company Material Contract is a valid and binding obligation of the Company or its Subsidiary and, to the Knowledge of the Company, the other parties thereto, except such as would not have a Company Material Adverse Effect; provided that (i) such enforcement may be subject to the Enforceability Exceptions and (ii) the remedies of specific performance and injunctive and other forms of equitable relief may be subject to equitable defenses and to the discretion of the court before which any proceeding therefor may be brought.

Section 4.17 RESERVED.

Section 4.18 RESERVED.

Section 4.19 Takeover Statutes. Assuming the accuracy of the representation contained in Section 5.8, the Company Board has taken such actions and votes as are necessary to render the provisions of any "fair price," "moratorium," "control share acquisition" or any other takeover or anti-takeover statute or similar federal or state Law inapplicable to this Agreement, the Merger or any other transactions contemplated by this Agreement.

<u>Section 4.20 Vote Required</u>. Assuming the accuracy of the representation contained in <u>Section 5.8</u>, the adoption of this Agreement by the affirmative vote of a majority of the outstanding shares of Company Common Stock entitled to vote to adopt this Agreement (the "**Company Stockholder Approval**") are the only votes of holders of securities of the Company that are required to consummate the Merger.

Section 4.21 Brokers. Except for Goldman Sachs & Co. LLC ("Goldman Sachs"), J.P. Morgan Securities LLC ("J.P. Morgan") and Allen & Company LLC, each of whose fees and expenses shall be borne solely by the Company, no broker, finder, investment banker, consultant or intermediary is entitled to any investment banking, brokerage, finder's or similar fee or commission in connection with the Merger or any of the other transactions contemplated by this Agreement based upon arrangements made by or on behalf of the Company or any of its Subsidiaries.

Section 4.22 Opinions of Financial Advisors. The Company Board has received the oral opinion of Goldman Sachs (to be followed by delivery of a written opinion as of the date hereof), to the effect that, as of such date, and based upon and subject to the limitations, qualifications and assumptions set forth in the written opinion of Goldman Sachs, the Merger Consideration to be paid to the holders of Company Common Stock (other than the Equity Investor, Parent and their respective Affiliates) pursuant to this Agreement is fair from a financial point of view to such holders. On or prior to the date of this Agreement, the Company Board has received the opinion of J.P. Morgan to the effect that, as of the date of such opinion and subject to the assumptions, limitations, qualifications and other factors set forth therein, the Merger Consideration to be paid to holders of Company Common Stock pursuant to this Agreement is fair, from a financial point of view, to such holders.

<u>Section 4.23 Rights Agreement</u>. The Company has taken all action necessary to render the Stockholder Rights Plan, inapplicable to the Merger and this Agreement and the transactions contemplated hereby.

Section 4.24 RESERVED.

Section 4.25 No Other Representations or Warranties. Except for the representations and warranties expressly set forth in this Article IV, neither the Company nor any other Person makes or has made any representation or warranty of any kind whatsoever, express or implied, at Law or in equity, with respect to the Company or any of its Subsidiaries or their respective business, operations, assets, liabilities, conditions (financial or otherwise), notwithstanding the delivery or disclosure to Parent and the Acquisition Sub or any of their Affiliates or Representatives of any documentation, forecasts or other information with respect to any one or more of the foregoing. Without limiting the generality of the foregoing, neither the Company nor any other Person makes or has made any express or implied representation or warranty to Parent, Acquisition Sub or any of their respective Representatives with respect to (a) any financial projection, forecast, estimate or budget relating to the Company, any of its Subsidiaries or their respective businesses or, (b) except for the representations and warranties made by the Company in this Article IV, any oral or written information presented to Parent, Acquisition Sub or any of their respective Representatives in the course of their due diligence investigation of the Company, the negotiation of this Agreement or the course of the Merger, or the accuracy or completeness thereof.

ARTICLE V

REPRESENTATIONS AND WARRANTIES OF PARENT AND ACQUISITION SUB

Except as disclosed in the Parent Disclosure Letter, Parent and Acquisition Sub hereby jointly and severally represent and warrant to the Company as follows:

Section 5.1 Organization and Qualification.

(a) Each of Parent and Acquisition Sub is a corporation duly organized, validly existing and (to the extent applicable) in good standing under the laws of the jurisdiction of its incorporation and has the requisite corporate entity power and authority to conduct its business as it is now being conducted, except where the failure to be duly organized, validly existing or in good standing or to have such power and authority would not have a Parent Material Adverse Effect. Each of Parent and Acquisition Sub is duly qualified or licensed to do business and is in good standing in each jurisdiction in which the nature of the business conducted by it makes such qualification or licensing necessary, except where the failure to be so duly qualified or licensed and in good standing would not have a Parent Material Adverse Effect.

- (b) As of the date of this Agreement, the authorized share capital of Acquisition Sub consists of 1,000 shares, \$0.01 par value per share, all of which are validly issued and outstanding. All of the issued and outstanding share capital of Acquisition Sub is, and at the Effective Time will be, owned by Parent. Acquisition Sub was formed solely for the purpose of acquiring the Company, and it has not conducted any business prior to the date of this Agreement and has no, and prior to the Effective Time will have no, assets, liabilities or obligations of any nature other than those incident to its formation and pursuant to this Agreement and the Merger and other transactions contemplated by this Agreement.
 - (c) As of the date of this Agreement, all of the issued and outstanding share capital of Parent is owned by the Equity Investor. Section 5.2 Authority Relative to Agreement.
- (a) Parent and Acquisition Sub have all necessary corporate power and authority to (a) execute and deliver this Agreement, (b) perform its covenants and obligations hereunder and (c) consummate the transactions contemplated by this Agreement, including the Merger. The execution, delivery and performance of this Agreement by Parent and Acquisition Sub, and the consummation by Parent and Acquisition Sub of the transactions contemplated by this Agreement, including the Merger, have been duly and validly authorized by all necessary corporate action by Parent and Acquisition Sub, and no other corporate action or proceeding on the part of Parent and Acquisition Sub is necessary to authorize the execution, delivery and performance of this Agreement by Parent and Acquisition Sub and the consummation by Parent and Acquisition Sub of the transactions contemplated by this Agreement, including the Merger. This Agreement has been duly executed and delivered by Parent and Acquisition Sub and, assuming the due authorization, execution and delivery of this Agreement by the other party hereto, constitutes a legal, valid and binding obligation of Parent and Acquisition Sub, enforceable against Parent and Acquisition Sub in accordance with its terms, except that such enforceability may be subject to the Enforceability Exceptions.
- (b) The Parent Board has, by resolutions duly adopted by the unanimous vote of the directors, (i) adopted this Agreement and approved the consummation of the transactions contemplated by this Agreement, including the Merger, and (ii) determined that this Agreement and the transactions contemplated by this Agreement are advisable and in the best interests of Parent and its stockholders, as applicable. No vote of, or consent by, the holders of any class or series of capital stock of Parent is necessary to authorize the execution, delivery and performance by Parent of this Agreement and the consummation of the transactions contemplated by this Agreement or otherwise required by the certificate of incorporation or bylaws of Parent, applicable Law (including any stockholder approval provisions under the rules of any applicable securities exchange) or any Governmental Authority.

(c) The Acquisition Sub Board has, by resolutions duly adopted by the unanimous vote of the directors, (i) authorized the execution and delivery of this Agreement and declared advisable and approved the consummation of the transactions contemplated by this Agreement, including the Merger, (ii) directed that this Agreement be submitted for consideration by Acquisition Sub's sole stockholder and (iii) recommended that the sole stockholder of Acquisition Sub approve the Merger. Parent, acting in its capacity as the sole stockholder of Acquisition Sub, has approved this Agreement and the consummation of the transactions contemplated by this Agreement, including the Merger, and no further vote is required.

Section 5.3 No Conflict; Required Filings and Consents.

- (a) Neither the execution and delivery of this Agreement by Parent and Acquisition Sub nor the consummation by Parent and Acquisition Sub of the transactions contemplated by this Agreement will (i) violate any provision of Parent's or its Subsidiaries' certificates of incorporation or bylaws, (ii) assuming that the Consents, registrations, declarations, filings and notices referred to in Section 5.3(b) have been obtained or made, any applicable waiting periods referred to therein have expired and any condition precedent to any such Consent has been satisfied, conflict with or violate any Law applicable to Parent or any of its Subsidiaries or by which any property or asset of Parent or any of its Subsidiaries is bound or affected or (iii) result in any breach of, or constitute a default (with or without notice or lapse of time, or both) under, or give rise to any right of termination, acceleration or cancellation of any Contract to which Parent or any of its Subsidiaries is a party, or by which any of their respective properties or assets is bound, other than, in the case of clauses (ii) and (iii), any such conflict, violation, breach, default, termination, acceleration or cancellation that would not have a Parent Material Adverse Effect.
- (b) No Consent of, or registration, declaration or filing with, or notice to, any Governmental Authority is required to be obtained or made by or with respect to Parent or any of its Subsidiaries under applicable Law in connection with the execution, delivery and performance of this Agreement or the consummation of the transactions contemplated by this Agreement, other than (i) the applicable reporting or other requirements of and filings with the SEC under the Exchange Act (including the filing of the Proxy Statement), (ii) the filing of the Certificate of Merger with the Secretary of State in accordance with the DGCL and appropriate documents with the relevant authorities of the other jurisdictions in which Parent or any of its Subsidiaries is qualified to do business, (iii) such filings as may be required in connection with the Taxes described in Section 8.6, (iv) such other items required solely by reason of the participation of the Company in the transactions contemplated by this Agreement, (v) compliance with and filings or notifications under the HSR Act, other Antitrust Laws (vi) compliance with and filings or notifications under any Foreign Investment Laws, and (vii) such other Consents, registrations, declarations, filings or notices the failure of which to be obtained or made would not have a Parent Material Adverse Effect.

Section 5.4 Financing. Parent has delivered to the Company true, correct and complete copies of the duly executed (i) debt commitment letter, dated as of April 25, 2022, among Morgan Stanley Senior Funding, Inc., the other financial institutions party thereto, Parent and Acquisition Sub, together with true, correct and complete copies of the executed fee letter related thereto (collectively, including all exhibits, schedules and annexes thereto, the "Bank Debt Commitment Letter"), pursuant to which, and subject to the terms and conditions therein, the Debt Financing Sources party thereto have committed to lend the amounts set forth therein to Acquisition Sub for the purpose of funding a portion of the amounts required to fund the transactions contemplated by this Agreement (the "Bank Debt Financing"), (ii) debt commitment letter, dated as of April 25,

2022, among Morgan Stanley Senior Funding, Inc., the other financial institutions party thereto and X Holdings III, LLC, a Delaware limited liability company (the "Margin Loan Borrower"), together with true, correct and complete copies of the executed fee letter related thereto (collectively, including all exhibits, schedules and annexes thereto, the "Margin Loan Commitment Letter" and, together with the Bank Debt Commitment Letter, the "Debt Commitment Letters"), pursuant to which, and subject to the terms and conditions therein, the Debt Financing Sources party thereto have committed to lend the amounts set forth therein to the Margin Loan Borrower for the purpose of funding a portion of the amounts required to fund the transactions contemplated by this Agreement (the "Margin Loan Financing" and, together with the Bank Debt Financing, the "Debt Financing") and (iii) an equity commitment letter from the Equity Investor, dated as of the date hereof (including all exhibits, schedules, annexes and amendments thereto as of the date of this Agreement, the "Equity Commitment Letter" and, together with the Debt Commitment Letters, the "Financing Commitments") pursuant to which the Equity Investor has committed to invest the amounts set forth therein (the "Equity Financing" and, together with the Debt Financing, the "Financing"); provided that the fee and other economic provisions (including "flex" provisions) of fee letters may be redacted in a customary manner so long as none of the redacted terms would (i) reduce the amount of the Debt Financing below the amount that is required to pay the Funded Obligations, (ii) impose any new condition or otherwise adversely amend, modify or expand any conditions precedent to the Debt Financing or (iii) affect the enforceability or impair the validity of, or prevent, impede or delay the consummation of, the Debt Financing at the Closing. As of the date hereof, each of Parent and Acquisition Sub has accepted and is a party to the Bank Debt Commitment Letter, the Margin Loan Borrower has accepted and is a party to the Margin Loan Commitment Letter, and the Financing Commitments are in full force and effect and, are legal, valid and binding obligations of the Equity Investor, Parent and Acquisition Sub or the Margin Loan Borrower, as applicable, and, to the knowledge of the Equity Investor, Parent, Acquisition Sub and the Margin Loan Borrower, each of the other parties thereto, enforceable in accordance with their respective terms against the Equity Investor, Parent, Acquisition Sub or the Margin Loan Borrower, as applicable, and, to the knowledge of Parent and Acquisition Sub, against each of the other parties thereto. As of the date hereof, the Financing Commitments, and the respective commitments or obligations thereunder, have not been withdrawn, terminated, reduced, repudiated, rescinded, amended, supplemented or modified, in any respect, and no such withdrawal, termination, reduction, repudiation, rescission, amendment, supplement or modification is contemplated by the Equity Investor, Parent, Acquisition Sub or the Margin Loan Borrower or, to the knowledge of Parent and Acquisition Sub, any other party thereto. None of the Equity Investor, Parent, Acquisition Sub, the Margin Loan Borrower nor any of their respective Affiliates has, nor has, to the knowledge of the Equity Investor, Parent, Acquisition Sub or the Margin Loan Borrower, any other party to the Financing Commitments, committed any breach or threatened breach of the performance, observance or fulfillment of any covenants, conditions or other obligations set forth in, or is in default under, any of the Financing Commitments. No event has occurred which, with or without notice, lapse of time or both, would or would reasonably be expected to (i) constitute or result in a breach or default on the part of Parent, Acquisition Sub, Margin Loan Borrower or any of the other parties thereto (including the Financing Sources) under the Financing Commitments, (ii) constitute or result in a failure to satisfy a condition or other contingency set forth in the Financing Commitments, or (iii) otherwise result in any portion of the Debt Financing or the Equity Financing not being available on the Closing Date. None of the Equity Investor, Parent, Acquisition Sub or the Margin Loan Borrower, nor any

of their respective Affiliates has any reason to believe (both before and after giving effect to any "flex" provisions contained in the Debt Commitment Letters) that it will be unable to satisfy, on a timely basis (and in any event, not later than the Closing), any condition to be satisfied by it (or otherwise within the Equity Investor's, Parent's, Acquisition Sub's or the Margin Loan Borrower's any of their respective Representatives' or Affiliates' control) contained in the applicable Financing Commitments or that the full amounts committed pursuant to the applicable Financing Commitments will not be available as of the Closing. There are no conditions precedent or other contingencies or conditions related to the Financing other than those conditions expressly set forth in the unredacted provisions of the Financing Commitments, and there are no side letters, understandings or other agreements, Contracts or arrangements of any kind relating to the Financing Commitments or the Financing that could adversely affect the availability, conditionality, enforceability or amount of the Financing contemplated by the Financing Commitments. As of the date of this Agreement, Parent, Acquisition Sub, the Margin Loan Borrower and/or their respective Affiliates have fully paid any and all commitment fees or other fees or deposits required by the applicable Financing Commitments to be paid on or before the date of this Agreement. The aggregate proceeds from the Financing are sufficient in amount to provide Parent and Acquisition Sub with the funds necessary to consummate the transactions contemplated hereby and to satisfy their obligations under this Agreement, including for Parent to pay (or cause to be paid) the aggregate amounts payable pursuant to Article II and the payment of all fees, costs and expenses to be paid by Parent related to the transactions contemplated by this Agreement, including such fees, costs and expenses relating to the Financing, and payment of all amounts in connection with the refinancing or repayment of any outstanding indebtedness of the Company required by this Agreement or the Financing Commitments (collectively, the "Funding Obligations"). Notwithstanding anything contained in this Agreement to the contrary, the Equity Investor, Parent and Acquisition Sub each acknowledge and affirm that it is not a condition to the Closing or to any of its obligations under this Agreement that the Equity Investor, Parent, Acquisition Sub and/or any of their respective Affiliates obtain any financing (including the Debt Financing) for any of the transactions contemplated by this Agreement. As of the date of this Agreement, the Equity Investor owns, directly or indirectly, all the issued and outstanding capital stock and other equity interests of the Margin Loan Borrower.

Section 5.5 Information Supplied. None of the information supplied or required to be supplied by or on behalf of Parent or any of its Representatives expressly for inclusion or incorporation by reference in the Proxy Statement shall, at the time it is first mailed to the Company's stockholders and at the time of the Company Stockholders' Meeting to be held in connection with the Merger, contain any untrue statement of material fact or omit to state any material fact required to be stated therein or necessary to make the statements therein, in light of the circumstances under which they were made, not misleading.

Section 5.6 Brokers. Except for Morgan Stanley & Co. LLC, Bank of America Merrill Lynch and Barclays, each of whose fees and expenses shall be borne solely by Parent, no broker, finder, investment banker, consultant or intermediary is entitled to any investment banking, brokerage, finder's or similar fee or commission in connection with the Merger or any of the other transactions contemplated by this Agreement based upon arrangements made by or on behalf of Parent, Acquisition Sub, or any of their respective Subsidiaries.

Section 5.7 Compliance With Laws.

- (a) Neither the Parent, Acquisition Sub nor any of their Affiliates is in default or violation of any applicable Law, except for any such defaults or violations that would not have a Parent Material Adverse Effect.
- (b) As of the date of this Agreement, there is no suit, action or proceeding pending or, to the knowledge of Parent, threatened in writing against Parent, Acquisition Sub or any of their Affiliates, that would have a Parent Material Adverse Effect, nor is there any judgment of any Governmental Authority outstanding against, or, to the knowledge of Parent, investigation by any Governmental Authority involving Parent, Acquisition Sub or any of their Affiliates or any of the transactions contemplated hereby that would have a Parent Material Adverse Effect.

Section 5.8 Ownership of Company. As of the date hereof, the Equity Investor, Parent and Acquisition Sub beneficially own, in the aggregate, 73,115,038 shares of Company Common Stock (the "Parent Owned Shares"). None of Parent, Acquisition Sub or any of their respective directors, officers, general partners or Affiliates has been an "interested stockholder" (as defined in Section 203 of the DGCL) of the Company, in each case during the three years prior to the date of this Agreement.

Section 5.9 Solvency. Neither Parent nor Acquisition Sub is entering into this Agreement with the actual intent to hinder, delay or defraud either present or future creditors of the Company or any of its Subsidiaries. Parent is Solvent as of the date of this Agreement, and each of Parent and the Company and its Subsidiaries (on a consolidated basis) will, after giving effect to the Merger or any other transaction contemplated by this Agreement, including the funding of the Financing, payment of the Funding Obligations, and payment of all other amounts required to be paid in connection with the consummation of the Merger or any other transaction contemplated by this Agreement and the payment of all related fees and expenses, be Solvent at and immediately after the Closing. As used in this Section 5.8, the term "Solvent" shall mean, with respect to a particular date, that on such date, (a) the sum of the assets, at a fair valuation, of Parent and, after the Closing, Parent and the Surviving Corporation and its Subsidiaries (on a consolidated basis) will exceed their debts, (b) Parent and, after the Closing, Parent and the Surviving Corporation and its Subsidiaries (on a consolidated basis) and each of them (on a stand-alone basis) has not incurred and does not intend to incur, and does not believe that it will incur, debts beyond its ability to pay such debts as such debts mature, and (c) Parent has and, after the Closing, the Surviving Corporation and its Subsidiaries (on a consolidated basis) and of each of them (on a stand-alone basis) will have, sufficient capital and liquidity with which to conduct its business. For purposes of this Section 5.8, "debt" means any liability on a claim, and "claim" means any (i) right to payment, whether or not such a right is reduced to judgment, liquidated, unliquidated, fixed, contingent, matured, unmatured, disputed, undisputed, secured or unsecured.

Section 5.10 Parent Guarantee. Parent has furnished the Company with a true, complete and correct copy of the Parent Guarantee. The Parent Guarantee is in full force and effect and has not been amended, modified or terminated. The Parent Guarantee is a (i) legal, valid and binding obligation of the Guarantor and of each of the parties thereto and (ii) enforceable in accordance with its respective terms against the Guarantor and each of the other parties thereto. There is no default under the Parent Guarantee by the Guarantor, and no event has occurred that with the lapse of time or the giving of notice or both would constitute a default thereunder by the Guarantor.

Section 5.11 Acknowledgment of Disclaimer of Other Representations and Warranties. Except for the representations and warranties expressly set forth in this Article V, in the Equity Commitment Letter and in the Guarantee none of Parent, Acquisition Sub or any other Person makes or has made any representation or warranty of any kind whatsoever, express or implied, at Law or in equity, with respect to Parent or Acquisition Sub or their Affiliates or their respective business, operations, assets, liabilities, conditions (financial or otherwise), notwithstanding the delivery or disclosure to the Company or any of its Affiliates or Representatives of any documentation, forecasts or other information with respect to any one or more of the foregoing. Each of Parent and Acquisition Sub has conducted, to its satisfaction, its own independent investigation, review and analysis of the business, results of operations, prospects, condition (financial or otherwise) or assets of the Company and its Subsidiaries. In making its determination to proceed with the transactions contemplated by this Agreement, including the Merger, each of Parent and Acquisition Sub has relied solely on the results of its own independent review and analysis and the covenants, representations and warranties of the Company contained in this Agreement. Parent and Acquisition Sub hereby acknowledge that, notwithstanding anything contained in this Agreement to the contrary, (i) neither the Company nor any of its Subsidiaries or their respective business or operations, in each case, other than those expressly given solely by the Company in Article IV, with respect to the Company or any of its Subsidiaries or their respective business or operations, in each case, other than those expressly given solely by the Company in Article IV.

ARTICLE VI

COVENANTS AND AGREEMENTS

Section 6.1 Conduct of Business by the Company Pending the Merger. The Company covenants and agrees that, between the date of this Agreement and the earlier of the Effective Time and the date, if any, on which this Agreement is terminated pursuant to Section 8.1, except (a) as may be required by Law, (b) as may be agreed to in writing by Parent (which consent shall not be unreasonably withheld, delayed or conditioned), (c) as may be expressly required or permitted pursuant to this Agreement, or (d) as set forth in Section 6.1 of the Company Disclosure Letter, (x) the Company shall use its commercially reasonable efforts to conduct the business of the Company and its Subsidiaries in the ordinary course of business (except with respect to actions or omissions that constitute COVID-19 Measures), and to the extent consistent therewith, the Company shall use its commercially reasonable efforts to preserve substantially intact the material components of its current business organization, and to preserve in all material respects its present relationships with key customers, suppliers and other Persons with which it has material business relations; provided that no action by the Company or its Subsidiaries with respect to the matters specifically addressed by any provision of this Section 6.1 shall be deemed a breach of this sentence, unless such action would constitute a breach of such relevant provision; and (y) the Company shall not, and shall not permit any of its Subsidiaries to (except for actions or omissions that constitute COVID-19 Measures, following reasonable prior consultation with Parent):

- (a) amend or otherwise change, in any material respect, the Company Certificate of Incorporation or the Company Bylaws (or, except in the ordinary course of business, such equivalent organizational or governing documents of any of its Subsidiaries);
- (b) split, combine, reclassify, redeem, repurchase or otherwise acquire or amend the terms of any capital stock or other equity interests or rights (except in connection with (i) the acceptance of shares of Company Common Stock as payment for the per share exercise price of the Company Options or as payment for Taxes incurred in connection with the exercise, vesting and/or settlement of Company Equity Awards, in each case, in accordance with the applicable Company Benefit Plan, (ii) the forfeiture of Company Equity Awards), (iii) pursuant to the exercise of purchase rights under the Company ESPP or (iv) pursuant to other than the Company ASR Confirmations and the Company Bond Hedge Transactions;
- (c) except as permitted pursuant to Section 6.1(f), issue, sell, pledge, dispose, encumber or grant any shares of its or its Subsidiaries' capital stock or other equity interests, or any options, warrants, convertible securities or other rights of any kind to acquire any shares of its or its Subsidiaries' capital stock or equity interests except for transactions among the Company and its direct or indirect wholly owned Subsidiaries or among the Company are issue shares of Company Common Stock upon the exercise of any Vested Company Option or payment of any other Company Equity Award that becomes vested, pursuant to the exercise of purchase rights under the Company ESPP or to satisfy any obligations under the Existing Convertible Notes;
- (d) other than any shares of the Company Common Stock issuable upon conversion of any series of Existing Convertible Notes in accordance with their terms, authorize, declare, pay or make any dividend or other distribution, payable in cash, stock, property or otherwise, with respect to the Company's or any of its Subsidiaries' capital stock or other equity interests, other than dividends paid by any Subsidiary of the Company to the Company or any wholly owned Subsidiary of the Company;
- (e) except as required pursuant to existing Company Benefit Plans, (i) increase the compensation payable or to become payable or benefits provided or to be provided to any Company Service Provider except for increases in cash compensation or benefits to Company Service Providers in the ordinary course of business consistent with past practice, (ii) grant or provide any severance or termination payments or benefits to any Company Service Provider other than the payment of severance amounts or benefits in the ordinary course of business consistent with past practice and subject to the execution and non-revocation of a release of claims in favor of the Company and its Subsidiaries, (iii) provide any obligation to gross-up, indemnify or otherwise reimburse any Company Service Provider for any Tax incurred by any such individual, including under Section 409A or 4999 of the Code, (iv) accelerate the time of payment or vesting of, or the lapsing of restrictions related to, or fund or otherwise secure the payment of, any compensation or benefits (including any equity or equity-based awards) to any Company Service Provider, or (v) establish, amend or terminate any Company Benefit Plan (or any plan, program, arrangement or agreement that would be a Company Benefit Plan if it were in existence on the

date hereof) other than (x) entry into, amendment or termination of any Company Benefit Plan in a manner that would not materially increase costs to the Company, Parent or the Surviving Corporation or any of their affiliates, or materially increase the benefits provided under any Company Benefit Plan or (y) new hire offer letters entered into in the ordinary course and consistent with past practices;

- (f) except in the ordinary course of business and consistent with past practice (including with regard to aggregate grant date value, terms and allocation) or as may be required by the terms of a Company Benefit Plan in effect as of the date hereof, grant, confer or award any Company Equity Awards or other equity-based awards, convertible securities or any other rights to acquire any of its or its Subsidiaries' capital stock, whether settled in cash or shares of Company Common Stock;
- (g) unless required by Law or pursuant to existing written Company Benefit Plans, (i) enter into or materially amend any collective bargaining or other labor agreement with any labor organization or (ii) recognize or certify any labor organization or group of employees as the bargaining representative for any employees of the Company or any of its Subsidiaries;
- (i) (i) acquire (including by merger, consolidation, or acquisition of stock or assets), except in respect of any merger, consolidation, business combination among the Company and its wholly owned Subsidiaries or among the Company's wholly owned Subsidiaries, any corporation, partnership, limited liability company, other business organization or any division or material amount of assets thereof, or (ii) sell, lease, license, abandon or otherwise subject to a Lien other than a Permitted Lien or otherwise dispose of any material properties, rights or assets of the Company or its Subsidiaries other than (A) sales of inventory in the ordinary course of business, (B) licenses of Company Intellectual Property in the ordinary course of business, or (C) pursuant to agreements existing as of the date of this Agreement or entered into after the date of this Agreement in accordance with the terms of this Agreement;
- (j) incur, or amend in any material respect the terms of, any indebtedness for borrowed money for any of its Subsidiaries, or assume or guarantee any such indebtedness for any Person (other than a Subsidiary), except for indebtedness incurred (i) under the Company's existing credit facilities or incurred to replace, renew, extend, refinance or refund any existing indebtedness of the Company or its Subsidiaries on terms and conditions not materially less favorable to the Company and its Subsidiaries than, taken as a whole, the terms or conditions of the replaced, renewed, extended, refinanced or refunded debt or otherwise are not inconsistent with prevailing market conditions for substantially similar indebtedness at such time, as determined by the Company in good faith, (ii) pursuant to other agreements in effect prior to the execution of this Agreement, (iii) under capital leases, purchase money financing, equipment financing and letters of credit in the ordinary course of business, (iv) between or among the Company and/or any of its Subsidiaries or (v) otherwise in the ordinary course of business;
- (k) enter into, or amend in any material respect, any Company Material Contract with a term longer than one (1) year which cannot be terminated without material penalty upon notice of ninety (90) days or less other than (x) in the ordinary course of business or (y) which would not have a Company Material Adverse Effect;

- (l) make any material change to its methods of accounting in effect at December 31, 2021, except (i) as required by GAAP (or any interpretation thereof), Regulation S-X or a Governmental Authority or quasi-Governmental Authority (including the Financial Accounting Standards Board or any similar organization), (ii) to permit the audit of the Company's financial statements in compliance with GAAP, (iii) as required by a change in applicable Law, (iv) as disclosed in the Company SEC Documents or (v) to the extent that such change would not have a Company Material Adverse Effect;
- (m) make or change any Tax election or accounting method, settle or compromise any Tax claim or assessment, file any amended Tax Return, or consent to any extension or waiver of any limitation period with respect to any Tax claim or assessment, except, in each case, that would not have a Company Material Adverse Effect;
 - (n) solely with respect to the Company, adopt or enter into a plan of complete or partial liquidation or dissolution;
- (o) settle or compromise any litigation other than (i) in the ordinary course of business or (ii) settlements or compromises of litigation where the amount paid (less the amount reserved for such matters by the Company or otherwise covered by insurance) in settlement or compromise, in each case, does not exceed \$25 million;
- (p) adopt a stockholder rights plan (or other similar agreement, plan or arrangement having a similar intent, purpose or effect) that would be triggered (or whose rights would be affected in any way) by the consummation of the transactions contemplated hereby, including the Merger; or
 - (q) except as otherwise permitted by clauses (a) through (p) above, enter into any agreement to do any of the foregoing.

Section 6.2 Preparation of the Proxy Statement; Company Stockholders' Meeting.

(a) As promptly as reasonably practicable after the date of this Agreement, (i) the Company shall prepare the Proxy Statement, (ii) Parent and Acquisition Sub shall furnish to the Company all information concerning themselves and their Affiliates that is required to be included in the Proxy Statement and shall promptly provide such other assistance in the preparation of the Proxy Statement as may be reasonably requested by the Company from time to time, and (iii) subject to the receipt from Parent and Acquisition Sub of the information described in clause (ii) above, the Company shall file the Proxy Statement with the SEC. The Company shall, as promptly as practicable after receipt thereof, provide Parent with copies of any written comments, and advise Parent of any oral comments, with respect to the Proxy Statement received from the SEC. The Company shall use its reasonable best efforts (with the assistance of, and after consultation with, Parent as provided by this Section 6.2(a)) to respond as promptly as reasonably practicable to any comments from the SEC with respect to the Proxy Statement. No filing or mailing of, or amendment or supplement to, the Proxy Statement will be made by the Company without providing Parent a reasonable opportunity to review and comment thereon (which comments shall be considered by the Company in good faith) (except as required by applicable Law or in connection with and an Adverse Board Recommendation Change.

- (b) If, at any time prior to the Company Stockholders' Meeting, any information relating to Parent, Acquisition Sub or the Company, or any of their respective Affiliates, officers or directors, is discovered by Parent, Acquisition Sub or the Company that should be set forth in an amendment or supplement to the Proxy Statement so that the Proxy Statement shall not contain an untrue statement or omit to state any material fact required to be stated therein or necessary to make the statements therein (in light of the circumstances under which they were made) not misleading, the party that discovers such information shall promptly notify the other parties hereto, and, to the extent required by Law, an appropriate amendment or supplement describing such information shall be promptly filed with the SEC and disseminated to the Company's stockholders in accordance with applicable Law.
- (c) The Company shall, as promptly as practicable following the date on which the SEC confirms that it has no further comments on the Proxy Statement, (i) establish a record date, for and give notice of a meeting of its stockholders, for the purpose of voting upon the approval of the Merger, holding the Company Stockholder Advisory Vote and voting on customary matters of procedure (together with any postponement, adjournment or other delay thereof, the "Company Stockholders' Meeting"), (ii) cause the Proxy Statement to be mailed to the Company's stockholders as of the record date established for the Company Stockholders' Meeting and (iii) duly call, convene and hold the Company Stockholders' Meeting; provided that the Company may postpone or adjourn the Company Stockholders' Meeting (on one or more occasions) (A) with the consent of Parent and Acquisition Sub, (B) for the absence of a quorum, (C) to allow reasonable additional time for any supplemental or amended disclosure that the Company has determined in good faith is necessary under applicable Law and for such supplemental or amended disclosure to be disseminated and reviewed by the Company's stockholders prior to the Company Stockholders' Meeting, (D) to allow additional solicitation of votes in order to obtain the Company Stockholder Approval or (E) if required by applicable Law. Subject to the right of the Company Board to make an Adverse Board Recommendation Change pursuant to Section 6.5, Company Board Recommendation include the Company Board Recommendation in the Proxy Statement, and, unless there has been an Adverse Board Recommendation Change pursuant to Section 6.5, the Company shall use commercially reasonable efforts to solicit proxies in favor of the Company Stockholder Approval at the Company Stockholders' Meeting.
- (d) The Equity Investor, Parent and Acquisition Sub shall not sell or dispose any shares of Company Common Stock while this Agreement is in effect, and shall cause their controlled Affiliates to, cause Parent Owned Shares and all other shares of Company Common Stock beneficially as of the record date for the Company Stockholder Meeting owned by them to be (A) present at the Company Stockholder Meeting for quorum purposes; and (B) voted at the Company Stockholder Meeting in favor of the adoption of this Agreement.

Section 6.3 Efforts to Close; Regulatory Filings.

(a) Subject to the terms and conditions of this Agreement (including the limitations set forth in Section 6.5), the parties hereto will use their respective reasonable best efforts to consummate and make effective the transactions contemplated by this Agreement and to cause the conditions to the Merger set forth in Article VII to be satisfied, including using reasonable best efforts to accomplish the following: (i) the obtaining of all necessary actions or

non-actions, Consents and approvals from Governmental Authorities necessary in connection with the consummation of the transactions contemplated by this Agreement, including the Merger, and the making of all necessary registrations and filings (including filings with Governmental Authorities, if any) and the taking of all reasonable steps as may be necessary to obtain an approval from, or to avoid an action or proceeding by, any Governmental Authority necessary in connection with the consummation of the transactions contemplated by this Agreement, including the Merger; (ii) the obtaining of all other necessary Consents, approvals or waivers from Third Parties; (iii) the defending of any lawsuits or other legal proceedings through the Termination Date, whether judicial or administrative, challenging this Agreement or the consummation of the transactions contemplated by this Agreement, including the Merger, performed or consummated by such party in accordance with the terms of this Agreement, including seeking to have any stay or temporary restraining order entered by any court or other Governmental Authority vacated or reversed; and (iv) the execution and delivery of any additional instruments reasonably necessary to consummate the Merger and any other transactions to be performed or consummated by such party in accordance with the terms of this Agreement and to carry out fully the purposes of this Agreement. Each of the parties hereto shall (x) promptly (and in no event later than ten (10) Business Days following the date that this Agreement is executed) make its respective filings under the HSR Act, and (y) as promptly as reasonably practicable, make any other applications and filings as are mutually agreed by Parent and the Company, acting reasonably, to be (i) material and (ii) required or advisable under any Antitrust Laws or Foreign Investment Laws with respect to the transactions contemplated by this Agreement, including the Merger. Notwithstanding anything in this Agreement to the contrary, except as expressly provided in Section 7.1(b) or Section 7.1(c), obtaining any Consent of any Third Party, approvals or waivers referenced in this Section 6.3(a) above or otherwise shall not be considered a condition to the obligations of Parent and Acquisition Sub to consummate the Merger.

(b) The Equity Investor, Parent and Acquisition Sub agree to take promptly any and all steps necessary to avoid or eliminate each and every impediment and obtain all Consents, actions, non-actions, approvals or waivers (or, as applicable, expiration or termination of the waiting periods with respect thereto) under any Antitrust Laws, Foreign Investment Laws (or, as applicable, expiration or termination of the waiting periods with respect thereto) or other Law that may be required by any foreign or U.S. federal, state or local Governmental Authority, in each case, with competent jurisdiction, so as to enable the parties to consummate the transactions contemplated by this Agreement, including the Merger, as promptly as practicable, but prior to the Termination Date, including committing to or effecting, by consent decree, hold separate orders, trust, or otherwise, (i) the sale or other disposition of such assets or businesses as are required to be divested or (ii) the acceptance of restrictions on freedom of action, conduct, or operations with respect to the business of Company, in the case of the foregoing clauses (i) or (ii) in order to avoid the entry of, or to effect the dissolution of or vacate or lift, any Order, that would otherwise have the effect of preventing or materially delaying the consummation of the Merger and the other transactions contemplated by this Agreement as promptly as practicable. Further, the Equity Investor, Parent and Acquisition Sub will take such actions as are necessary in order to ensure that (x) no requirement for any non-action by, or Consent or approval of, any foreign or U.S. federal, state or local Governmental Authority, (y) no decree, judgment, injunction, temporary restraining order or any other Order in any suit or proceeding and (z) no other matter relating to any Antitrust Laws or Foreign Investment Laws, would preclude consummation of the Merger by the Termination Date. Notwithstanding the foregoing, nothing in Section 6.3(a), Section 6.3(b)

(including with respect to the foregoing clauses (i) and (ii)), or any other part of this Agreement shall require or obligate Parent, Acquisition Sub, or any of their respective Affiliates to (xx) propose, take, or agree to take any actions that would individually or in the aggregate have a material adverse effect on the business, assets, or financial condition of the Company and its Subsidiaries, taken as a whole or (yy) propose, negotiate, effect or agree to, the sale, divestiture, lease, license, hold separate, transfer, or disposition of, or any restriction on the freedom of action with respect to, any assets, business, or equity holdings of, or held or controlled directly or indirectly by, Equity Investor or any Affiliate of Parent (other than Parent, Acquisition Sub or Company after giving effect to the Merger and subject to the restrictions in subpart (xx) of this paragraph).

(c) Each of the parties hereto will furnish to the other such necessary information and reasonable assistance as the other may reasonably request in connection with the preparation of any required governmental filings or submissions and will cooperate in responding to any inquiry from a Governmental Authority, including (i) promptly informing the other party of such inquiry, (ii) consulting in advance before making any presentations or submissions to a Governmental Authority, (iii) cooperating in the filing of any analyses, presentations, memoranda, briefs, arguments, opinions or other written communications explaining or defending the Merger, articulating any regulatory or competitive argument or responding to requests or objections made by any Governmental Authority, (iv) providing each other with a reasonable advance opportunity to review and comment upon, and consider in good faith the views of the other with respect to, all material written communications (including applications, analyses, presentations, memoranda, briefs, arguments and opinions) with a Governmental Authority regarding the Merger or any other transactions, (v) giving the other party the opportunity to attend and participate in any substantive meetings or discussions with any Governmental Authority, to the extent reasonably practical and not prohibited by such Governmental Authority, and (vi) supplying each other with copies of all material correspondence, or communications between any party and any Governmental Authority with respect to this Agreement (provided that such materials may be limited to counsel as required or advisable under applicable Law and may be redacted to remove valuation material). The parties agree that Parent shall control the strategy for all filings, notifications, submissions, and communications, proposals and litigation in connection with any filing, notice, petition, statement, registration, submission of information, application or similar filing under the Antitrust Laws after consulting with, and considering in

Section 6.4 Access to Information; Confidentiality. Upon reasonable notice, the Company shall (and shall cause each of its Subsidiaries to) afford to the representatives, officers, directors, employees, agents, attorneys, accountants and financial advisors ("Representatives") of Parent reasonable access (at Parent's sole cost and expense), in a manner not disruptive in any material respect to the operations of the business of the Company and its Subsidiaries, during normal business hours and upon reasonable written notice throughout the period commencing on the date of this Agreement until the earlier of the Effective Time and the termination of this Agreement pursuant to Article VIII, to the properties, books and records of the Company and its Subsidiaries and, during such period, shall (and shall cause each of its Subsidiaries to) furnish promptly to such Representatives all information concerning the business, properties and personnel of the Company and its Subsidiaries as may reasonably be requested in writing, in each case, for any reasonable business purpose related to the consummation of the transactions contemplated by this Agreement; provided, however, that nothing herein shall require the

Company or any of its Subsidiaries to disclose any information to Parent or Acquisition Sub if such disclosure would, in the reasonable judgment of the Company, (i) cause significant competitive harm to the Company or its Subsidiaries if the transactions contemplated by this Agreement are not consummated, (ii) violate applicable Law or the provisions of any agreement to which the Company or any of its Subsidiaries is a party, or (iii) jeopardize any attorney-client or other legal privilege. No investigation or access permitted pursuant to this Section 6.4 shall affect or be deemed to modify any representation or warranty made by the Company hereunder. Each of Parent and Acquisition Sub agrees that it will not, and will cause its Representatives not to, use any information obtained pursuant to this Section 6.4 (or otherwise pursuant to this Agreement) for any competitive or other purpose unrelated to the consummation of the transactions contemplated by this Agreement. Parent will use its reasonable best efforts to minimize any disruption to the respective business of the Company and its Subsidiaries that may result from requests for access under this Section 6.4 and, notwithstanding anything to the contrary herein, the Company may satisfy its obligations set forth above by electronic means if physical access is not reasonably feasible or would not be permitted under applicable Law as a result of COVID-19 or any COVID-19 Measures. Prior to any disclosure, the Company and Parent shall enter into a customary confidentiality agreement with respect to any information obtained pursuant to this Section 6.4 (or otherwise pursuant to this Agreement).

Section 6.5 Non-Solicitation; Competing Proposals.

(a) From the date of this Agreement until the earlier of the Effective Time or the date, if any, on which this Agreement is terminated pursuant to Section 8.1, the Company shall, and shall cause each of its directors, executive officers and Subsidiaries to, and shall instruct its other Representatives to, immediately cease and cause to be terminated any existing solicitation of, or discussions or negotiations with, any Third Party relating to any Competing Proposal, and the Company further agrees that it shall promptly request that all non-public information previously provided in the past twelve (12) months by or on behalf of the Company or any of its Subsidiaries to any Persons that might reasonably be expected to consider making a Competing Proposal be promptly returned or destroyed in accordance with the terms of the applicable confidentiality agreement. Except as otherwise provided in this Section 6.5, from the date of this Agreement until the earlier of the Effective Time or the date, if any, on which this Agreement is terminated pursuant to Section 8.1, the Company shall not, shall cause each of its directors, executive officers and Subsidiaries not to, and shall instruct its other Representatives not to, (i) solicit, initiate, knowingly encourage or knowingly facilitate, whether publicly or otherwise, any substantive discussions, offer or request that constitutes, or would reasonably be expected to lead to, a Competing Proposal and (ii) engage in negotiations or substantive discussions with (it being understood that the Company may inform Persons of the provisions contained in this Section 6.5), or furnish any material non-public information to, any Person relating to a Competing Proposal or any inquiry or proposal that would reasonably be expected to lead to a Competing Proposal; provided that, notwithstanding the foregoing, the Company shall be permitted to grant a waiver of or terminate any "standstill" or similar obligation of any Person with respect to the Company or any of its Subsidiaries to allo

- (b) From the date of this Agreement until the earlier of the Effective Time or the date, if any, on which this Agreement is terminated pursuant to Section 8.1, as promptly as reasonably practicable, and in any event within one (1) Business Day of receipt by the Company or any of its directors, executive officers or Subsidiaries of any Competing Proposal or any request that would reasonably be expected to lead to the making of a Competing Proposal, the Company shall deliver to Parent a written notice setting forth: (i) the identity of the Person making such Competing Proposal or request; and (ii) the material terms and conditions of any such Competing Proposal. The Company shall keep Parent reasonably informed of any material amendment or other modification of any such Competing Proposal or request on a prompt basis, and in any event within two (2) Business Days following the Company's receipt in writing of such an amendment or modification.
- (c) Notwithstanding anything to the contrary in this Agreement, at any time prior to obtaining the Company Stockholder Approval, in the event that the Company receives a Competing Proposal from any Person or group of Persons, (i) the Company and its Representatives may contact such Person to clarify the terms and conditions thereof and (ii) the Company, the Company Board and their respective Representatives may engage in negotiations or discussions with, or furnish any information and other access to, any Person or group of Persons making such Competing Proposal and any of its Representatives or potential sources of financing if the Company Board determines in good faith (after consultation with its legal counsel and financial advisors) that such Competing Proposal either constitutes a Superior Proposal or would reasonably be expected to result in a Superior Proposal; provided that (x) prior to furnishing any material non-public information concerning the Company or its Subsidiaries, the Company receives from such Person or group, to the extent that such Person or group is not already subject to a confidentiality agreement with the Company, an executed confidentiality agreement containing customary confidentiality terms, it being understood that such confidentiality agreement need not contain a standstill provision or otherwise restrict the making, or amendment, of a Competing Proposal (and related communications) to the Company or the Company Board (such confidentiality agreement, an "Acceptable Confidentiality Agreement") and (y) any such material non-public information so furnished in writing shall be promptly made available to Parent to the extent that it was not previously made available to Parent or its Representatives. For the avoidance of doubt, none of (A) the determination, in itself with no further action, by the Company Board that a Competing Proposal either constitutes a Superior Proposal or would reasonably be expected to result in a Superior Proposal or (B) the public disclosure, in itself, of su
- (d) Except as otherwise provided in this Agreement, the Company Board shall not (i) (A) publicly recommend that the Company's stockholders vote against the adoption of this Agreement and the approval of the transactions contemplated by this Agreement, including the Merger, or make any public statement or knowingly take any action with a similar intent, purpose or effect, or (B) approve or recommend, or propose publicly to approve or recommend, to the Company's stockholders any Competing Proposal (any action described in this clause (i) being referred to as an "Adverse Board Recommendation Change"), or (ii) approve or recommend, or allow the Company or any of its Subsidiaries to execute or enter into, any letter of intent, memorandum of understanding or definitive merger or similar agreement with respect to any Competing Proposal (other than an Acceptable Confidentiality Agreement). Notwithstanding anything in this Agreement to the contrary, at any time prior to receipt of the Company Stockholder Approval, the Company Board may (i) make an Adverse Board Recommendation Change in response to an event, occurrence, change, effect, condition, development or state of facts or circumstances (other than related to a Competing Proposal or Superior Proposal, or any proposal

that constitutes or would reasonably be expected to lead to a Competing Proposal or Superior Proposal) that was neither known to, nor reasonably foreseeable by, the Company Board as of the date of this Agreement (or, if known, the consequences of which were not known or reasonably foreseeable to the Company Board as of the date of this Agreement) (an "Intervening Event") (where, for the avoidance of doubt, (x) the fact, in itself, that the Company meets or exceeds projections, forecasts or estimates (it being understood that the underlying causes of (or contributors to) such performance that are not otherwise excluded from the definition of Intervening Event may be taken into account) and (y) changes, in themselves, in the price of the Company Common Stock or the trading volume thereof shall be considered known and reasonably foreseeable occurrences (it being understood that the underlying causes of (or contributors to) such changes in price or trading volume that are not otherwise excluded from the definition of Intervening Event may be taken into account)) if the Company Board has determined in good faith (after consultation with its legal counsel and financial advisors) that the failure to take such action would reasonably be expected to be inconsistent with the Company's directors' fiduciary duties under applicable Law; or (ii) (x) make an Adverse Board Recommendation Change if the Company has received a Competing Proposal that the Company Board has determined in good faith (after consultation with its legal counsel and financial advisors) constitutes a Superior Proposal, and (y) authorize, adopt or approve such Superior Proposal and cause or permit the Company to enter into a definitive agreement with respect to such Superior Proposal substantially concurrently with the termination of this Agreement pursuant to Section 8.1(c)(ii); provided, however, that (1) no Adverse Board Recommendation Change may be made and no termination of this Agreement pursuant to this Section 6.5(d) and Section 8.1(c)(ii) may be effected, in each case, until the end of the fourth (4th) full Business Day following Parent's receipt of a written notice from the Company advising Parent that the Company Board intends to make an Adverse Board Recommendation Change (a "Notice of Adverse Board Recommendation Change") or terminate this Agreement pursuant to this Section 6.5(d) and Section 8.1(e)(ii) (a "Notice of Superior Proposal"); and (2) during such period, if requested by Parent, the Company and its Representatives shall negotiate with Parent and its Representatives in good faith (to the extent Parent so desires to negotiate) to make adjustments to the terms and conditions of this Agreement so that either the failure to make an Adverse Board Recommendation Change in response to such Intervening Event would no longer reasonably be expected to be inconsistent with the Company's directors' fiduciary duties under applicable Law or such Competing Proposal would cease to constitute a Superior Proposal, as appropriate, and (3) in determining whether to make such Adverse Board Recommendation Change or terminate this Agreement pursuant to this Section 6.5(d) and Section 8.1(c)(ii), the Company Board shall take into account any changes to the terms of this Agreement timely proposed by Parent in response to a Notice of Adverse Recommendation or a Notice of Superior Proposal (as may be extended). Any material amendment to the financial terms or any other material amendment of such Superior Proposal shall require a new Notice of Superior Proposal and the Company shall be required to comply again with the requirements of this Section 6.5(d) with respect to such new Superior Proposal; provided that the new notice period shall be three (3) Business Days. For the avoidance of doubt, none of (A) the delivery, in itself, of a Notice of Adverse Board Recommendation or a Notice of Superior Proposal or (B) the public disclosure, in itself, of such delivery will constitute an Adverse Board Recommendation Change or violate this Section 6.5.

(f) Nothing in this Agreement shall restrict the Company or the Company Board from taking or disclosing a position contemplated by Rule 14d-9 or Rule 14e-2(a) under the Exchange Act, or otherwise making disclosure to comply with applicable Law (it being agreed that a "stop, look and listen" communication by the Company Board to the Company's stockholders pursuant to Rule 14d-9(f) under the Exchange Act or a factually accurate public statement by the Company that describes the Company's receipt of a Competing Proposal and the operation of this Agreement with respect thereto shall not be deemed to be an Adverse Board Recommendation Change or give rise to a Parent termination right pursuant to Section 8.1(d)(ii)). For the avoidance of doubt, a factually accurate public statement by the Company or the Company Board (or a committee thereof) that (A) describes the Company's receipt of a Competing Proposal; (B) identifies the Person or group of Persons making such Competing Proposal; (C) provides the material terms of such Competing Proposal; or (D) describes the operation of this Agreement with respect thereto will not, in any case, be deemed to be (1) an adoption, approval or recommendation with respect to such Competing Proposal; or (2) an Adverse Board Recommendation Change.

(g) For purposes of this Agreement:

- (i) "Competing Proposal" shall mean any proposal or offer made by any Person (other than Parent, Acquisition Sub or any Affiliate thereof) or group (as defined in Section 13(d)(3) of the Exchange Act) of Persons (i) to purchase or otherwise acquire, directly or indirectly, in one transaction or a series of transactions, (A) beneficial ownership (as defined under Section 13(d) of the Exchange Act) of fifteen percent (15%) or more of any class of equity securities of the Company pursuant to a merger, consolidation or other business combination, sale of shares of capital stock, tender offer, exchange offer or similar transaction; or (B) any one or more assets or businesses of the Company and its Subsidiaries that constitute fifteen percent (15%) or more of the revenues or assets of the Company and its Subsidiaries, taken as a whole; (ii) with respect to the issuance, sale or other disposition, directly or indirectly, to any Person (other than Parent, Acquisition Sub or any Affiliate thereof) or group (as defined in Section 13(d)(3) of the Exchange Act) of Persons of securities (or options, rights, or warrants to purchase, or securities convertible into or exchangeable for, such securities) representing fifteen percent (15%) or more of the voting power of the Company; or (z) with respect to any merger, consolidation, business combination, recapitalization, reorganization or other transaction involving the Company or its Subsidiaries pursuant to which any Person (as defined in Section 13(d)(3) of the Exchange Act) or group of Persons would have beneficial ownership (as defined pursuant to Section 13(d)(3) of the Exchange Act) of securities representing fifteen percent (15%) or more of the total outstanding equity securities of the Company after giving effect to the consummation of such transaction.
- (iii) "**Superior Proposal**" shall mean a Competing Proposal (with all percentages in the definition of Competing Proposal increased to ninety percent (90%)) made by a Third Party on terms that the Company Board determines in good faith (after consultation with its legal counsel and financial advisors) and considering such factors as the Company Board considers to be appropriate, are more favorable to the Company's stockholders than the transactions contemplated by this Agreement (including any changes to the terms of this Agreement committed to by Parent to the Company in writing in response to such Competing Proposal under the provisions of Section 6.5(d).

Section 6.6 Directors' and Officers' Indemnification and Insurance.

- (a) Parent and Acquisition Sub agree that all rights to exculpation and indemnification for acts or omissions occurring at or prior to the Effective Time, whether asserted or claimed prior to, at or after the Effective Time (including any matters arising in connection with the transactions contemplated by this Agreement), now existing in favor of the current or former directors, officers and employees, if any (the foregoing persons, the "D&O Indemnified Parties"), as the case may be, of the Company or its Subsidiaries as provided in their respective organizational documents as in effect on the date of this Agreement or in any Contract shall survive the Merger and shall continue in full force and effect. The Surviving Corporation shall (and Parent shall cause the Surviving Corporation to) indemnify, defend and hold harmless, and advance expenses to D&O Indemnified Parties with respect to all acts or omissions by them in their capacities as such at any time prior to the Effective Time (including any matters arising in connection with this Agreement or the transactions contemplated by this Agreement), to the fullest extent that the Company or its Subsidiaries would be permitted by applicable Law and to the fullest extent required by the organizational documents of the Company or its Subsidiaries as in effect on the date of this Agreement. Parent shall cause the certificate of incorporation, bylaws or other organizational documents of the Surviving Corporation and its Subsidiaries to contain provisions with respect to exculpation, indemnification, advancement of expenses and limitation of director, officer and employee liability that are no less favorable to the D&O Indemnified Parties than those set forth in the Company's and its Subsidiaries' organizational documents as of the date of this Agreement, which provisions thereafter shall not, for a period of six (6) years from the Effective Time, be amended, repealed or otherwise modified in any manner that would adversely affect the rights thereunder of the D&O Inde
- (b) Without limiting the provisions of Section 6.6(a), to the fullest extent that the Company would be permitted by applicable Law to do so, Parent shall or shall cause the Surviving Corporation to: (i) indemnify and hold harmless each D&O Indemnified Party against and from any costs or expenses (including reasonable attorneys' fees), judgments, fines, losses, claims, damages, liabilities and amounts paid in settlement in connection with any claim, action, suit, proceeding or investigation, whether civil, criminal, administrative or investigative, to the extent such claim, action, suit, proceeding or investigation arises out of or pertains to: (A) any alleged action or omission in such D&O Indemnified Party's capacity as a director, officer or employee of the Company or any of its Subsidiaries prior to the Effective Time; or (B) this Agreement or the transactions contemplated by this Agreement and (ii) pay in advance of the final disposition of any such claim, action, suit, proceeding or investigation the expenses (including reasonable attorneys' fees) of any D&O Indemnified Party upon confirmation by the D&O Indemnified Party of his or her good faith belief that he or she has met the standard of conduct necessary for indemnification applicable to him or her and a customary written undertaking by him or her or on his or her behalf to repay the amount paid or reimbursed if it is ultimately determined that the standard of conduct for indemnification was not met. Any determination required to be made with respect to whether the conduct of any D&O Indemnified Party complies or complied with any applicable standard shall be made by independent legal counsel selected by the D&O Indemnified Party, which counsel shall be reasonably acceptable to the Surviving Corporation, and the fees of such counsel shall be paid by the Surviving Corporation. Notwithstanding anything to the contrary contained in this Section 6.6(b) or elsewhere in this Agreement, Parent shall not (and Parent shall cause the Surviving Corporation not to) settle or compromise or consent to the entry of any judgment or otherwise seek termination with respect to any claim, action, suit, proceeding or investigation, unless such settlement, compromise, consent or termination includes an unconditional release of all of the D&O Indemnified Parties covered by the claim, action, suit, proceeding or investigation from all liability arising out of such claim, action, suit, proceeding or investigation.

- (c) Unless the Company shall have purchased a "tail" policy prior to the Effective Time as provided below, for at least six (6) years after the Effective Time, (i) Parent shall cause the Surviving Corporation and its other Subsidiaries to maintain in full force and effect the coverage provided by the existing directors' and officers' liability insurance and fiduciary insurance in effect as of the date of this Agreement and maintained by the Company or any of its Subsidiaries, as applicable (the "Existing D&O Insurance Policies"), or provide substitute policies for the Company and its current and former directors and officers who are currently covered by such Existing D&O Insurance Policies, in either case, on terms and conditions no less advantageous to the D&O Indemnified Parties, or any other Person entitled to the benefit of this Section 6.6, as applicable, than the Existing D&O Insurance Policies, covering claims arising from facts, events, acts or omissions that occurred at or prior to the Effective Time, including the transactions contemplated by this Agreement (provided that Parent or the Surviving Corporation, as applicable, shall not be required to pay an annual premium for such insurance in excess of three hundred percent (300%) of the aggregate annual premiums currently paid by the Company or any of its Subsidiaries, as applicable, on an annualized basis, but in such case shall purchase as much of such coverage as possible for such amount) and (ii) Parent shall not, and shall not permit the Surviving Corporation or its other Subsidiaries to, take any action that would prejudice the rights of, or otherwise impede recovery by, the beneficiaries of any such insurance, whether in respect of claims arising before or after the Effective Time. In lieu of such insurance, prior to the Effective Time, the Company may purchase a six (6) year "tail" prepaid policy on such terms and conditions (provided that the premium for such insurance shall not exceed three hundred percent (300%) of the aggregate annual premi
- (d) In the event that Parent, the Surviving Corporation, any of the Company's Subsidiaries or any of their successors or assigns shall (i) consolidate with or merge into any other Person and shall not be the continuing or surviving company or entity of such consolidation or merger or (ii) transfer all or substantially all its properties and assets to any Person, then, and in each such case, Parent shall cause proper provision to be made so that the successor and assign of Parent, the Surviving Corporation or any such Subsidiary assumes the obligations set forth in this <u>Section 6.6</u>.
- (e) The D&O Indemnified Parties to whom this Section 6.6 applies shall be third-party beneficiaries of this Section 6.6. The provisions of this Section 6.6 are intended to be for the benefit of each D&O Indemnified Party and his or her successors, heirs or representatives. The Surviving Corporation shall pay all reasonable expenses, including reasonable attorneys' fees, that may be incurred by any D&O Indemnified Party in enforcing its indemnity and other rights under this Section 6.6. The rights of each D&O Indemnified Party hereunder shall be in addition to, and not in limitation of, any other applicable rights such D&O Indemnified Party may have under the respective organizational documents of the Company or any of its Subsidiaries or the Surviving Corporation, any other indemnification arrangement, the DGCL or otherwise. Notwithstanding any other provision of this Agreement, this Section 6.6 shall survive the consummation of the Merger indefinitely (or any earlier period actually specified in this Section 6.6) and shall be binding, jointly and severally, on all successors and assigns of Parent and the Surviving Corporation, and shall be enforceable by the D&O Indemnified Parties and their successors, heirs or representatives.

(f) Nothing in this Agreement is intended to, or will be construed to, release, waive or impair any rights to directors' and officers' insurance claims pursuant to any applicable insurance policy or indemnification agreement that is or has been in existence with respect to the Company or any of its Subsidiaries for any of their respective directors, officers or other employees, it being understood and agreed that the indemnification provided for in this Section 6.6 is not prior to or in substitution for any such claims pursuant to such policies or agreements. Following the Effective Time, the obligations of Parent and the Surviving Corporation under this Section 6.6 shall not be terminated or modified in any manner adverse to the rights of any D&O Indemnified Party without the consent of such affected D&O Indemnified Party.

Section 6.7 Notification of Certain Matters. From and after the date of this Agreement until the earlier of the Effective Time or the date, if any, on which this Agreement is terminated pursuant to Section 8.1, the Company shall give prompt notice to Parent, and Parent shall give prompt notice to the Company, of (a) any notice or other communication received by such party from any Governmental Authority in connection with this Agreement, the Merger or the other transactions contemplated by this Agreement, if the subject matter of such Person is or may be required in connection with the Merger or the other transactions contemplated by this Agreement, if the subject matter of such communication or the failure of such party to obtain such consent could be material to the Company, the Surviving Corporation or Parent, and (b) any actions, suits, claims, investigations or proceedings commenced or, to such party's Knowledge, threatened against, relating to or involving or otherwise affecting such party or any of its Subsidiaries which relate to this Agreement, the Merger or the other transactions contemplated by this Agreement. The parties agree and acknowledge the Company's, on the one hand, and Parent's, on the other hand, compliance or failure of compliance with this Section 6.7 shall not be taken into account for purposes of determining whether the condition referred to in Section 7.2(a) or Section 7.3(a), respectively, shall have been satisfied with respect to performance in all material respects with this Section 6.7.

Section 6.8 Public Announcements. Except as otherwise contemplated by Section 6.5, so long as this Agreement is in effect, the Company, Parent and Acquisition Sub shall consult with each other before issuing any press release or otherwise making any public statements with respect to this Agreement or the transactions contemplated by this Agreement, and none of the parties hereto or their Affiliates shall issue any such press release or make any public statement prior to obtaining the other parties' consent (which consent shall not be unreasonably withheld or delayed), except that no such consent shall be necessary to the extent disclosure may be required by Law, Order or applicable stock exchange rule or any listing agreement to which any party hereto is subject, in which case the party required to make such disclosure shall use its reasonable best efforts to allow, to the extent legally permitted, each other party reasonable time to comment on such disclosure in advance of its issuance, or is consistent with prior communications previously consented to by the other parties. In addition, the Company may, without Parent or Acquisition Sub's consent, communicate to its employees, customers, suppliers and consultants; provided that such communication is consistent with prior communications of the Company or any

communications plan previously agreed to by Parent and the Company, in which case such communications may be made consistent with such plan. Notwithstanding the foregoing, the restrictions set forth in this <u>Section 6.8</u> shall not apply in connection with any Adverse Board Recommendation Change or dispute between the parties regarding this Agreement or the transactions contemplated hereby. Notwithstanding the foregoing, the Equity Investor shall be permitted to issue Tweets about the Merger or the transactions contemplated hereby so long as such Tweets do not disparage the Company or any of its Representatives.

Section 6.9 Employee Benefits.

- (a) <u>Continuing Employee Benefits</u>. Employees of the Company or its Subsidiaries immediately prior to the Effective Time who remain employees of Parent, the Surviving Corporation or any of their Affiliates following the Effective Time are hereinafter referred to as the "Continuing Employees." For the period commencing at the Effective Time and ending on the one-year anniversary of the Effective Time (the "Continuation Period"), Parent shall, or shall cause the Surviving Corporation or any of their Affiliates to, provide for each Continuing Employee (i) at least the same base salary and wage rate, (ii) short- and long-term target incentive compensation opportunities that are no less favorable in the aggregate than those provided to each such Continuing Employee immediately prior to the Effective Time (provided that Parent shall not be obligated to provide such incentives in the form of equity or equity-based awards) and (iii) employee benefits (excluding equity and equity-based awards) which are substantially comparable in the aggregate (including with respect to the proportion of employee cost) to those provided to such Continuing Employee immediately prior to the Effective Time. Without limiting the generality of the foregoing, during the Continuation Period, Parent shall provide, or shall cause the Surviving Corporation or any of their Affiliates to provide severance payments and benefits to each Continuing Employee whose employment is terminated during such period that are no less favorable than those applicable to the Continuing Employee immediately prior to the Effective Time under the Company Benefit Plans.
- (b) Parent agrees that the Surviving Corporation shall cause the Surviving Corporation's employee benefit plans established following the Closing Date (if any) and any other employee benefit plans covering the Continuing Employees following the Effective Time (collectively, the "Post-Closing Plans"), to recognize the service of each Continuing Employee (to the extent such service was recognized by the Company) for purposes of eligibility, vesting and determination of the level of benefits (but not for benefit accrual purposes under a defined benefit pension plan) under the Post-Closing Plans, to the extent such recognition does not result in the duplication of any benefits.
- (c) For the calendar year including the Effective Time, the Continuing Employees shall not be required to satisfy any deductible, co-payment, out-of-pocket maximum or similar requirements under the Post-Closing Plans that provide medical, dental and other welfare benefits (collectively, the "Post-Closing Welfare Plans") to the extent amounts were previously credited for such purposes under comparable Company Benefit Plans that provide medical, dental and other welfare benefits.

- (d) As of the Effective Time, any waiting periods, pre-existing condition exclusions and requirements to show evidence of good health contained in such Post-Closing Welfare Plans shall be waived with respect to the Continuing Employees (except to the extent any such waiting period, pre-existing condition exclusion or requirement to show evidence of good health was already in effect with respect to such employees and has not been satisfied under the applicable Company Benefit Plan in which the participant then participates or is otherwise eligible to participate as of immediately prior to the Effective Time).
- (e) Nothing contained in this Section 6.9, expressed or implied, shall (i) be treated as the establishment, amendment or modification of any Company Benefit Plan, Post-Closing Plan or other employee benefit plan or constitute a limitation on rights to amend, modify, merge or terminate after the Effective Time any Company Benefit Plan, Post-Closing Plan or other employee benefit plan, (ii) give any Company Service Provider (including any beneficiary or dependent thereof) or other Person any third-party beneficiary or other rights or (iii) obligate Parent or any of its Affiliates to (A) maintain any particular Company Benefit Plan, Post-Closing Plan or (B) retain the employment or services of any Company Service Provider.

Section 6.10 Financing.

- (a) Each of the Equity Investor, Parent and Acquisition Sub shall take or cause to be taken, and shall cause their respective Affiliates and its and their respective Representatives to take, or cause to be taken, all actions and to do, or cause to be done, all things necessary, proper or advisable to arrange, obtain and consummate the Financing at or prior to the Closing on the terms and subject to the conditions set forth in the Financing Commitments (including any "flex" provisions), including executing and delivering all such documents and instruments as may be reasonably required thereunder and:
 - (i) complying with and maintaining in full force and effect the Financing and the Financing Commitments (and, once entered into, the Financing Agreements) in accordance with the terms and conditions thereof and negotiating and entering into definitive financing agreements with respect to the Debt Financing on the terms and conditions set forth in the Debt Commitment Letters (including any "flex" provisions) and containing no (I) conditions to the consummation of all or any portion of the Debt Financing other than the conditions set forth in Exhibit E to the Bank Debt Commitment Letter or Exhibit B to the Margin Loan Commitment Letter, as the case may be, in each case, as in effect on the date hereof, or (II) provisions that could reasonably be expected to prevent, impede, delay or adversely affect the availability of any of the Debt Financing or the consummation of the Merger and the other transactions contemplated by this Agreement (such definitive agreements, the "Financing Agreements") so that the Financing Agreements are in full force and effect no later than the Closing;
 - (ii) satisfying, or obtaining the waiver of, as promptly as practicable and on a timely basis (and in any event, no later than the Closing) all conditions to the Debt Financing contemplated by the Debt Commitment Letters and Financing Agreements that are within its or their control, including, without limitation:
 - (A) on or prior to the Closing Date, transferring Tesla Shares to the Margin Loan Borrower and causing the Margin Loan Borrower to credit to collateral accounts pledged to the applicable Debt Financing Sources in respect of the Margin Loan Financing and held through the facilities of DTC, in each case, sufficient Tesla Shares, which shall be free from all transfer restrictions and restrictive conditions (other than permitted restrictions contemplated under the Financing Documents in respect of the Margin Loan Financing), to cause the LTV Ratio (as defined in the Margin Loan Commitment Letter) not to exceed 20% as of the Closing Date;

- (B) ensuring the absence of (1) any default or event of default (or any equivalent term) under the Financing Agreements in respect of the Margin Loan Financing, or (2) any Potential Adjustment Event or Mandatory Prepayment Event (in each case, under and as defined in the Margin Loan Commitment Letter);
- (C) (x) maintaining the Margin Loan Borrower as a wholly owned subsidiary of Parent and Elon Musk, and (y) causing the organizational documents of the Margin Loan Borrower not to contain, and causing the Margin Loan Borrower not to enter into any Contract, that would (1) impede or prevent the Margin Loan Borrower or any of its Affiliates from enforcing or the Margin Loan Borrower's rights in respect of the Debt Financing Sources under the Margin Loan Commitment Letter or any Financing Agreement in respect thereof or (2) impede or prevent the Margin Loan Borrower or any of its Affiliates from applying the proceeds of the loans to pay any Funding Obligations; and
- (D) causing Elon Musk to (1) fully and unconditionally guarantee all obligations of the Margin Loan Borrower under the Margin Loan Financing to the extent required to consummate the Margin Loan Financing and (2) at all times through and including the Closing Date to own (beneficially and of record), directly or indirectly, all of the outstanding equity interests of, and Control, the Margin Loan Borrower;
 - (iii) accepting (and complying with) to the fullest extent all "flex" provisions contemplated by the Debt Commitment Letters;
- (iv) causing the Financing Sources to fund the Financing no later than the Closing (including by enforcing its rights under the Debt Commitment Letters and/or Financing Agreements, as applicable).
- (b) None of the Equity Investor, Parent, Acquisition Sub or the Margin Loan Borrower or any of their respective Affiliates shall agree to or permit any amendment, supplement, modification or replacement of, or grant any waiver of, any condition, remedy or other provision under any Financing Commitment or Financing Agreement, or permit any Financing Agreement to contain any provision, without the prior written consent of the Company, if such amendment, supplement, modification, replacement, waiver or provision would or would reasonably be expected to (i) reduce (or would reasonably be expected to have the effect of reducing) the aggregate amount of the Financing (or the cash proceeds available therefrom) from that contemplated by the Financing Commitments delivered as of the date hereof, (ii) impose new or additional conditions or contingencies to the Financing or otherwise expand, amend or modify any of the existing conditions to the receipt of the Financing, or otherwise add, expand, amend or modify any other provision of, or remedies under, the Financing Commitments as in effect on the date hereof, in a manner that would reasonably be expected to delay, impede or prevent the consummation

or funding of the Financing (or satisfaction of the conditions to obtaining any portion of the Financing) at the Closing or impair the ability or likelihood of the Closing or impair the ability of Parent and/or Acquisition Sub to timely consummate the Merger and the other transactions contemplated by this Agreement, (iii) make it less likely that any portion of the Financing would be funded (including by making the satisfaction of the conditions to obtaining any portion of the Financing less likely to occur) or otherwise prevent, impede or delay or impair the availability of any of the Financing or impair the ability or likelihood of the Closing or Parent and/or Acquisition Sub to timely consummate the transactions contemplated by this Agreement (including by requiring any additional filings, consents or approvals of any Governmental Authority) or (iv) adversely impact the ability of Parent, Acquisition Sub or the Margin Loan Borrower, or any of their respective Affiliates, to enforce their respective rights against the other parties to the Financing Commitments or the Financing Agreements; provided, however, subject to compliance with the other provisions of this Section 6.10, Parent, Acquisition Sub or their respective Affiliates may amend, modify, supplement or waive any provision of any Debt Commitment Letter (A) to add lenders, lead arrangers, bookrunners, syndication agents or similar entities that have not executed such Debt Commitment Letter as of the date hereof or (B) amend any Debt Commitment Letters to implement any "market flex" provisions applicable thereto. The Equity Investor, Parent, Acquisition Sub, the Margin Loan Borrower and their respective Affiliates shall not agree to the withdrawal, termination, repudiation or rescission of any Financing Commitment without the prior written consent of the Company, and shall not release or consent to the termination of the commitments or obligations of any Debt Financing Source under any Debt Commitment Letter, in each case, unless such Financing Commitment is contemporaneously replaced with a new Financing Commitment that complies with the first sentence of this Section 6.10(b). Upon any permitted amendment, supplement, modification or replacement of, or waiver of, any Financing Commitment in accordance with this Section 6.10(b), Parent shall promptly deliver to the Company a true, correct and complete copy of each Financing Agreement and each amendment, supplement, modification, replacement or waiver to any Financing Commitment or any Financing Agreement and references herein to "Financing Commitments", "Bank Debt Commitment Letter", "Margin Loan Commitment Letter", "Debt Commitment Letters", "Equity Commitment Letter" and "Financing Agreements" shall include and mean such documents as amended, supplemented, modified, replaced or waived in compliance with this Section 6.10(b), as applicable, and references to "Financing", "Bank Debt Financing", "Margin Loan Financing" and "Equity Financing" shall include and mean the financing contemplated by the Financing Commitments or Financing Agreements as amended, supplemented, modified, replaced or waived in compliance with this Section 6.10(b), as applicable.

(c) In the event that (x) all or any portion of the Debt Financing expires, terminates, becomes or could reasonably be expected to become unavailable on the terms and conditions (including any "flex" provisions) or from the sources contemplated in the applicable Debt Commitment Letters or (y) any of the Debt Commitment Letters or the Financing Agreements shall be withdrawn, terminated, repudiated or rescinded, in whole or in part, for any reason, (i) Parent shall promptly so notify the Company in writing and (ii) Parent and/or its Affiliates shall use their respective reasonable best efforts to arrange and obtain, as promptly as practicable following the occurrence of such event (and in any event no later than the Closing),

and to negotiate and enter into definitive agreements with respect to, alternative financing from the same or alternative sources with terms and conditions (including market flex provisions) not less favorable taken as a whole to Parent than the terms and conditions set forth in the applicable Debt Commitment Letter and which shall not include any conditions or contingencies to the Financing not otherwise included in the Debt Commitment Letters as of the date hereof or include any provision that would reasonably be expected to materially delay or prevent the consummation or funding of the Financing (or satisfaction of the conditions to obtaining any portion of the Financing) at the Closing or materially impair the ability or likelihood of the Closing or Parent and/or Acquisition Sub to timely consummate the Merger and the other transactions contemplated by this Agreement (the "Alternative Financing") in an amount sufficient to consummate the transactions contemplated by this Agreement (or replace any unavailable portion of the Debt Financing). In the event any Alternative Financing is obtained and any new debt commitment letters are entered into in accordance with this Section 6.10(c) (each such letter, an "Alternative Financing Debt Commitment Letter"), Parent shall promptly deliver a copy thereof to the Company (it being understood that any fee letters related thereto may be redacted in the same manner as the fee letters delivered on or prior to the date of this Agreement) and references herein to (A) "Financing Commitments" and "Debt Commitment Letters" shall be deemed to include any Alternative Financing Debt Commitment Letters are Financing" or "Debt Financing" shall include the debt financing contemplated by such Alternative Financing Debt Commitment Letter. Parent, Acquisition Sub and Elon Musk shall be subject to the same obligations with respect to any Alternative Financing as set forth in this Agreement with respect to the Debt Financing.

(d) The Equity Investor, Parent, Acquisition Sub and/or the Margin Loan Borrower shall (i) give the Company prompt written notice of any default, breach or threatened default or breach (or any event or circumstance that, with or without notice, lapse of time or both, would reasonably be expected to give rise to any default or breach) by any party to any of the Financing Commitments or the Financing Agreements of which Parent or any of its Affiliates or their respective Representatives becomes aware or any withdrawal, termination, repudiation or rescission or threatened withdrawal, termination, repudiation or rescission thereof, (ii) give the Company prompt notice of any dispute or disagreement between or among any parties to the Debt Commitment Letters, (iii) notify the Company promptly if for any reason Parent, Acquisition Sub or their respective Affiliates no longer believes in good faith that it will be able to obtain all or any portion of the Financing contemplated by the Financing Commitments, (iv) promptly provide and respond to any updates reasonably requested by the Company with respect to the status of Parent's efforts to arrange and finalize the Financing (or any Alternative Financing). In no event shall Parent or any of its Affiliates be required to provide access to or disclose information that Parent or any of its Affiliates.

- (e) Each of Parent and the Equity Investor acknowledges and agrees that it shall be fully responsible for the Equity Financing and each shall take (or cause to be taken) all actions, and do (or cause to be done) all things necessary, proper or advisable to obtain the Equity Financing, including taking all actions necessary to (i) comply with the terms of and maintain in effect the Equity Commitment Letter, (ii) satisfy on a timely basis all conditions and obligations in such Equity Commitment Letter and (iii) consummate and fund the Equity Financing at or prior to the Closing. Parent further agrees that it shall take (or cause to be taken) all actions, and do (or cause to be done) all things necessary, proper or advisable to fully enforce its rights (including through litigation) under the Equity Commitment Letter.
- (f) Parent acknowledges and agrees that neither the obtaining of the Financing or any alternative financing, nor the completion of any issuance of securities contemplated by the Financing or any alternative financing (including the Alternative Financing), is a condition to the Closing, and reaffirms its obligation to consummate the transactions contemplated by this Agreement irrespective and independently of the availability of the Financing or any alternative financing (including the Alternative Financing), or the completion of any such issuance, subject to the applicable conditions set forth in Article VII.
- (g) Each of the Equity Investor, Parent and the Acquisition Sub shall on or prior to the Closing Date cause the Margin Loan Borrower to apply the cash proceeds of the Margin Loan Financing to payment of the Funding Obligations under this Agreement.

Section 6.11 Financing Cooperation.

(a) The Company shall and shall cause its Subsidiaries to, and shall use its commercially reasonable best efforts to cause each of its Representatives to, at Parent's sole expense, provide any reasonable cooperation reasonably requested by Parent in writing in connection with (i) the arrangement of the Bank Debt Financing and any other debt financing expressly contemplated by the Bank Debt Commitment Letter, including senior unsecured notes and senior secured notes, and (ii) subject to the requirements of Section 6.11(b), the payoff, redemption, defeasance, discharge or other satisfaction of the Existing Credit Agreement and the Existing Senior Notes on or subsequent to the Closing Date, in each case as is necessary, customary and reasonably requested in writing by Parent; provided that any notice of, or documentation with respect to, any such payoff, redemption or other satisfaction of existing indebtedness of the Company pursuant to this Section 6.11(a)(ii) shall provide that the obligation to repay, redeem or satisfy such indebtedness shall, as applicable, be subject to and is conditioned upon the occurrence of the Closing; provided, further, that such requested cooperation with respect to clauses (i) and (ii) of this Section 6.11(a) does not unreasonably or materially interfere with the ongoing operations of the Company and its Subsidiaries. Notwithstanding anything in this Agreement to the contrary, (A) neither the Company nor any of its Subsidiaries shall be required to pay any commitment or other similar fee, incur or reimburse any costs or expenses, enter into any binding agreement or commitment or incur any other liability, indemnity or obligation in connection with the Bank Debt Financing or the cooperation required by this Section 6.11(a) that would be effective prior to the Closing, (B) no director, manager, officer or employee or other Representative or equityholder of the Company or any of its Subsidiaries shall be required to execute, deliver, enter into, approve or perform any agreement, commitment, document, instrument or certificate or take any other action pursuant to this Section 6.11(a) to the extent any such action could reasonably be expected to result in personal liability to such Representative or equityholder, (C) neither the Company nor any of its Subsidiaries (nor any of their respective boards of directors (or similar governing bodies) shall be required to adopt any resolutions, execute any consents or otherwise take any corporate or similar action or deliver any certificate, document, instrument or agreement in connection to the Bank Debt Financing or the incurrence of

indebtedness thereby or any cooperation required by this Section 6.11(a) and (D) no cooperation under this Section 6.11(a) shall (I) require the Company or any of its Subsidiaries to provide, or cause to be provided, any information the disclosure of which is prohibited or restricted under applicable Law or any binding agreement with a third party or is legally privileged or consists of attorney work product or could reasonably be expected to result in the loss of any applicable legal privilege, (II) require the Company or any of its Subsidiaries to take any action that would reasonably be expected to conflict with or violate its organizational documents or any Laws or would reasonably be expected to result in (with or without notice, lapse of time, or both) a violation or breach of, or default under, or give rise to any right of termination, cancellation or acceleration of any right or obligation of such Person or to a loss of any benefit or privilege to which such Person is entitled under, any agreement to which the Company or any of its Subsidiaries is a party or result in the creation or imposition of any Lien on any asset of the Company or any of its Subsidiaries, except any Lien that becomes effective only upon the Closing, (III) cause (or require the taking of any action that would cause) any representation or warranty in this Agreement to be breached or cause any condition to Closing to fail to be satisfied or otherwise cause any breach of this Agreement or require the Company to waive or amend any terms of this Agreement, (IV) require the Company to disclose any material, non-public information other than to recipients of such information that agree to confidentiality arrangements as contemplated under Section 6.11(b) and Section 6.4 or any adjustments or assumptions used in connection therewith, (V) require the Company to prepare or provide any financial statements or other financial information (other than those financial statements (and any other financial information) from time to time filed by the Company with the SEC (and nothing in this Section 6.11(a) shall create or be implied to create any obligation to make any such filings or other readily available financial information), (VI) waive or amend any terms of this Agreement, (VII) require the Company or its Subsidiaries to take any action that, in the good faith determination of the Company or such Subsidiary would create a risk of damage or destruction to any property or assets of the Company or such Subsidiary, (VIII) require the Company or any of its Subsidiaries or any of their Representatives to deliver any legal opinions or reliance letters, (IX) file or furnish any reports or information with the SEC or change any fiscal period or accelerate the Company's preparation of its SEC reports or financial statements, or (X) prepare or provide any (1) information regarding officers or directors prior to consummation of the Merger, executive compensation and related party disclosure or any Compensation Discussion and Analysis or information required by Item 302 (to the extent not so provided in SEC filings) or 402 of Regulation S-K under the Securities Act and any other information that would be required by Part III of Form 10-K (except to the extent previously filed with the SEC), (2) any description of all or any component of the Bank Debt Financing or other information customarily provided by the Financing Sources or their counsel, (3) risk factors relating to all or any component of the Bank Debt Financing, (4) information regarding affiliate transactions that may exist following consummation of the Merger, or (5) other information that is not available to the Company without undue effort or expense. The parties hereto agree that any information with respect to the prospects, projections and plans for the business and operations of the Company and its Subsidiaries in connection with the Financing will be the sole responsibility of Parent, and none of the Company, any of its Subsidiaries or any of their respective Representatives shall be required to provide any information or make any presentations with respect to capital structure, the incurrence of the Financing, other pro forma information relating thereto or the manner in which Parent intends to operate, or cause to be operated, the business of the Company or its Subsidiaries after the Closing. Nothing contained in this Section 6.11 or

otherwise shall require the Company or any of its Subsidiaries, prior to the Closing, to be a borrower, an issuer, a guarantor or other obligor with respect to the Debt Financing. For the avoidance of doubt, the parties hereto acknowledge and agree that the provisions contained in this Section 6.11, represent the sole obligation of the Company, its Subsidiaries and their respective Representatives with respect to cooperation in connection with the arrangement of any financing (including the Financing) to be obtained by the Equity Investor, Parent, Acquisition Sub, the Margin Loan Borrower or any of their respective Affiliates with respect to the transactions contemplated by this Agreement and no other provision of this Agreement (including the Exhibits and Schedules hereto) shall be deemed to expand or modify such obligations. In no event shall the receipt or availability of any funds or financing (including, for the avoidance of doubt, the Financing) by the Equity Investor, Parent, Acquisition Sub, the Margin Loan Borrower or any of their respective Affiliates or any other financing or other transactions be a condition to any of the Equity Investor's, Parent's, Acquisition Sub's or the Margin Loan Borrower's obligations under this Agreement. Notwithstanding anything to the contrary contained in this Agreement, the Company will be deemed to be in compliance with this Section 6.11(a), and neither Parent nor any of its Affiliates shall allege that the Company is or has not been in compliance with this Section 6.11(a), unless Parent's failure to obtain the Bank Debt Financing was due solely to a deliberate action or omission taken or omitted to be taken by the Company in material breach of its obligations under this Section 6.11(a).

(b) On or prior to any applicable date of the Company's payoff, redemption or other satisfaction of the Existing Credit Agreement and/or Existing Senior Notes contemplated by Section 6.11(a), or if applicable, date of satisfaction and discharge, Parent shall deposit or cause to be deposited funds with the applicable paying agent sufficient to effect such payoff, redemption and/or satisfaction, as applicable, as required pursuant to the terms of the agreements governing such indebtedness (and in the event of any delay of the anticipated Effective Time, Parent shall deposit additional funds with the applicable paying agents sufficient to satisfy such payoff, redemption or other satisfaction of the Existing Credit Agreement and/or Existing Senior Notes, as required pursuant to the terms of the agreements governing such indebtedness); provided that the release of any such funds shall be subject to the occurrence of the Effective Time. Parent shall, promptly upon request by the Company, reimburse the Company for all reasonable and documented out-of-pocket costs and expenses (including outside attorneys' fees and disbursements) incurred by the Company, its Affiliates and their respective Representatives in connection with the cooperation contemplated by Section 6.11(a). Parent acknowledges and agrees that the Company, its Affiliates and their respective Representatives shall not have any responsibility for, or incur any liability to any Person under, any financing that Parent may raise in connection with the transactions contemplated by this Agreement or any cooperation provided pursuant to Section 6.11(a), and shall indemnify and hold harmless the Company, its Affiliates and their respective Representatives, from and against any and all losses suffered or incurred by any of them in connection with the Debt Financing, any cooperation provided pursuant to Section 6.11(a) or any alternative financing and any information utilized in connection therewith, except to the extent any such cost or expense, judgment, fine, loss, claim, or damage results directly from the bad faith, willful misconduct or gross negligence of the Company or its Representatives or controlled Affiliates as determined by a court of competent jurisdiction in a final and non-appealable judgment. All non-public or other confidential information provided by or behalf of the Company to Parent or its Affiliates or any of their respective Representatives pursuant to this Section 6.11 shall be kept confidential in accordance with the terms of Section 6.4; provided that

Parent and its Affiliates may share any confidential information with respect to the Company and its Subsidiaries with any Debt Financing Sources, and that Parent, such Debt Financing Sources and their respective Affiliates may share such information with potential Debt Financing Sources in connection with any marketing efforts with respect to the Debt Financing; <u>provided</u>, <u>however</u>, that the recipients of such confidential information contemplated to be provided by the preceding proviso shall agree to be bound by confidentiality obligations no less restrictive than those set forth in Section 6.4.

Section 6.12 Acquisition Sub. Parent and the Equity Investor shall take all actions necessary to (a) cause Acquisition Sub to perform its obligations under this Agreement and to consummate the Merger on the terms and conditions set forth in this Agreement and (b) ensure that, prior to the Effective Time, Acquisition Sub shall not conduct any business, or incur or guarantee any indebtedness or make any investments, other than as specifically contemplated by this Agreement. Parent hereby (a) guarantees the due, prompt and faithful payment performance and discharge by Acquisition Sub of, and compliance by Acquisition Sub with, all of the covenants and agreements of Acquisition Sub under this Agreement and (b) agrees to take all actions necessary, proper or advisable to ensure such payment, performance and discharge by Acquisition Sub under this Agreement. Parent agrees that any breach by Acquisition Sub of a representation, warranty, covenant or agreement in this Agreement shall also be a breach of such representation, warranty, covenant or agreement by Parent.

Section 6.13 Rule 16b-3 Matters. Prior to the Effective Time, the Company may take such further actions, if any, as may be reasonably necessary or appropriate to ensure that the dispositions of equity securities of the Company (including any derivative securities) pursuant to the transactions contemplated by this Agreement by any officer or director of the Company who is subject to Section 16 of the Exchange Act are exempt under Rule 16b-3 promulgated under the Exchange Act.

<u>Section 6.14 Delisting of Company Common Stock</u>. Parent shall, with the reasonable cooperation of the Company, take, or cause to be taken, all actions reasonably necessary to cause the Company's securities to be delisted from the New York Stock Exchange and deregistered under the Exchange Act as soon as reasonably practicable following the Effective Time.

ARTICLE VII

CONDITIONS TO THE MERGER

<u>Section 7.1 Conditions to the Obligations of Each Party.</u> The respective obligations of each party hereto to consummate the Merger, are subject to the satisfaction or waiver by the Company and Parent at or prior to the Effective Time of the following conditions:

- (a) the Company Stockholder Approval shall have been obtained;
- (b) any waiting period (or any extension thereof) applicable to the consummation of the Merger under the HSR Act shall have expired or early termination thereof shall have been granted; and each Consent or approval that is required under any Antitrust Laws or Foreign Investment Laws of the jurisdictions set forth on Schedule A with respect to the transactions contemplated by this Agreement, including the Merger shall have been made, obtained or received (or, as applicable, the waiting periods with respect thereto shall have expired or been terminated); and

- (c) no Governmental Authority of the jurisdictions set forth on <u>Schedule A</u> shall have enacted, issued, promulgated, enforced or entered any Law or Order which is then in effect and has the effect of restraining, enjoining, rendering illegal or otherwise prohibiting consummation of the Merger, or causing the Merger to be rescinded following the completion thereof.
- <u>Section 7.2 Conditions to the Obligations of Parent and Acquisition Sub</u>. The obligations of Parent and Acquisition Sub to consummate the Merger, are, in addition to the conditions set forth in <u>Section 7.1</u>, further subject to the satisfaction or waiver by Parent at or prior to the Effective Time of the following conditions:
- (a) the Company shall have performed or complied, in all material respects, with its obligations required under this Agreement to be performed or complied with by the Company on or prior to the Closing Date;
- (b) (i) each of the representations and warranties of the Company contained in this Agreement (except for the representations and warranties contained in Section 4.2(a) and Section 4.2(b)), without giving effect to any materiality or "Company Material Adverse Effect" qualifications therein, shall be true and correct as of the Closing Date (except to the extent such representations and warranties are expressly made as of a specific date, in which case such representations and warranties shall be so true and correct as of such specific date only), except for such failures to be true and correct as would not have a Company Material Adverse Effect; and (ii) each of the representations and warranties contained in Section 4.2(a) and Section 4.2(b) shall be shall be true and correct in all material respects as of the Closing Date (except to the extent such representations and warranties are expressly made as of a specific date, in which case such representations and warranties shall be so true and correct in all material respects as of such specific date only); and
 - (c) no Company Material Adverse Effect shall have occurred and be continuing.
- <u>Section 7.3 Conditions to the Obligation of the Company to Effect the Merger</u>. The obligation of the Company to consummate the Merger, is, in addition to the conditions set forth in <u>Section 7.1</u>, further subject to the satisfaction or waiver by the Company at or prior to the Effective Time of the following conditions:
- (a) Parent and Acquisition Sub shall have performed or complied, in all material respects, with its obligations required under this Agreement to be performed or complied with by Parent or Acquisition Sub, as the case may be, on or prior to the Closing Date; and
- (b) each of the representations and warranties of Parent and Acquisition Sub contained in this Agreement, without giving effect to any materiality or "Parent Material Adverse Effect" qualifications therein, shall be true and correct as of the Closing Date, except for such failures to be true and correct as would not have a Parent Material Adverse Effect (except to the extent such representations and warranties are expressly made as of a specific date, in which case such representations and warranties shall be so true and correct as of such specific date only).

ARTICLE VIII

TERMINATION, AMENDMENT AND WAIVER

Section 8.1 Termination. Notwithstanding anything contained in this Agreement to the contrary, this Agreement may be terminated at any time prior to the Effective Time, whether before or after the Company Stockholder Approval is obtained (except as otherwise expressly noted), as follows:

- (a) by mutual written agreement of each of Parent and the Company;
- (b) by either Parent or the Company:
- (i) if the Merger shall not have been consummated on or before 5:00 p.m. (Pacific Time) on October 24, 2022 (as such date may be extended pursuant to the terms hereof, the "**Termination Date**"); <u>provided, however</u>, that (x) the right to terminate this Agreement pursuant to this <u>Section 8.1(b)(i)</u> shall not be available to any party if the failure of such party to perform or comply with any of its obligations under this Agreement has been the principal cause of or resulted in the failure of the Closing to have occurred on or before such date and (y) the Termination Date shall be extended for an additional six (6) months if, as at the Termination Date, the condition set forth in <u>Section 7.1(b)</u> or <u>Section 7.1(c)</u> shall not have been satisfied;
- (ii) if, prior to the Effective Time, any Governmental Authority of competent jurisdiction shall have enacted, issued, promulgated, enforced or entered any Law or Order or taken any other action permanently restraining, enjoining, rendering illegal or otherwise prohibiting the consummation of the transactions contemplated by this Agreement, and such Law or Order or other action shall have become final and non-appealable; provided, however, that the party seeking to terminate this Agreement pursuant to this Section 8.1(b)(ii) shall have used the efforts required by this Agreement to remove such Law, Order or other action; provided, further, that the right to terminate this Agreement under this Section 8.1(b)(ii) shall not be available to a party if the issuance of such Law or Order or taking of such action was primarily due to the failure of such party, and, in the case of Parent, the failure of Acquisition Sub or the Equity Investor, to perform any of their obligations under this Agreement; or
- (iii) if the Company Stockholder Approval shall not have been obtained at the Company Stockholders' Meeting duly convened therefor or at any adjournment or postponement thereof at which this Agreement and the transactions contemplated by this Agreement have been voted upon; or

(c) by the Company:

- (i) if Parent, Acquisition Sub or the Equity Investor shall have breached or failed to perform any of their respective representations, warranties, covenants or other agreements set forth in this Agreement, which breach or failure to perform (A) would give rise to the failure of any condition set forth in Section 7.3(a) or Section 7.3(b) and (B) is not capable of being cured, or is not cured, by Parent, Acquisition Sub or the Equity Investor on or before the earlier of (x) the Termination Date and (y) the date that is thirty (30) calendar days following the Company's delivery of written notice to Parent, Acquisition Sub or the Equity Investor, as applicable, of such breach; provided, however, that the Company shall not have the right to terminate this Agreement pursuant to this Section 8.1(c)(i) if the Company is then in material breach of any of its representations, warranties, covenants or agreements hereunder;
- (ii) if the Company Board shall have authorized the Company to enter into a definitive agreement with respect to a Superior Proposal; <u>provided</u> that, substantially concurrently with such termination, the Company enters into such definitive agreement and pays (or causes to be paid) at the direction of Parent the Termination Fee as specified in <u>Section 8.3(a)</u>; or
- (iii) if (A) the conditions set forth in Section 7.1 and Section 7.2 (other than those conditions that by their nature are to be satisfied at the Closing, which conditions are capable of being satisfied if the Closing were to occur at such time) have been satisfied or waived in accordance with this Agreement and Parent and Acquisition Sub shall have been notified in writing of the same, (B) Parent and Acquisition Sub fail to consummate the Merger within three (3) Business Days following the date on which the Closing should have occurred pursuant to Section 2.2 and (C) during such three (3)-Business Days period described in clause (B), the Company stood ready, willing and able to consummate the Merger and the other transactions contemplated hereby;

(d) by Parent:

- (i) if the Company shall have breached or failed to perform any of its representations, warranties, covenants or other agreements set forth in this Agreement, which breach or failure to perform (A) would give rise to the failure of any condition set forth in Section 7.2(a) or Section 7.2(b), and (B) is not capable of being cured, or is not cured, by the Company on or before the earlier of (x) the Termination Date and (y) the date that is thirty (30) calendar days following Parent's delivery of written notice to the Company of such breach; provided, however, that Parent shall not have the right to terminate this Agreement pursuant to this Section 8.1(d)(i) if Parent, Acquisition Sub or the Equity Investor is then in material breach of any of its representations, warranties, covenants or agreements hereunder; or
- (ii) prior to the receipt of the Company Stockholder Approval, if the Company Board shall have made an Adverse Board Recommendation Change.

Section 8.2 Effect of Termination. In the event that this Agreement is terminated and the Merger abandoned pursuant to Section 8.1, written notice thereof shall be given to the other party or parties, specifying the provisions of this Agreement pursuant to which such termination is made, and this Agreement shall forthwith become null and void and of no effect without liability on the part of any party hereto (or any of its Representatives), and all rights and obligations of any

party hereto shall cease; provided, however, that, except as otherwise provided in Section 8.3 or in any other provision of this Agreement, no such termination shall relieve any party hereto of any liability or damages (which the parties acknowledge and agree shall not be limited to reimbursement of Expenses or out-of-pocket costs, and, in the case of liabilities or damages payable by Parent and Acquisition Sub, would include the benefits of the transactions contemplated by this Agreement lost by the Company's stockholders) (taking into consideration all relevant matters, including lost stockholder premium, other combination opportunities and the time value of money), which shall be deemed in such event to be damages of such party, resulting from any knowing and intentional breach of this Agreement prior to such termination, in which case, except as otherwise provided in Section 8.3, the aggrieved party shall be entitled to all rights and remedies available at law or in equity; and provided, further, that the expense reimbursement and indemnification obligations contained in Section 6.11 and Section 6.12, and the provisions of this Section 8.2, Section 8.3, Section 8.6 and Article IX shall survive any termination of this Agreement pursuant to Section 8.1 in accordance with their respective terms.

Section 8.3 Termination Fee.

- (a) In the event that:
- (i) (A) a Third Party shall have made a Competing Proposal after the date of this Agreement, (B) this Agreement is subsequently terminated by (x) the Company or Parent pursuant to Section 8.1(b)(iii) or (y) Parent pursuant to Section 8.1(d)(i), and at the time of such Company Stockholders' Meeting in the case of clause (x) or at the time of such breach in the case of clause (y), a Competing Proposal has been publicly announced and has not been withdrawn, and (C) within twelve (12) months of such termination of this Agreement, the Company consummates a transaction involving a Competing Proposal or enters into a definitive agreement providing for the consummation of a Competing Proposal and such Competing Proposal is subsequently consummated; provided, however, that for purposes of this Section 8.3(a)(i), the references to "fifteen percent (15%)" in the definition of Competing Proposal shall be deemed to be references to "fifty percent (50%)";
 - (ii) this Agreement is terminated by the Company pursuant to Section 8.1(c)(ii); or
 - (iii) this Agreement is terminated by Parent pursuant to Section 8.1(d)(ii), then

the Company shall (A) in the case of clause (i) above, no later than two (2) Business Days following the date of the consummation of such transaction involving a Competing Proposal, (B) in the case of clause (ii) above, prior to or substantially concurrently with such termination, and (C) in the case of this clause (iii), no later than two (2) Business Days after the date of such termination, pay, or cause to be paid, by wire transfer of immediately available funds, at the direction of Parent, the Termination Fee; it being understood that in no event shall the Company be required to pay the Termination Fee on more than one occasion.

- (b) In the event that:
 - (i) the Agreement is terminated by the Company pursuant to Section 8.1(c)(i);
 - (ii) the Agreement is terminated by the Company pursuant to Section 8.1(c)(iii), then

Parent shall no later than two (2) Business Days after the date of such termination, pay, or cause to be paid, by wire transfer of immediately available funds, at the direction of the Company, the Parent Termination Fee; it being understood that in no event shall Parent be required to pay the Parent Termination Fee on more than one occasion.

(c) Notwithstanding anything to the contrary set forth in this Agreement, but subject to Section 9.9, (i) except in the case of a knowing and intentional breach of this Agreement by the Company (in which case Parent shall be entitled to seek monetary damages, recovery or award from the Company in an amount not to exceed the amount of the Termination Fee in the aggregate), Parent's right to receive payment from the Company of the Termination Fee pursuant to Section 8.3(a), shall constitute the sole and exclusive monetary remedy of Parent and Acquisition Sub against the Company and its Subsidiaries and any of their respective former, current or future general or limited partners, stockholders, members, managers, directors, officers, employees, agents, Affiliates or assignees of any of the foregoing (collectively, the "Company Related Parties") for all losses and damages suffered as a result of the failure of the transactions contemplated by this Agreement to be consummated or for a breach or failure to perform hereunder, and upon payment of such amount, none of the Company Related Parties shall have any further liability or obligation relating to or arising out of this Agreement or the transactions contemplated by this Agreement (except that the Company shall also be obligated with respect to Section 8.6); provided, that, in no event shall the Company be subject to an aggregate amount for monetary damages (including any payment of the Termination Fee) in excess of an aggregate amount equal to the Termination Fee (except in all cases that the Company shall also be obligated with respect to its applicable obligations under Section 8.3(d) and Section 8.6), and (ii) except in the case of a knowing and intentional breach of this Agreement by the Equity Investor, Parent or Acquisition Sub (in which case the Company shall be entitled to seek monetary damages, recovery or award from the Equity Investor, Parent or Acquisition Sub in an amount not to exceed the amount of the Parent Termination Fee, in the aggregate), the Company's right to receive payment from Parent of the Parent Termination Fee pursuant to Section 8.3(b), shall constitute the sole and exclusive monetary remedy of the Company against the Parent, Acquisition Sub and the Equity Investor and any of their respective former, current or future general or limited partners, stockholders, members, managers, directors, officers, employees, agents, Affiliates or assignees of any of the foregoing (collectively, the "Parent Related Parties") for all losses and damages suffered as a result of the failure of the transactions contemplated by this Agreement, the Equity Commitment Letter or the Parent Guarantee to be consummated or for a breach or failure to perform the applicable provisions hereunder, and upon payment of such amount, none of the Parent Related Parties shall have any further liability or obligation relating to or arising out of this Agreement, the Equity Commitment Letter or the Parent Guarantee or the transactions contemplated by thereby (except in all cases that Parent shall also be obligated with respect to its expense reimbursement and indemnification obligations contained in Section 6.11 and its

applicable obligations under Section 8.3(d)(iii) and Section 8.6(b)); provided, that, in no event shall Equity Investor, Parent or Acquisition Sub collectively be subject to an aggregate amount for monetary damages (including any payment of the Parent Termination Fee) in excess of an aggregate amount equal to the Parent Termination Fee (except in all cases that Parent shall also be obligated with respect to its expense reimbursement and indemnification obligations contained in Section 6.11 and its applicable obligations under Section 8.3(d)(iii) and Section 8.6(b)). For the avoidance of doubt, any liability or obligation of the Parent, Acquisition Sub or Equity Investor hereunder shall be subject to the terms of the Equity Commitment Letter and the Parent Guarantee.

(d) Each of the parties hereto acknowledges that (i) the agreement contained in this Section 8.3 is an integral part of the transactions contemplated by this Agreement, (ii) the Termination Fee is not a penalty, but is liquidated damages, in a reasonable amount that will compensate Parent and its Affiliates in the circumstances in which such fee is payable for the efforts and resources expended and opportunities foregone while negotiating this Agreement and in reliance on this Agreement and on the expectation of the consummation of the transactions contemplated by this Agreement, which amount would otherwise be impossible to calculate with precision, and (iii) without the agreement contained in this Section 8.3, the parties would not enter into this Agreement, accordingly, if the Company or Parent, as the case may be, fails to timely pay any amount due pursuant to this Section 8.3 and, in order to obtain such payment, either Parent or the Company, as the case may be, commences a suit that results in a judgment against the other party for the payment of any amount set forth in this Section 8.3, such paying party shall pay the other party its costs and Expenses in connection with such suit, together with interest on such amount at the annual rate of five percent (5%) plus the prime rate as published in The Wall Street Journal in effect on the date such payment was required to be made through the date such payment was actually received, or such lesser rate as is the maximum permitted by applicable law.

Section 8.4 Amendment. This Agreement may be amended by mutual agreement of the parties hereto by action taken by or on behalf of their respective boards of directors at any time before or after receipt of the Company Stockholder Approval; provided, however, that (i) after the Company Stockholder Approval has been obtained, there shall not be any amendment that by Law or in accordance with the rules of any stock exchange requires further approval by the Company's stockholders without such further approval of such stockholders nor any amendment or change not permitted under applicable Law and (ii) any amendment of this Section 8.4, Section 8.3(b), Section 8.3(c), Section 9.4, Section 9.7, Section 9.8, Section 9.10, Section 9.12 or Section 9.13, in each case, to the extent such amendment would adversely affect the rights of a Debt Financing Source party to the Debt Commitment Letter under such Section, shall also be approved by such Debt Financing Source. This Agreement may not be amended except by an instrument in writing signed by each of the parties hereto.

Section 8.5 Extension; Waiver. At any time prior to the Effective Time, subject to applicable Law, the Company may (a) extend the time for the performance of any obligation or other act of Parent or Acquisition Sub, (b) waive any inaccuracy in the representations and warranties of Parent or Acquisition Sub contained herein or in any document delivered pursuant hereto and (c) waive compliance with any agreement or condition by Parent or Acquisition Sub contained herein. Any such extension or waiver shall only be valid if set forth in an instrument in writing signed by the party or parties to be bound thereby. Notwithstanding the foregoing, no failure or delay by the Company, Parent or Acquisition Sub in exercising any right hereunder shall operate as a waiver thereof nor shall any single or partial exercise thereof preclude any other or further exercise of any other right hereunder. Any agreement on the part of a party hereto to any such extension or waiver shall be valid only if set forth in an instrument in writing signed on behalf of such party.

Section 8.6 Expenses; Transfer Taxes.

- (a) Except as expressly set forth herein, all Expenses incurred in connection with this Agreement and the transactions contemplated by this Agreement shall be paid by the party incurring such Expenses.
- (b) Parent shall timely and duly pay all (i) transfer, stamp and documentary Taxes or fees, (ii) sales, use, gains, real property transfer and other similar Taxes or fees arising out of or in connection with entering into and carrying out this Agreement and (iii) filing fees incurred in connection with any applications and filings under any Antitrust Laws or Foreign Investment Laws.

ARTICLE IX

GENERAL PROVISIONS

<u>Section 9.1 Non-Survival of Representations, Warranties and Agreements</u>. The representations, warranties, covenants and agreements in this Agreement and any certificate delivered pursuant hereto by any Person shall terminate at the Effective Time or, except as provided in <u>Section 8.2</u>, upon the termination of this Agreement pursuant to <u>Section 8.1</u>, as the case may be, except that this <u>Section 9.1</u> shall not limit any covenant or agreement of the parties which by its terms contemplates performance after the Effective Time or after termination of this Agreement, including those contained in <u>Section 6.6</u> and <u>Section 6.9</u>.

Section 9.2 Notices. All notices, consents and other communications hereunder shall be in writing and shall be given (and shall be deemed to have been duly given upon receipt) by hand delivery, by prepaid overnight courier (providing written proof of delivery) or by confirmed electronic mail, addressed as follows:

if to Parent or Acquisition Sub:

Attn: Elon Musk

with a copy (which shall not constitute notice) to:

Skadden, Arps, Slate, Meagher & Flom LLP 525 University Ave, Suite 1400 Palo Alto, California 94301 Attn: Mike Ringler Sonia K. Nijjar

Sonia K. Nijjar Dohyun Kim Email: ***

if to the Company:

Twitter, Inc. 1355 Market Street, Suite 900 San Francisco, California 94103

Attn: General Counsel

Email: ***

with a copy (which shall not constitute notice) to:

Wilson Sonsini Goodrich & Rosati Professional Corporation 650 Page Mill Road Palo Alto, CA 94304-1050 Attn: Katharine A. Martin

> Martin W. Korman Douglas K. Schnell

> > Remi P. Korenblit

Email: ***

*** ***

and

Simpson Thacher & Bartlett LLP 425 Lexington Avenue New York, New York 10017 Attn: Alan Klein

Anthony F. Vernace Katherine M. Krause

Email: *** ***

or to such other address or electronic mail address for a party as shall be specified in a notice given in accordance with this Section 9.2; provided that any notice received by electronic mail or otherwise at the addressee's location on any Business Day after 5:00 p.m. (addressee's local time) or on any day that is not a Business Day shall be deemed to have been received at 9:00 a.m. (addressee's local time) on the next Business Day; provided, further, that notice of any change to the address or any of the other details specified in or pursuant to this Section 9.2 shall not be deemed to have been received until, and shall be deemed to have been received upon, the later of the date specified in such notice or the date that is five (5) Business Days after such notice would otherwise be deemed to have been received pursuant to this Section 9.2.

Section 9.3 Interpretation; Certain Definitions.

- (a) The parties have participated jointly in the negotiation and drafting of this Agreement. In the event an ambiguity or question of intent or interpretation arises, this Agreement shall be construed as if drafted jointly by the parties, and no presumption or burden of proof shall arise favoring or disfavoring any party by virtue of the authorship of any provisions of this Agreement.
- (b) Disclosure of any fact, circumstance or information in any Section of the Company Disclosure Letter or Parent Disclosure Letter shall be deemed to be disclosure of such fact, circumstance or information with respect to any other Section of the Company Disclosure Letter or Parent Disclosure Letter, respectively, only if it is reasonably apparent that such disclosure relates to any such other Section. The inclusion of any item in the Company Disclosure Letter or Parent Disclosure Letter shall not be deemed to be an admission or evidence of materiality of such item, nor shall it establish any standard of materiality for any purpose whatsoever.
- (c) The words "hereof," "herein," "hereby," "hereunder" and "herewith" and words of similar import shall refer to this Agreement as a whole and not to any particular provision of this Agreement. References to articles, sections, paragraphs, exhibits, annexes and schedules are to the articles, sections and paragraphs of, and exhibits, annexes and schedules to, this Agreement, unless otherwise specified, and the table of contents and headings in this Agreement are for reference purposes only and shall not affect in any way the meaning or interpretation of this Agreement. Whenever the words "include," "includes" or "including" are used in this Agreement, they shall be deemed to be followed by the phrase "without limitation." Words describing the singular number shall be deemed to include the plural and vice versa, words denoting any gender shall be deemed to include all genders, words denoting natural persons shall be deemed to include business entities and vice versa, and references to a Person are also to its permitted successors and assigns. The phrases "the date of this Agreement" and "the date of this Agreement" and terms or phrases of similar import shall be deemed to refer to April 25, 2022, unless the context requires otherwise. When used in reference to the Company or its Subsidiaries, the term "material" shall be measured against the Company and its Subsidiaries, taken as a whole. References to any statute shall be deemed to refer to such statute as amended from time to time and to any rules or regulations promulgated thereunder (provided that for purposes of any representations and warranties contained in this Agreement that are made as of a specific date or dates, references to any statute shall be deemed to refer to such statute, as amended, and to any rules or regulations promulgated thereunder, in each case, as of such date). Terms defined in the text of this Agreement have such meaning throughout this Agreement, unless otherwise indicated in this Agreement, and all terms defined in this Agreement shall have the meanings when used in any certificate or other document made or delivered pursuant hereto unless otherwise defined therein. Any Law defined or referred to herein or in any agreement or instrument that is referred to herein means such Law as from time to time amended, modified or supplemented, including (in the case of statutes) by succession of comparable successor Laws (provided that for purposes of any representations and warranties contained in this Agreement that are made as of a specific date or dates, references to any statute shall be deemed to refer to such statute, as amended, and to any rules or regulations promulgated thereunder, in each case, as of such date). All references to "dollars" or "\$" refer to currency of the U.S. Nothing contained in Article IV or Article V may be construed as a covenant under the terms of this Agreement, other than the acknowledgments and agreements set forth in Section 4.25 and Section 5.10 to the extent necessary to give full effect to the acknowledgments and agreements set forth therein.

Section 9.4 Severability. If any term, provision, covenant or restriction of this Agreement is held by a court of competent jurisdiction or other authority to be invalid, void, illegal, unenforceable or against its regulatory policy, the remainder of the terms, provisions, covenants and restrictions of this Agreement shall remain in full force and effect and shall in no way be affected, impaired or invalidated. Upon such determination that any term or other provision is invalid, void, illegal, unenforceable or against its regulatory policy, the parties hereto shall negotiate in good faith to modify this Agreement so as to effect the original intent of the parties hereto as closely as possible in a mutually acceptable manner in order that the transactions contemplated by this Agreement, including the Merger, be consummated as originally contemplated to the fullest extent possible.

Section 9.5 Assignment. Neither this Agreement nor any of the rights, interests or obligations hereunder shall be assigned by any of the parties hereto (whether by operation of Law or otherwise) without the prior written consent of the other parties. Subject to the preceding sentence, this Agreement will be binding upon, inure to the benefit of and be enforceable by the parties and their respective permitted successors and assigns. Any attempted assignment in violation of this Section 9.5 shall be null and void.

Section 9.6 Entire Agreement. This Agreement (including the exhibits, annexes and appendices hereto) constitutes, together with the Company Disclosure Letter and the Parent Disclosure Letter, the entire agreement, and supersedes all other prior agreements and understandings, both written and oral, among the parties, or any of them, with respect to the subject matter hereof.

Section 9.7 No Third-Party Beneficiaries. Subject to Section 9.13, this Agreement is not intended to and shall not confer upon any Person other than the parties hereto any rights or remedies hereunder; provided, however, that it is specifically intended that (A) the D&O Indemnified Parties (with respect to Section 6.6 from and after the Effective Time), (B) the Company Related Parties (with respect to Section 8.3) are third-party beneficiaries and (C) the Parent Related Parties (with respect to Section 8.3) are third-party beneficiaries.

Section 9.8 Governing Law. This Agreement and all actions, proceedings or counterclaims (whether based on contract, tort or otherwise) arising out of or relating to this Agreement, or the actions of Parent, Acquisition Sub or the Company in the negotiation, administration, performance and enforcement thereof, shall be governed by, and construed in accordance with, the laws of the State of Delaware, without giving effect to any choice or conflict of laws provision or rule (whether of the State of Delaware or any other jurisdiction) that would cause the application of the Laws of any jurisdiction other than the State of Delaware.

Section 9.9 Specific Performance.

- (a) The parties hereto agree that irreparable damage for which monetary damages, even if available, would not be an adequate remedy, would occur in the event that the parties hereto do not perform the provisions of this Agreement (including failing to take such actions as are required of it hereunder to consummate this Agreement) in accordance with its specified terms or otherwise breach such provisions. Accordingly, the parties hereto acknowledge and agree that the parties hereto shall be entitled to an injunction, specific performance and other equitable relief to prevent breaches of this Agreement and to enforce specifically the terms and provisions hereof, in addition to any other remedy to which they are entitled at law or in equity. Each of the parties hereto agrees that it will not oppose the granting of an injunction, specific performance and other equitable relief on the basis that any other party has an adequate remedy at law or that any award of specific performance is not an appropriate remedy for any reason at law or in equity. Any party seeking an injunction or injunctions or any other equitable relief to prevent breaches of this Agreement and to enforce specifically the terms and provisions of this Agreement shall not be required to show proof of actual damages or provide any bond or other security in connection with any such order or injunction.
- (b) Notwithstanding anything herein to the contrary, including the availability of the Parent Termination Fee or other monetary damages, remedy or award, it is hereby acknowledged and agreed that the Company shall be entitled to specific performance or other equitable remedy to enforce Parent and Acquisition Sub's obligations to cause the Equity Investor to fund the Equity Financing, or to enforce the Equity Investor's obligation to fund the Equity Financing directly, and to consummate the Closing if and for so long as, (i) all of the conditions set forth in Section 7.1 and Section 7.2 (other than those conditions that are to be satisfied at the Closing; provided, that such conditions are capable of being satisfied if the Closing were to occur at such time) have been satisfied or waived and Parent has failed to consummate the Closing on the date required pursuant to the terms of Section 2.2, (ii) the Debt Financing (or, as applicable, the Alternative Financing) has been funded or will be funded at the Closing if the Equity Financing is funded at the Closing, and (iii) the Company has confirmed that, if specific performance or other equity remedy is granted and the Equity Financing and Debt Financing are funded, then the Closing will occur. For the avoidance of doubt, (A) while the Company may concurrently seek (x) specific performance or other equitable relief, subject to the terms of this Section 9.9, and (y) payment of the Parent Termination Fee or other monetary damages, remedy or award if, as and when required pursuant to this Agreement), under no circumstances shall the Company be permitted or entitled to receive both a grant of specific performance to cause the Equity Financing to be funded, on the one hand, and payment of the Parent Termination Fee or other monetary damages, remedy or award, on the other hand; provided, however, that in no event shall the Company be permitted or entitled to receive aggregate monetary damages in excess of the Parent Termination Fee (except in all cases that Parent shall a
- (c) To the extent any party hereto brings an action, suit or proceeding to specifically enforce the performance of the terms and provisions of this Agreement (other than an action to enforce specifically any provision that expressly survives the termination of this Agreement), the Termination Date shall automatically be extended to (i) the twentieth (20th) Business Day following the resolution of such action, suit or proceeding or (ii) such other time period established by the court presiding over such action, suit or proceeding.

Section 9.10 Consent to Jurisdiction.

- (a) Each of the parties hereto hereby (i) expressly and irrevocably submits to the exclusive personal jurisdiction of the Delaware Court of Chancery, any other court of the State of Delaware or any federal court sitting in the State of Delaware in the event any dispute arises out of this Agreement or the transactions contemplated by this Agreement, (ii) agrees that it will not attempt to deny or defeat such personal jurisdiction by motion or other request for leave from any such court, (iii) agrees that it will not bring any action relating to this Agreement or the transactions contemplated by this Agreement in any court other than the Delaware Court of Chancery, any other court of the State of Delaware or any federal court sitting in the State of Delaware, (iv) waives, to the fullest extent it may legally and effectively do so, any objection which it may now or hereafter have to the laying of venue of any suit, action or proceeding arising out of or relating to this Agreement and (v) agrees that each of the other parties shall have the right to bring any action or proceeding for enforcement of a judgment entered by the state courts of the Delaware Court of Chancery, any other court of the State of Delaware or any federal court sitting in the State of Delaware. Each of the Equity Investor, Parent, Acquisition Sub and the Company agrees that a final judgment in any action or proceeding shall be conclusive and may be enforced in other jurisdictions by suit on the judgment or in any other manner provided by Law.
- (b) Each party hereto irrevocably consents to the service of process outside the territorial jurisdiction of the courts referred to in Section 9.10(a) in any such action or proceeding by mailing copies thereof by registered or certified U.S. mail, postage prepaid, return receipt requested, to its address as specified in or pursuant to Section 9.2. However, the foregoing shall not limit the right of a party to effect service of process on the other party by any other legally available method.
- Section 9.11 Counterparts. This Agreement may be executed in multiple counterparts, all of which shall together be considered one and the same agreement. Delivery of an executed signature page to this Agreement by electronic transmission shall be as effective as delivery of a manually signed counterpart of this Agreement.
- Section 9.12 WAIVER OF JURY TRIAL. EACH OF THE EQUITY INVESTOR, PARENT, ACQUISITION SUB AND THE COMPANY HEREBY IRREVOCABLY WAIVES ALL RIGHT TO TRIAL BY JURY IN ANY ACTION, PROCEEDING OR COUNTERCLAIM (WHETHER BASED ON CONTRACT, TORT OR OTHERWISE) ARISING OUT OF OR RELATING TO THIS AGREEMENT OR THE ACTIONS OF PARENT, ACQUISITION SUB OR THE COMPANY IN THE NEGOTIATION, ADMINISTRATION, PERFORMANCE AND ENFORCEMENT THEREOF (INCLUDING THE DEBT FINANCING).
- <u>Section 9.13 Debt Financing Source Related Party.</u> Notwithstanding anything in this Agreement to the contrary, but in all cases subject to and without in any way limiting the rights and claims of Parent or any of its Affiliates under and pursuant to any debt commitment letter or other applicable definitive document relating to the Debt Financing, the Company hereby:

- (a) agrees that any claim, action, suit, investigation or other proceeding, whether in law or in equity, whether in contract or in tort or otherwise, involving the Debt Financing Sources, arising out of or relating to, this Agreement and/or the Debt Financing or any of the agreements entered into in connection therewith or any of the transactions contemplated hereby or thereby or the performance of any services thereunder shall be subject to the exclusive jurisdiction of the Supreme Court of the State of New York, County of New York, or, if under applicable law exclusive jurisdiction is vested in the Federal courts, the United States District Court for the Southern District of New York sitting in New York County (and appellate courts thereof) and each party hereto irrevocably submits itself and its property with respect to any such claim, action, suit, investigation or other proceeding to the exclusive jurisdiction of such court;
- (b) agrees that any such claim, action, suit, investigation or other proceeding shall be governed by the laws of the State of New York (without giving effect to any conflicts of law principles that would result in the application of the laws of another state), except as otherwise provided in any debt commitment letter or other applicable definitive document relating to the Debt Financing;
- (c) agrees not to bring or support or permit any of its respective Affiliates to bring or support any claim, action, suit, investigation or other proceeding of any kind or description, whether in law or in equity, whether in contract or in tort or otherwise, against any Debt Financing Source in any way arising out of or relating to, this Agreement or the Debt Financing or any of the transactions contemplated hereby or the performance of any services thereunder in any forum other than the Supreme Court of the State of New York, County of New York, or, if under applicable law exclusive jurisdiction is vested in the Federal courts, the United States District Court for the Southern District of New York sitting in New York County (and appellate courts thereof);
- (d) irrevocably waives, to the fullest extent that it may effectively do so, the defense of an inconvenient forum to the maintenance of such claim, action, suit, investigation or other proceeding in any such court;
- (e) KNOWINGLY, INTENTIONALLY AND VOLUNTARILY WAIVES TO THE FULLEST EXTENT PERMITTED BY APPLICABLE LAW TRIAL BY JURY IN ANY CLAIM, ACTION, SUIT, INVESTIGATION OR OTHER PROCEEDING BROUGHT AGAINST ANY DEBT FINANCING SOURCE RELATED PARTY IN ANY WAY ARISING OUT OF OR RELATING TO, THIS AGREEMENT OR THE DEBT FINANCING OR ANY OF THE TRANSACTIONS CONTEMPLATED HEREBY OR THEREBY OR THE PERFORMANCE OF ANY SERVICES THEREUNDER;
- (f) agrees that no Debt Financing Source Related Party will have any liability to the Company or any its Affiliates or Representatives relating to or arising out of this Agreement or the Debt Financing or any of the transactions contemplated hereby or thereby or the performance of any services thereunder, whether in law or in equity, whether in contract or in tort or otherwise; and

(g) agrees that the Debt Financing Sources are express third party beneficiaries of, and may enforce, any of the provisions of this Section 9.13 and that such provisions and the definitions of "Debt Financing Sources" and "Debt Financing Source Related Party" shall not be amended or waived in any way adverse to the rights of any Debt Financing Source without the prior written consent of such Debt Financing Source.

[Remainder of page intentionally left blank.]

IN WITNESS WHEREOF, each of Parent, Acquisition Sub, the Company and, solely with respect to the Specified Provisions, the undersigned individual, have caused this Agreement to be executed as of the date first written above in their individual capacity or by their respective officers thereunto duly authorized, as applicable.

X HOLDINGS I, INC.

By: /s/ Elon R. Musk

Name: Elon R. Musk

Title: President, Secretary and Treasurer

X HOLDINGS II, INC.

By: /s/ Elon R. Musk

Name: Elon R. Musk

Title: President, Secretary and Treasurer

[Signature Page to Agreement and Plan of Merger]

TWITTER, INC.

By: /s/ Bret Taylor

Name: Bret Taylor

Title: Chair of the Board of Directors

[Signature Page to Agreement and Plan of Merger]

SOLELY WITH RESPECT TO THE SPECIFIED PROVISIONS:

ELON R. MUSK

/s/ Elon R. Musk

[Signature Page to Agreement and Plan of Merger]

SCHEDULE A Specified Jurisdictions

With respect to Section 7.1(b):

Any Consent or approval that is required under any Antitrust Laws or Foreign Investment Laws of the following jurisdictions, including as a result of any interventions by a Governmental Authority or voluntary filings under any Antitrust Laws or Foreign Investment Laws that Parent determines to make (for the avoidance of doubt, an approval shall be deemed to be required once the Parent determines it will make a voluntary filing in that jurisdiction, but only if an approval is typically granted for a filing of such a type in such a jurisdiction, whether through a decision or deemed by expiry of any applicable waiting periods):

- 1. The federal government of the United States
- 2. The State of Delaware
- 3. Japan
- 4. The United Kingdom
- 5. The European Commission (but not any member states)

With respect to <u>Section 7.1(c)</u>:

- 1. The federal government of the United States
- 2. The State of Delaware
- 3. Japan
- 4. The United Kingdom
- 5. The European Commission (but not any member states)

Exhibit 2

IN THE COURT OF CHANCERY OF THE STATE OF DELAWARE

BRETT HAWKES,

Plaintiff,

v. : C.A. No.

: 2020-0360-PAF

LARRY BETTINO, ANN HAILEY, TIM
HOCKEY, BRIAN LEVITT, KAREN E.
MAIDMENT, BHARAT MASRANI, IRENE
MILLER, MARK L. MITCHELL, JOSEPH
MOGLIA, WILBUR J. PREZZANO, TODD M.
RICKETTS, ALLAN R. TESSLER, THE
TORONTO-DOMINION BANK, and THE
CHARLES SCHWAB CORPORATION,

:

Defendants,

Chambers
Leonard L. Williams Justice Center
500 North King Street
Wilmington, Delaware
Friday, May 15, 2020
3:15 p.m.

BEFORE HON. PAUL A. FIORAVANTI, JR., Vice Chancellor

- - -

TELEPHONIC ORAL ARGUMENT RE PLAINTIFFS' MOTION FOR EXPEDITED PROCEEDINGS AND SETTING A PROMPT INJUNCTION HEARING THE COURT'S RULING

-----CHANCERY COURT REPORTERS

Leonard L. Williams Justice Center 500 North King Street Wilmington, Delaware 19801

(302) 255-0521

```
1
    APPEARANCES: (via telephone)
 2
            PETER B. ANDREWS, ESQ.
            CRAIG J. SPRINGER, ESQ.
 3
           DAVID M. SBORZ, ESQ.
           Andrews & Springer, LLC
 4
                  -and-
            GREGORY V. VARALLO, ESQ.
 5
           Bernstein, Litowitz, Berger & Grossmann LLP
                  -and-
 6
           MARK LEBOVITCH, ESQ.
            of the New York Bar
 7
           Bernstein, Litowitz, Berger & Grossmann LLP
                  -and-
 8
            JEREMY S. FRIEDMAN, ESQ.
           DAVID F.E. TEJTEL, ESQ.
 9
            of the New York Bar
           Friedman Oster & Tejtel PLLC
10
                  -and-
           D. SEAMUS KASKELA, ESQ.
11
            of the Pennsylvania Bar
           Kaskela Law LLC
12
              for Plaintiff
1.3
           KEVIN R. SHANNON, ESQ.
           BERTON W. ASHMAN, ESQ.
14
           Potter, Anderson & Corroon LLP
                  -and-
15
            STEVEN WINTER, ESQ.
           CYNTHIA FERNANDEZ LUMERMANN, ESQ.
16
            of the New York Bar
           Wachtell, Lipton, Rosen & Katz LLP
17
              for TD Ameritrade Director Defendants
18
            JOHN D. HENDERSHOT, ESQ.
           MATTHEW D. PERRI, ESQ.
19
           ANDREW L. MILAM, ESQ.
           Richards, Layton & Finger, P.A.
20
                  -and-
           PETER A. KAZANOFF, ESQ.
21
           DAVID ELBAUM, ESQ.
            of the New York Bar
22
            Simpson, Thacher & Bartlett LLP
              for Defendant The Toronto-Dominion Bank
23
    Continued...
24
```

1	APPEARANCES CONTINUED:
2	WILLIAM M. LAFFERTY, ESQ. KEVIN M. COEN, ESQ.
3	Morris, Nichols, Arsht & Tunnell LLP -and-
4	ANDREW DITCHFIELD, ESQ. of the New York Bar
5	Davis Polk & Wardwell LLP for Defendant The Charles Schwab Corporation
6	Tot belefiduite the charles behwas corporation
7	
8	
9	
10	
11	
12	
13	
14	
15	
16	
17	
18	
19	
20	
21	
22	
23	
24	

THE COURT: Good afternoon. 1 2 vice Chancellor Fioravanti. 3 MR. VARALLO: Good afternoon. 4 VARIOUS COUNSEL: Good afternoon, Your 5 Honor. 6 THE COURT: May we have introductions 7 for the record? It sounds like we have quite a number of people on the line. Why don't we start with counsel for the plaintiff and then we will have 9 10 counsel for the defendants. 11 MR. SPRINGER: Good afternoon, 12 Your Honor. Craig Springer of Andrews & Springer on 13 behalf of plaintiff. On the line from my firm is 14 myself, Peter Andrews, and David Sborz. I'll let my 15 colleagues make the rest of the introductions. 16 MR. VARALLO: Good afternoon, Your 17 Honor. Greg Varallo from Bernstein Litowitz. On the 18 line with me is my partner, Mark Lebovitch, who Your 19 Honor has admitted pro hac and with the permission of 20 the Court will make the argument today. 21 MR. FRIEDMAN: Good morning, 22 Your Honor. Jeremy Friedman and David Tejtel from 23 Friedman Oster & Tejtel on the line as well.

MR. KASKELA: Good afternoon,

24

- 1 Your Honor. Seamus Kaskela for plaintiff.
- MR. SHANNON: Good afternoon,
- 3 Your Honor. It's Kevin Shannon. I assume we've gone
- 4 through the plaintiff's counsel. I represent the
- 5 director defendants. On the phone with me as well is
- 6 | my colleague from Potter Anderson, Bert Ashman, as
- 7 | well as my co-counsel from Wachtell Lipton, Steven
- 8 Winter and Cynthia Fernandez Lumermann. With the
- 9 Court's permission, Mr. Winter will present on behalf
- 10 of the director defendants.
- THE COURT: Good afternoon.
- 12 MR. HENDERSHOT: Good afternoon, Your
- 13 Honor. This is John Hendershot of Richards, Layton &
- 14 | Finger. We represent the Toronto-Dominion Bank
- 15 defendants. With me on the line are my colleagues
- 16 | from Richards, Layton, Matthew Perri and Andrew Milam.
- 17 | Also on the line from Simpson Thacher & Bartlett in
- 18 New York are Peter Kazanoff and David Elbaum.
- 19 Mr. Kazanoff has been admitted pro hac vice, and with
- 20 | the Court's permission, he will addressing the Court,
- 21 to the extent we need to.
- MR. LAFFERTY: Your Honor, Bill
- 23 | Lafferty from Morris Nichols. I represent The Charles
- 24 | Schwab Corporation, and with me on the line are Kevin

Coen from my office and Andrew Ditchfield from Davis
Polk & Wardwell, New York. And to the extent we have
anything to add, Mr. Ditchfield will speak on our
behalf.

THE COURT: Thank you.

Mr. Lebovitch, it's your motion.

MR. LEBOVITCH: First of all, Your

Honor, I want to thank you for making time. And I'm sure the Court has heard this before, but for those of us practicing across the country, the Chancery Court's willingness to make itself available when needed is really set a great example for courts across the country, so we really respectfully thank you.

Today's argument addresses a statute that I recognize Your Honor has particular expertise on. That said, I think the elements of this particular Section 203 issue are fairly straightforward, and so I hope to be concise.

I'll start with the basic facts that I think establish a more than colorable claim of a Section 203 violation that would warrant expedition and a hearing before the vote. And then the Court may be able to stop its analysis at that point, but I do believe that the policy behind Section 203 bolsters

our argument, and so I'd like to spend a few minutes
on why, at least based on my understanding of the
purposes behind Section 203, expediting this claim
makes particular sense.

Defendants also make a laches argument, and we've dealt with that in the brief. I'm not sure that I'll argue that unless the Court has questions.

And then if the Court is inclined to set a hearing, I'm prepared to discuss timing and discovery process issues.

Before I get started, I want to point out that in its papers, the defendants cited the motion to dismiss standard. And obviously, as Your Honor knows, this motion rises and falls on the colorable claim standard. And also, I don't think we need to discuss irreparable harm because I think they've effectively conceded it. And essentially, if Section 203 is at play, irreparable harm is effectively assumed.

So let's talk about why Section 203 is implicated. And I want to start by saying that even if it is, obviously, this doesn't mean that there can be no deal. There's heightened stockholder approval

that would be needed for the deal, and the applicable voting standard would need to be disclosed to stockholders. So the real issue is, Is there a colorable 203 claim? Just a few salient points I

1.3

case.

think establish that.

The legal question under the statute on this fact pattern is whether there is an agreement, arrangement, or understanding for an AAU, I'll call it, pertaining to the disposition, including voting of TD Bank's shares.

I think that nobody would really dispute that Section 203 would be triggered if you just hypothesize a buyer, a potential buyer, went directly to a 45 percent stockholder of a company and reaches an understanding, whether or not it's put in writing, in which the buyer says, I will give you a side agreement worth billions of dollars if you support my takeover proposal. And having gotten that understanding, the buyer then goes to the board with all that leverage that comes with a 45 percent stockholder in tow and sets the merger terms. I think that's a pretty clear 203 issue.

We know that Ameritrade, with its 43 percent

And so let's look at the facts of this

shareholder, has not waived Section 203 in its 1 2 charter. We know that TD Bank, the 43 percent 3 shareholder, has a contract with the company, the 4 Insured Deposit Agreement or IDA, which is hugely 5 material for both parties. And we describe that at 6 paragraphs 42 to 46 of our complaint. And in fact, 7 Ameritrade acknowledged in its filing that the IDA --8 and this is in the proxy at 118 -- "represents a 9 commercial agreement and revenue opportunity available 10 solely to TD Bank and its affiliates as compared to 11 other TD Ameritrade stockholders in the context of this transaction." So it's been identified as 12 13 eventually a benefit not being shared with the rest of 14 Ameritrade's shareholders.

We also know -- and this is in paragraph 54 of our complaint -- that whether or not Ameritrade would be sold to a third party, the Ameritrade board was reviewing the IDA closely, and that its huge revenue stream for TD was in fact in jeopardy.

15

16

17

18

19

20

21

22

23

24

Now, before agreeing to the merger with the board and outside of the board's view, Schwab engages directly with TD Bank about a revised IDA, which revised IDA will only happen if the Schwab

merger happens.

2.2

We allege and we believe have supported with specific facts that by October 31st, Schwab and TD reached an agreement, arrangement, or understanding, an AAU, for a very lucrative ten-year deal, a revised IDA, again, which only happens if the merger happens. Importantly, as we allege at paragraphs 86 to 87, the material terms of this agreement were unchanged and were ultimately implemented in the final merger documentation several weeks later.

Now, after reaching what we believe is an AAU on the IDA, Schwab works out the merger terms with the board. The board did not effect a Section 203 waiver until weeks later, and they are not putting the deal to a supermajority of the noninterested shareholders. So we believe that establishes the prima facie case and that expedition on that basis is warranted.

The defendants, as far as in their brief, they really have two major arguments to the contrary. They say there was no voting agreement signed and that all the agreements were signed later. So putting aside that they're raising factual disputes

not decidable today regarding what was, in fact, in
place on October 31st, we believe that the argument
misconstrues the meaning of AAU under our law. We
think that the AAU can be informal and it's construed

5 broadly.

Your Honor litigated the Siegman

versus Columbia Pictures Entertainment case, and at

page 631 of that opinion, the Court observed -- and

I'm quoting -- "Given the intent of the statutes to

prevent abusive takeover tactics and the broad

language used in 8 Del. C. 203(c)(8)(iii), it is clear

that the section was intended to encompass

circumstances where a potential acquiror attempts to

acquire an interest in more than 15 percent of the

voting stock of a corporation without formally

acquiring ownership or voting rights, otherwise, the

purpose of the Act could be easily subverted."

And so you don't have to have anything signed or in writing. The focus on the voting agreement -- and this is also misplaced -- TD Bank and Schwab knew going into their October 31st negotiation that the new IDA and the voting agreement were a package deal. The two were inextricably intertwined.

I think that the logical if not

inescapable inference is that Schwab and TD negotiated the amended IDA knowing that every compromise for TD is what TD wanted in order to support the merger. So I think that's, in fact, the core purpose of the IDA, because as we point out in the complaint, Schwab has its own bank. And, you know, it had the ability to buy Ameritrade without doing a third-party arrangement with TD if it didn't want to.

So we also note that it's hard to believe that there was a question about the voting agreement considering that the absence of any post-October 31st discussion about the voting agreement beyond simply drafting and signing it, we think the absence of negotiations after October 31st proves our point that they were inextricably intertwined.

Defendants try to say that the terms of the amended IDA were in flux and that could change the analysis. We allege I think at paragraphs 86 to 88 that the material terms were set October 31st, and basically, from that point on, TD knew what was in it, in for TD to support Schwab's deal here. And that "it" is something beyond just the payment for its shares. So we thought that's a critical point. And, in fact, no material change to the IDA post-

1 October 31st is identified.

1.3

So we think, Your Honor, that those facts more than cover the simple language of 203. I always try to tie any claim that I'm pursuing to something more important, something that fits into the policy of our law. And we think that while we've already met the standard, it is useful to consider 203 and consider why this particular fact pattern really highlights what I believe the Legislature was trying to protect against.

And I'll quote from Vice Chancellor Glasscock in the USG transcript that we provided Your Honor at page 9. He quotes the report of the drafter of Section 203, saying, "The statute creates a balance between offeror on one hand and shareholder body on the other" He goes on, "The stockholders are given bargaining strength through their board of directors who will negotiate for them in a takeover situation. The only way that stockholders can act effectively as a group to negotiate with an offeror is through their board of directors elected by them. They cannot take effective action independently or even as a group."

make different decisions. Delaware has made a decision to adopt 203 in order to make the board the interlocutory in a takeover situation. And I believe that expediting here exemplifies actually a problem that we want bidders to face when they have the choice whether to engage directly with a 15-percent-plus holder of a Delaware company.

other facts. We know that Schwab tried to negotiate their equity with the Ameritrade board last spring. We know that the committee was leading the negotiations at that time and actually forbid Schwab from having discussions, much less reaching understandings with TD. That's paragraph 58 of our complaint.

So here, you have last spring the committee recognized that allowing Schwab to go too far down the path with Ameritrade's 43 percent stockholder could give Schwab undue leverage -- it could give TD undue leverage to extract nonratable benefits and Schwab undue leverage when it comes around to negotiating with the board, so the board tried to stop that from happening. And in fact, in March, the board rebuffed Schwab and ended the

negotiations. So this was not a friendly deal being put together since March.

Then in October, Schwab goes nuclear, and they do that in the sense of announcing that they are going to go to zero broker commissions. And that action, as we allege at paragraphs 58 to 70, effectively blows up the whole brokerage industry. So every player in the field took a hit to their stock values, drastic hits. In particular, Ameritrade — and we cite at paragraph 70 the CNBC article that says that Schwab turned the industry upside—down so that it could pick up a wounded duck. So that is the background from which it approaches Ameritrade.

Now, they don't just put the squeeze on the whole industry in order to squeeze the Ameritrade board. They then go around the board, consciously taking on the risk that it actually could run afoul of Section 203. So, A, even though we don't know what discussions took place between Schwab and TD between March and October, we do observe at paragraph 80 that when Schwab presented its October merger offer in the midst of a crisis that it created for Ameritrade, it proposed very specific IDA terms and says that they're going to want an amended IDA and

1 voting agreement.

1.3

1 4

2.2

Instead of engaging with the board up front, they negotiate what we've alleged in some detail is an incredibly valuable side deal with TD Bank before it completes the actual merger negotiations with the board. Okay?

We want to observe that in prior 203 precedent, a colorable Section 203 claim was found even when the contact between a would-be buyer and a large stockholder is regarding the terms of the merger and the terms that would be shared with all stockholders. So you can have 203 apply even where the large shareholder is not extracted from it themselves.

Here, we are dealing with a consideration from the buyer to the large holder that's not shared with anyone else, and so, therefore, you know that the large holder has a unique reason to favor this bidder over any others, again, distinguishing the prior cases, like those we've cited, like USG and even KCG, which we discuss in our papers. But we think because of that, there's a stronger factual and policy reason to infer an AAU and expedite here than even in those prior cases that the

parties have cited.

1.3

2.2

Schwab to engage with TD Bank about the IDA before negotiating the merger terms with the board. It had a choice, and it chose to not only talk to TD first but to talk about the IDA. And it took the risk that if it went too far, that it was going to have the 203 problem. And that's exactly what we see now.

So, Your Honor, that's actually what I have on the merits of our expedition motion. Like I said, if you want, I can discuss laches. I'm happy to. I don't know if you have questions about the laches issue.

THE COURT: Thank you, Mr. Lebovitch.

Let me ask you a few questions on the merits.

In paragraph 87 of your complaint, the plaintiff says that the November 3, 2019, Schwab proposal "was conditioned on TD Bank entering into an IDA Agreement on terms consistent with those," and you use the term "agreed to" -- "on October 31, 2019."

And for that proposition, the complaint cites to page 108 of the proxy statement. But the proxy statement doesn't use the term "agreed to."

And then I look at the November 3rd

- 1 | Schwab offer letter, and it, as far as I can tell,
- 2 | doesn't say anything about any kind of agreement
- 3 having been reached concerning an amended IDA on
- 4 October 31st or at any other time.
- 5 So my question is, are you relying on
- 6 some other document that indicates Schwab and TD Bank
- 7 | reached an agreement on the terms of an amended IDA on
- 8 October 31st?
- 9 MR. LEBOVITCH: No
- I just pulled up paragraph 87, Your
- 11 | Honor. I think what we've alleged elsewhere in here
- 12 | is that on October 31st, we have the material terms
- 13 | that are the final IDA. And so I don't think we were
- 14 trying to quote the letter from Schwab. I think what
- 15 | we were saying is the terms discussed in the
- 16 November 3rd letter and the terms in the final IDA are
- 17 | effectively those agreed to on October 31st.
- 18 THE COURT: So let me make sure I
- 19 understand. Are you contending that the material
- 20 | terms of the October 31st proposal and the final
- 21 | amended IDA agreement did not change and, therefore,
- 22 | it's a reasonable inference that an agreement on the
- 23 | IDA terms was reached on October 31st?
- MR. LEBOVITCH: Yes. Yes. Exactly,

```
Your Honor. And actually, I would note -- and I don't
 1
 2
    remember if we had this in the complaint, but I
 3
    believe we do -- the proxy says about October 31st
 4
    that "The representatives" -- and now I am quoting --
 5
    "The representatives of TD Bank indicated to the
 6
    Schwab representatives on a preliminary basis their
 7
    willingness to move forward on the terms for the
 8
    Insured Deposit Accounts agreement."
 9
                    And so we do believe that there was
10
    again, separate out, not just agreements where, of
11
    course, defendants are arguing it has to be written
12
    and all that. It's an arrangement or an
13
    understanding. And so if the proxy says that TD Bank
14
    says we have a willingness to move forward on the
15
    terms for the IDA, I think we've clearly got an
16
    understanding and, frankly, an arrangement as well if
17
    not an agreement as to the IDA.
18
                    THE COURT: So let me try to
19
    understand your legal theory.
                                   Is your legal theory
20
    that because in your view TD Bank and Schwab reached
21
    an agreement, arrangement, or understanding with
22
    respect to an amended IDA agreement, that, by itself,
```

No.

I mean, if

MR. LEBOVITCH:

establishes the Section 203 violation?

23

24

1 someone were to put it in isolation, the answer is no.

2 | Here, what we've alleged is the approach in October

3 | was conditioned on an amended IDA agreement and a

4 | voting agreement. I would say that they were

5 | intertwined. And in fact, if anything, the letter at

6 | the beginning of October should have been viewed as a

7 | red flag that there's a risk of essentially nonratable

payments being made to TD as the price of admission to

9 the board.

10

11

12

13

14

15

16

17

18

19

20

21

22

23

24

And so one thing the board could have done as a matter of process, what it's supposed to do in light of the powers given under 203, is to say, We're going to negotiate first. Right? That's the purpose of 203. Don't go to our side shareholders and negotiate, pick them off.

We believe that from the beginning, in October, the first letter did tie the voting agreements, the ultimate voting agreements, with the IDA. And even if we didn't have that, Your Honor -- and I think that once you can see the set of facts where there's some collateral agreement arranged between a buyer and someone that happens to be a 50 percent shareholder that has nothing to do with the shareholding position, I would submit that what we've

alleged holistically is that the fact that Schwab has

its own bank, the fact that the TD Bank IDA that was

in place when it was, we would submit, an effective

controller of Ameritrade, was way beyond market terms.

Way beyond market terms.

I think that it is fair to say -- let me add one fact. The Ameritrade board was, in fact, getting data which we set in the complaint showing that the existing IDA was way beyond the pale. I think that the logical inference is that in order to get this good deal from Schwab, everyone understood that they were going to support the merger because that's the only way they get this revised IDA.

THE COURT: Thank you.

MR. LEBOVITCH: And Your Honor, I just want to say, my phone should be fully charged but it seems to be beeping. And so if I drop, I'm going to try to get another phone so I can call back in if I need to. I hope it doesn't die.

Does Your Honor have any more questions?

THE COURT: I do not at this time.

23 Thank you.

6

7

8

9

10

11

12

1.3

14

15

16

17

18

19

MR. LEBOVITCH: Okay. Thank you.

And goes

```
THE COURT: Mr. Winter, why don't we
 1
 2
    wait for Mr. Lebovitch to dial back in and we'll
 3
    continue.
 4
                    MR. WINTER:
                                  That sounds fine, Your
 5
    Honor.
 6
                    MR. LEBOVITCH: I have no idea why it
 7
    was beeping.
                    THE COURT: Thank you.
                    Mr. Winter, you may proceed.
 9
10
                    MR. WINTER: Good afternoon, Your
11
    Honor. Steven Winter from Wachtell Lipton Rosen &
12
    Katz for the director defendants.
1.3
                     I would like to just start with the
14
    statute. Section 203 does not apply where the board
15
    approves either the merger or the transaction by which
16
    a stockholder becomes an interested stockholder prior
17
    to the time of that transaction. And that, of course,
18
    reflects the statute's recognized purpose, which is to
19
    force the acquirer to deal with rather than go around
20
    the target company's board. And that's exactly what
21
    happened here.
2.2
                    From the get-go, the SDC, and that's
23
    the independent special committee, tells Schwab that
```

You can only have discussions through us.

24

further and says, specifically, You can't talk to TD Bank without our consent. That's reflected in the committee minutes and in the NDA, which specifically prohibited Schwab from engaging in any discussions, negotiations, arrangement, understanding with TD Bank without the board's prior consent.

Schwab agreed and committed that any potential transaction was going to be subject to the MFW conditions. And that's, again, from the get-go. So that means going through the special committee, but it also means an unwaivable requirement that a majority of the stockholders unaffiliated with TD Bank would need to approve the deal. So TD Bank's shares were going to be excluded from that required vote, again, from the start.

Now, because Schwab had made clear in its proposal to Ameritrade that it was conditioned on certain banking-related agreements with TD Bank, which turned into the amended IDA, the SDC authorized Schwab to have direct discussions with TD Bank over that amendment. It did so in February and again in October, including in advance of the October 31st meeting that we've heard so much about from plaintiff.

agreement, voting agreement, and IDA amendment to consider, each of which were negotiated over the ensuing months, the special committee and the board approved all of them four days before the voting agreement was entered into. Indeed, the voting agreement itself, and this is on the first page, specifies that it was preapproved by the Ameritrade board. And none of that is subject to any dispute at all.

And so in our view, the requisites of Section 203(a)(1) were satisfied, which carves this transaction out from 203, and it's an either/or standard. And here you have both. You have the board approving the merger before the voting agreement was entered into, and the board approved the voting agreement itself, which, in the language of the statute is a transaction which allegedly resulted in Schwab, the acquirer, becoming an interested stockholder. So we don't believe the Section 203 claim is colorable at all.

Now, plaintiff's entire case, and I think this is clear from the reply brief that came in this morning and from Mr. Lebovitch's remarks, is at this October 31st meeting, there was some

pre-agreement about voting. A couple of things about
this meeting.

1.3

2.2

First, everyone was on site at this meeting. The SDC was there, Schwab was there, and TD Bank was invited by the committee to be there. And TD Bank was giving the SDC, which had a running committee meeting going at the same facility, real-time updates about its discussions with Schwab over the IDA. So there was nothing secretive about any of this.

Now, plaintiff says that it's reasonably inferable that TD Bank and Schwab reached a binding arrangement at that meeting that TD Bank would vote its Ameritrade shares in favor of a merger proposal that had not even been made yet. That's the claim. And the predicate for that is -- or the predicate for that inference is that TD Bank and Schwab had also reached an agreement -- and as Your Honor recognized, that's what's pled in the complaint -- at that meeting on the IDA's terms.

Now, plaintiff called it a fact but it's really just another inference. As Your Honor recognized I think in questioning to plaintiff's counsel, it's not reflected in the November 3rd proposal, and we don't think it's a reasonable

1 inference.

1.3

2.2

As the Section 220 record makes clear and, frankly, plaintiff's own complaint recognizes, there was continued negotiations over the IDA's terms over the ensuing months. At that time, not a single draft of that amendment had been exchanged.

And now, the final one is appended to the S-4. And as it's clear, this is a complex agreement. It's pages and pages long. It governs the custody of billions of dollars in federally insured deposits. And plaintiff asks this Court to infer that based on a couple of terms in the November 3rd proposal which preceded the first term sheet about the IDA a day later, that TD Bank and Schwab nevertheless entered into another binding agreement at that first negotiating session on October 31st.

So we don't think that inference is reasonable or logical, but even leaving all that aside, we're here on a 203 claim, and there's nothing, just nothing to suggest that at that meeting, there was any discussion about voting, that the topic of voting even came up.

So plaintiff says, Well, you know, you can infer that fact because after October 31st -- we

heard this this afternoon -- apparently there was no,

I think, discussions about whether or not TD Bank

would vote its shares in support of -- well, I guess

whatever merger proposal that the special committee

and Schwab would eventually agree to. Two responses

to that, Your Honor.

2.2

three weeks having such discussions, including over a voting agreement, which of course would not have been agreed to until the special committee and Schwab concluded negotiations over the terms of the merger itself. TD Bank was excluded from that process. So the idea that they're pre-agreeing to vote their shares in favor of a merger that was still subject to negotiation we don't think makes any sense.

And I'll note that from the beginning,

Schwab's proposals -- and this is from March 15th,

October 8th, and November 3rd -- they each said that

they anticipated getting a voting and support

agreement from TD Bank as well as another large

stockholder, the Ricketts family, as well.

So nothing changed on October 31st.

The proposals before and after have the exact same

language about an anticipated voting agreement, and

plaintiff doesn't allege that before October 31st,

there was some discussion about whether TD Bank would

support the yet-to-be-agreed-to merger proposal

either. So we don't think you can draw any inference

from plaintiff's incorrect allegation.

2.2

Let me also address here the suggestion, we think it's really more speculation, that Schwab and TD Bank engaged in unauthorized or side discussions between March and October when merger discussions went on, on hiatus. When we saw this in the plaintiff's motion, it appeared to be more of a throwaway comment in a footnote, but it took on some more prominence in its reply, and we heard it again today.

As far as we can tell, the entire basis for this claim is that Schwab's October proposal on the IDA -- I guess the November 3rd proposal, had some details in it. It talked about how much the cost basis should be reduced, the term, and so they must have been talking for those six months. With respect, that inference is not reasonable for at least two reasons.

First, plaintiff just ignores -- and they have the document -- that back in the February-

1 March time frame, Schwab and TD Bank were discussing

2 | terms of a potential IDA amendment, way back then.

3 And that's reflected in the February 8th minutes,

4 | which is Exhibit G to our opposition, and discussions

5 | that were, as we said, approved by the SDC. So they

6 were talking about the IDA back then.

The other thing is that the existing IDA between Ameritrade and TD Bank is a publicly disclosed document. And as plaintiff alleges, Schwab is in the custody and banking business. And so the terms that we're talking about in the October 8th proposal, which is, again, a 5-basis-point reduction in the servicing fee, a ten-year extension of the agreement, it is not at all clear to us why plaintiff thinks there must have been discussions in order for Schwab to propose that TD would be paid less on the agreement and it would last for a certain period of time, and certainly no explanation from plaintiff as to why that would be so.

So we think that there's nothing.

There's nothing to suggest that voting was even discussed at the October 31st meeting, let alone that they reached an agreement or understanding sufficient under the statute to render Schwab the owner of TD

Bank's shares for purposes of Section 203. It's just speculation.

And frankly, it's not even reasonable to speculate that TD Bank would have done so. It's the 43 percent stakeholder in TD Bank Ameritrade. Its stake is worth billions of dollars. And the notion that it agreed to pre-commit its vote when, on October 31st, the merger consideration was still being negotiated by the SDC concurrently, at the same location, frankly, not a single draft of the merger agreement or the voting agreement or the IDA amendment had been exchanged, not a single one, and the parties hadn't even begun substantive due diligence, we don't think it's a reasonable inference or a logical one, as the cases require.

Plaintiff spends a lot of time, mostly in the complaint but a little today, criticizing the amended IDA and calling it something that Schwab just gifted to TD Bank. We don't think this is the time to debate the merits of the IDA. We're here on a Section 203 claim. But I do want to make two points.

First, the notion that there's no reason why Schwab would have wanted to continue a sweeping arrangement with TD Bank is contradicted by

the S-4 and the 220 record, which makes the point, among other things, that Schwab would have had to substantially increase its own capital requirements were it to try to keep all the Ameritrade deposits on its balance sheet. It's not something just as easy to do as plaintiff assumes.

And just to be clear, from the very beginning of the discussion back in early 2019, there was a recognition that there would need to be banking-related agreements between Schwab and TD Bank. And that's one of the reasons why there was a special committee here that was formed from the outset. And so, you know, in response to Mr. Lebovitch's claim about how the special committee or board should have operated here, they operated once there was a perceived potential conflict by creating the committee and insisting on the MFW conditions.

And the next point, and this goes back to the context here, is that those MFW conditions were in place from the start. TD Bank had no control over the merger negotiations or the price. And TD Bank's votes were going to be excluded from the required vote, again, from the start. And so the inference plaintiff wants the Court to draw about this quid pro

quo over TD Bank's voting shares is just especially unreasonable given the MFW conditions.

1.3

And finally, just returning to where I started, let me just reiterate that these were board-approved negotiations. It would be unprecedented and we think totally inconsistent with the purpose of the statute to subject Section 203's takeover restrictions to a supposed transaction that was negotiated by an independent and fully empowered committee where both the negotiations that plaintiff complains about, the negotiations themselves, and the final agreements were approved by the special committee and the board.

Now, in their reply, at pages 6 and 7 and again this afternoon, plaintiff seems to be making the argument that Section 203 somehow requires a target board to negotiate for itself voting agreements between an acquirer and a stockholder. Section 203 says nothing of this sort. It says that the statute does not apply where the board has approved the transaction by which -- and here, the board approved both the negotiations and the voting agreement itself.

Now, plaintiff may disagree with the special committee's decision to authorize these

concurrent negotiations, and the suggestion is that Ameritrade could have done better if the special committee had sequenced the negotiations differently. We very much doubt that, given that the IDA was a condition here of all of Schwab's proposals and its insistence that that be reached before or as part of any negotiated transaction and its insistence that it was not going to go higher than the merger premium it agreed to. But again, that's an issue, if at all, for another day.

What's clear, though, is that it's not a 203 issue. It's the SDC's choice to make. And the fact that they made that choice, that they made that choice, not the acquirer, not TD Bank, but they made the choice to approve the negotiations, and then once there were agreements to look at, approve those too, takes this outside of the purview of the statute.

explain in on our papers why plaintiff's nearly two-month delay here was unreasonable and has prejudiced the parties and the Court, given the very limited time remaining before the stockholder vote. They say that they didn't know when the meeting was going to be and that the disclosure was that it was

- likely to close in the second half of 2020. Plaintiff
 has sophisticated counsel. They understand that it's
- 3 subject to regulatory approval. And so once the
- 4 initial S-4 came out in March, we think the onus was
- 5 on them to move with dispatch if they were going to
- 6 raise a Section 203 claim and have it heard before the
- 7 stockholder vote.
- 8 Unless Your Honor has any further
- 9 questions, I'm done with my argument.
- 10 THE COURT: Thank you, Mr. Winter. I
- 11 have a couple of questions.
- So if, on October 31st, TD Bank and
- 13 | Schwab reached an agreement on the material terms of
- 14 | an amended IDA agreement and at the same time reached
- 15 | an understanding, not necessarily written but an oral
- 16 understanding that that agreement to the material
- 17 | terms would be sufficient to obtain TD Bank's vote in
- 18 | favor of whatever merger the special committee was
- 19 | able to negotiate, would that constitute a violation
- 20 of Section 203? And if not, why not?
- MR. WINTER: I'll put aside that we
- 22 | don't think, Your Honor, those are reasonable
- 23 | inferences to draw, but taking the question, we think
- 24 | there's at least some question as to whether or not

- 1 | that would actually implicate the statute here,
- 2 because the statute does carve out from its
- 3 application situations where the board has approved --
- 4 and this is the language of the statute -- the
- 5 transaction by which the acquirer allegedly became an
- 6 interested stockholder.
- 7 And so in the circumstance where the
- 8 supposition is that these preliminary negotiations
- 9 were the basis upon which Schwab became an interested
- 10 | stockholder, we do think that the board's approval of
- 11 | those negotiations would render the statute
- 12 inapplicable.
- 13 And I'll add that the notion that sort
- 14 of these negotiations are board-approved negotiations
- 15 | that could be sufficient to implicate 203, it really
- 16 | would put boards in a very difficult position here
- 17 | because every time there would be an anticipated
- 18 voting agreement, like here, there would be a risk or
- 19 | a view that the transaction could be subject to a 203
- 20 challenge.
- So the policy behind that would have
- 22 | to be the board would feel compelled to
- 23 prophylactically waive 203 to avoid the possibility
- 24 | that at this negotiating session there was some

```
preliminary and formal understanding that could
 1
 2
    trigger 203, but that would only have the perverse
 3
    effect of reducing the board's leverage with the
 4
    acquirer if it were forced to waive 203 too early,
 5
    which is the whole point of 203.
 6
                    So I think, Your Honor, in this
 7
    circumstance, it would be a basis to say that 203
 8
    would not AP apply.
 9
                    THE COURT:
                                 Thank you.
10
                    Mr. Lebovitch?
11
                    MR. LEBOVITCH: Yes, Your Honor.
12
    Honor, do you hear me now?
1.3
                    THE COURT: I hear you fine.
14
                    MR. LEBOVITCH: I apologize for the
15
    prior phone problem. Let me address these hopefully
16
    in a cogent order.
17
                    You know, we shouldn't forget a
18
    salient fact applicable to this case that doesn't
19
    necessarily apply in other 203 cases. We're not only
20
    challenging the IDA as being part of the 203 violation
21
    but we are actually challenging it as a nonratable
22
    benefit being paid to a 45 percent stockholder who we
23
    allege is an effective controller. And so the board's
```

relationship vis-a-vis TD is set forth in the

24

1 complaint.

2.1

2.2

23

24

in hand.

2. And I think also when you look at 203, 3 it's important to remember that the board's 4 relationship vis-a-vis Schwab is that Schwab did make 5 an approach last spring. The board said, Go away. 6 We're not happy. Schwab then cratered Ameritrade's 7 stock price and put it in a business situation where 8 not only was TD Bank at risk of losing the IDA if 9 there was no deal because Ameritrade might be forced 10 to make it closer to or at market, but Ameritrade 11 itself was at risk. I mean, the stock was tanking. 12 And I think -- we allege I think it was two days after 1.3 Schwab craters the brokerage market, it came and 14 approached Ameritrade, so -- for very close to TD and 15 really should have used Schwab as a hostile player by 16 any measure. 17 I think the premise of my friend 18 Mr. Winter's argument is that Your Honor should look 19 at the IDA negotiations in a vacuum. We think that's 20 incorrect and not reliable. If there is no merger,

The October 31st meeting, as the

there is no IDA. And I think I addressed earlier why

the IDA is tied to the voting agreement. They go hand

defendants in their brief pointed out, there were direct discussions amongst TD and Schwab. Again, there's a legal backdrop against which Schwab approached this. They decided to take the risk that they would go too far.

I think, actually, I'm going to take this out of order because the last point Mr. Winter made is about policy. And he's suggesting that a ruling to expedite this particular claim here is somehow going to nullify 203 or force boards to waive early. I actually think, Your Honor, it's just the opposite. I think that because 203 is essentially a weapon -- I don't mean to be pejorative, but it's effectively a weapon given to target boards to use against any potential acquirer, as Steve said, I think that it very well could say, You negotiate with us first. You're not -- we're the gatekeeper to TD, not the other way around.

And while we can hypothesize situations where a board could say, Okay, you don't know if your computers are interchangeable. You can go have a discussion. You 45 percent shareholder and potential hostile bidder who just cratered our business, go have discussions about whether your

computers work together, and then we're going to talk about the merger, and whatever we leap over, maybe you can negotiate the terms of an IDA.

What happened here, because the board allowed negotiations to take place -- and allowing negotiations is not the same as approving the deal in advance. They allowed negotiations to take place. And the way we see it is Ameritrade, at a time of crisis, at a time that the stock was down and heading further down, TD Bank negotiated a good deal for itself knowing that there was a floor. Okay?

And that's important because the October offer from Schwab had a 12 percent premium embedded in it. So TD was able to negotiate its IDA knowing that, with its stock having just tanked -- with Ameritrade's stock having tanked and heading downward, said if it is happy with its IDA, it knows it's going to get at least 12 percent.

So it becomes a bit of an option for TD to say, Okay, I've got enough to feather my nest so I don't need to be in the subsequent merger negotiations because I'm happy. And now whatever crumbs I've left over is what the board, having stepped aside, again, either voluntarily, because it's

- 1 loyal to TD or because of a miscalculation, which, you
- 2 know, creates a problem under 203, the board is now
- 3 | left to pick up whatever crumbs are left for all the
- 4 rest of the shareholders after TD is paid.
- 5 So I think the policy is strongly in
- 6 favor of applying 203 here. Your Honor heard
- 7 Mr. Winter use phrases like "binding agreement,"
- 8 "binding arrangement." That's just not the legal
- 9 | standard, understanding "arrangement" read broadly,
- 10 because of the policy purposes behind this.
- 11 And the facts -- I mean, we did a 220
- 12 | here. Yes, we thought there was time. We gave an
- 13 extension. And we then were working out, we believe,
- 14 documents when suddenly, after we said, Okay, we're
- 15 | going to get in about a week the board documents, in a
- 16 | week or two we're going to get the documents, the
- 17 | proxy comes out and sets June 4th. And that's what
- 18 | mobilized us into saying, We either have to file right
- 19 away or you have to give us some materials
- 20 | immediately. So we got materials, and they're all
- 21 over our complaint.
- I will point out that paragraphs 103
- 23 | to 105 really lay out that this IDA is extremely
- 24 | valuable to TD and it's still above market. Okay? So

it is a fair inference that TD's negotiating I'll call it timing advantage over the board helped TD get an above-market outcome on the IDA, and then it left the board to negotiate.

And I think, Your Honor, I think I've covered what I wanted to cover. Unless Your Honor has any additional follow-up questions, then I think I'm done.

9 THE COURT: I do not. Thank you.

10 I do have a couple of follow-up

11 questions for the defendants.

Mr. Winter, I don't know if you are the appropriate person or not, but the proxy statement says that the parties anticipate closing in the second half of 2020. And the proxy statement also indicates that there are several regulatory approvals that are needed in order to close.

What is your best estimate of when you would expect to close, assuming that the stockholders of both entities vote the transaction on June 4th?

MR. WINTER: I'll start by answering that question, Your Honor. So the deal is obviously subject to regulatory approval, and there's been a second request, and so the antitrust authorities are

- 1 | currently reviewing the transaction. So I think the
- 2 | timing of closing will be contingent on the timing of
- 3 that review.
- I don't believe that it's likely that
- 5 | the transaction would close before the end of the
- 6 summer, is my understanding, in terms of the expected
- 7 | timing of those discussions, but again, that's subject
- 8 to the antitrust authority's review.
- 9 THE COURT: Are there other regulatory
- 10 approvals that are needed, or is that the one that you
- 11 expect will take the longest?
- 12 MR. WINTER: I am not aware of
- 13 anything else that is expected to delay things. I
- 14 | think that's the main item, apart from the shareholder
- 15 vote.
- MR. KAZANOFF: Your Honor, it's Peter
- 17 | Kazanoff from Simpson Thacher, if I could also add
- 18 something on that.
- 19 THE COURT: Yes.
- MR. KAZANOFF: There is also, I
- 21 | believe -- and I'm certainly not an expert in this
- 22 | area -- bank regulatory approvals. Which, you know,
- 23 | maybe it isn't clear to everyone but, you know,
- 24 | brokered -- where the brokered deposits end up is a

highly regulated aspect of banking. And it was one of the reasons from the very beginning that you couldn't have a transaction between Schwab and Ameritrade that could close without an amended sweep agreement.

5

6

7

8

9

10

11

12

1.3

14

15

16

19

20

2.1

24

Because, otherwise, once Schwab acquired Ameritrade, they would step into the shoes of the existing sweep agreement, and all the deposits would have then had to have been swept to TD, which would have been, you know, something TD wasn't in a position to do and something the regulators wouldn't approve. Because you need to have a lot of regulatory capital as a bank to take certain deposits.

This is a regulatory issue. I understand it's not a 203 issue. But you had asked about these regulatory approvals, and I believe there is a banking one as well.

THE COURT: Thank you. I appreciate that, Mr. Kazanoff.

Am I correct that there is no financing contingency with respect to this transaction?

MR. WINTER: I believe that's correct,

but if counsel for Schwab has a different view ...

MR. DITCHFIELD: Your Honor, this is

1 Andrew Ditchfield. I don't have a different view on 2 that.

1.3

THE COURT: Last question. What is the status of the other litigation that I have seen identified in the proxy statement?

MR. WINTER: Yes, Your Honor. So there's been I believe now six or seven, I believe seven, 14(a) cases that have been filed in federal courts in Delaware, New York, and New Jersey. Those are still in place and are only disclosure claims, I believe, with respect to the S-4. And currently, there's been no motions or any kind of proceeding to advance those at this point.

THE COURT: Thank you.

Counsel, thank you very much for your submissions on short notice. I really appreciate it. I know it's a big lift, particularly in the environment that we're in, and I appreciate the quality of the submissions that you have provided to me. They've been very helpful.

Given the extreme time sensitivity
here, I am going to give you a bench ruling on the
motion to expedite. It does not contain all of the
factual background that I would ordinarily like to

have, even in a bench ruling, but it focuses on what I
see as the core issues before me.

1.3

To merit expedited proceedings, a plaintiff must plead a colorable claim and establish a possibility of threatened irreparable harm. In doing so, the Court does not judge the merits of the complaint but accepts the well-pled allegations. The standard is very low.

Based on the allegations of the complaint as I read it, Schwab conditioned its offers to enter into a business combination with TD Ameritrade on entering into an amended IDA agreement with TD Bank. TD Bank is alleged to own approximately 43 percent of TD Ameritrade's outstanding common stock.

Schwab and TD Bank discussed a proposed amended IDA agreement. The plaintiff points to a specific meeting on October 31, 2019. On November 3rd, Schwab submitted a business combination proposal to TD Ameritrade, which stated that it was conditioned upon an extension of the IDA on particular terms, which the proxy statement describes as "terms consistent with those proposed by representatives of Schwab to representatives of TD Bank at the meeting

held on October 31, 2019."

Now, the plaintiff says TD Bank and Schwab agreed to those terms on October 31st, but that is not expressly stated in the proxy statement or the November 3rd letter from Schwab to TD Ameritrade.

Nevertheless, the complaint alleges that the material terms of the amended IDA did not change after October 31st. The November 3rd letter also indicated that Schwab would anticipate receiving voting and support agreements from TD Ameritrade stockholders, including TD Bank.

On November 20, 2019, the TD

Ameritrade board approved the merger with Schwab,
including the voting agreement between TD Bank and
Schwab as well as the IDA amendment. On November 24,
2019, Schwab and TD Ameritrade entered into the merger
agreement, and the voting agreement between Schwab and
TD Bank was executed the same day.

The plaintiff alleges there is a reasonable inference from the factual allegations which must be drawn in his favor that Schwab and TD Bank reached an agreement, arrangement, or understanding on October 31, 2019, in the course of their discussions on the terms of an IDA agreement for

1 the purpose of acquiring or voting TD Bank's shares in
2 a subsequent merger with TD Ameritrade.

2.1

2.2

As I understand the plaintiff's theory, Schwab needed TD Bank's agreement on an amended IDA if Schwab was going to enter into a business combination with TD Ameritrade. Schwab also was highly desirous of obtaining TD Bank's vote in favor of any business combination, due to the size of its holdings. According to the plaintiff's theory, those two items were linked. According to the plaintiff's theory, at least as I understand it, the amended IDA agreement was given in exchange for TD Bank's pledge to vote its shares in favor of the merger. As the plaintiff describes it, a quid pro quo.

The defendants counter by arguing that the TD Ameritrade board approved the merger agreement and the voting agreement before they were entered.

That is, the board approved those agreements on November 20th and the agreements were entered into on November 24th.

Defendants also note that the board exempted the merger and the transactions contemplated thereby from Section 203, but that is not dispositive

under Section 203. The definition of a "interested stockholder" under Section 203 is very broad. It includes not only circumstances in which there is a right to acquire or vote shares pursuant to an agreement, arrangement, or understanding but also where there is any agreement, arrangement, or understanding for the purpose of acquiring, holding, voting, or disposing of such stock.

1.3

The defendants also argue there could not have been an agreement on the IDA amendment on October 31st because the parties continued to negotiate its terms over the ensuing month. The defendants also argue that it is not reasonably inferable that TD Bank and Schwab reached an understanding that TD Bank would vote its shares in favor of a merger to secure the IDA amendment.

"interested stockholder" under Section 203, I conclude that the complaint at least inferentially alleges a colorable claim that Schwab became an interested stockholder in connection with the negotiation of the amendment to the IDA agreement. I reach that conclusion based on the very low threshold that is required on a motion to expedite.

It is at least a colorable inference in my mind based on the facts alleged that TD Bank and Schwab agreed on the material terms of an amended IDA agreement on October 31st and that it included TD Bank's agreement to vote its shares in favor of a merger on terms that the strategic development committee would ultimately approve. The inference is not nearly as strong as the plaintiff contends; nor is it nonexistent, as the defendants contend.

1.3

I am dubious about the plaintiff's argument that just agreeing to the material terms of the IDA alone would establish a violation of Section 203. There is a significant difference between alleging a colorable claim and establishing a reasonable probability of success on a preliminary injunction motion. The plaintiff here has a big hill to climb. But he has alleged enough in my mind to warrant discovery into the issue.

I do note that the defendants have made arguments about the purposes of Section 203 and what I consider to be policy-based arguments. I don't want to minimize those arguments, but I do not consider them to be persuasive in view of the low pleading threshold required for expedited proceedings.

But I do leave those arguments for another day.

1.3

The plaintiff has also established a sufficient threat of irreparable harm, a statutory violation that would preclude the closing of the merger under Delaware law, at least under the current terms. The defendants do not dispute that a colorable claim under Section 203 establishes a sufficient threat of irreparable harm.

I understand plaintiff's argument that there is also a colorable disclosure claim that is directly tied to the substantive Section 203 claim.

That is, the proxy statement is materially misleading because it does not disclose that Schwab became an interested stockholder under Section 203 and, therefore, the merger cannot close because of two things: one, the merger is not being subject to a supermajority vote provided for in Section 203; and two, therefore, TD Ameritrade is barred under Section 203 from entering into a business combination with Schwab for three years.

I also understand the recursive loop argument that led Vice Chancellor Laster to expedite both the Section 203 claim and the disclosure claim in the KCG case. Having found a colorable claim and a

sufficient threat of irreparable harm, I must also 1 2 consider the issue of timing. On one hand, I 3 appreciate defendants' argument that the plaintiff has unreasonably delayed in bringing his motions for 4 expedited proceedings and a preliminary injunction 5 6 just three weeks before the special meeting for 7 stockholders to vote on the merger. That is 8 particularly so where the IDA agreement, the merger 9 agreement, and the voting and support agreement were 10 all executed and publicly announced in 2019, the 11 initial S-4 was filed on March 10th, and the plaintiff waited until May 12, 2020, three weeks before the 12 13 meeting, to assert his Section 203 claim. 14 In that regard, the plaintiff here is 15 not similarly situated to the plaintiff in KCG. 16 KCG the merger agreement was executed on April 20th, 17 the preliminary proxy was filed May 11th, the 18 definitive proxy was filed on June 1st, and the 19 plaintiff filed its complaint and motion to expedite 20 the very next day, on June 2nd, which was five weeks 21 before the date of the stockholders' meeting. 22 Unlike the KCG plaintiff, the merger 23 agreement here was executed in November 2019, the

preliminary proxy was filed March 10th, more than two

24

months before the complaint was filed, and the preliminary proxy was filed May 6th, a week before the plaintiff filed his complaint seeking to enjoin a meeting scheduled for June 4th.

1.3

On the other hand, I recognize that the plaintiff attempted to use the tools at hand by making a books and records demand under Section 220 on April 9th, and TD Ameritrade did not produce documents for inspection until May 7. The plaintiff filed his complaint five days later. I also note that the stockholder meeting date was not disclosed until May 4 in an amended S-4.

operating in highly unusual times. The ability to conduct discovery and particularly the taking of depositions is much more challenging in the midst of the COVID-19 pandemic, which has acutely affected how we live, how we do business, and how we litigate cases.

From my perspective, the key issue here is the substantive Section 203 claim. Based on my understanding, the termination date for this merger agreement is in November 2020 with the possibility of an extension to May 2021. There is no financing

condition to closing. There are several regulatory approvals necessary before the merger can close. And based on what I've heard today, it is unlikely that this merger will close before the end of the summer.

With all of that said, I am going to grant the motion to expedite, but I am not going to schedule a hearing in advance of the June 4 meeting. Given the fact that the termination date is not until November, there is no financing commitment issue and there are pending regulatory approvals, the June 4th meeting is not the critical driver for me under the current circumstances.

On a clear day absent the current pandemic, I might be inclined to expedite and schedule a hearing before the meeting date, but I'm not going to do so in this case.

My decision is also influenced by the plaintiff's waiting three weeks before the meeting to file his complaint and motion to expedite.

The Court's decision not to schedule a hearing prior to the June 4 meeting date does not mean that the plaintiff has failed to state a colorable disclosure claim concerning Section 203. That, of course, ultimately turns on whether the plaintiff has

- 1 established his Section 203 claim. The defendants
- 2 must recognize that if the plaintiff prevails on a
- 3 | Section 203 claim, it could very well have
- 4 implications on the validity of the stockholder vote.
- I am going to expedite this case, but
- 6 | it is not going to be at the schedule that the
- 7 | plaintiff has proposed. Discovery is going to be very
- 8 | narrowly tailored to the Section 203 issues in this
- 9 case.
- I see two potential options here for
- 11 | the parties. We could schedule a merits hearing on
- 12 | the Section 203 issues for sometime in late July or in
- 13 | August. Alternatively, we could schedule a
- 14 | preliminary injunction hearing on the Section 203
- 15 | issues in late June. In that regard, I do have some
- 16 availability during the week of June 22nd. I would
- 17 | like the parties to confer and then contact my
- 18 | assistant by the end of next week to let me know how
- 19 | the parties intend to proceed and for potential
- 20 hearing dates.
- 21 That is my ruling. Let me first turn
- 22 to counsel for the plaintiff for any questions.
- Hearing none, I turn to counsel for
- 24 the defendants.

1	MR. LEBOVITCH: I'm sorry, Your Honor.
2	I had none. I apologize. I didn't realize I was on
3	mute.
4	MR. WINTER: No questions, Your Honor.
5	Counsel.
6	THE COURT: Counsel, again, thank you
7	very much. I recognize that this is going to require
8	some expedited discovery on the part of the parties.
9	Hopefully there is enough breathing room for the
10	parties to do that so that we are not doing what I
11	always referred to in private practice as a fire drill
12	three weeks before the meeting. So please confer, and
13	if you can get back to my assistant by next Friday, I
14	would greatly appreciate it.
15	With that, the Court stands in recess,
16	and I hope everyone has a nice weekend.
17	MR. WINTER: Thank you, Your Honor.
18	MR. LEBOVITCH: Thank you very much
19	Your Honor.
20	(Court adjourned at 4:21 p.m.)
21	
22	
23	
24	

CERTIFICATE

1.3

I, JEANNE CAHILL, RDR, CRR, Official

Court Reporter for the Court of Chancery of the State
of Delaware, do hereby certify that the foregoing
pages numbered 3 through 55 contain a true and correct
transcription of the proceedings as stenographically
reported by me at the hearing in the above cause
before the Vice Chancellor of the State of Delaware,
on the date therein indicated.

IN WITNESS WHEREOF I have hereunto set my hand at Wilmington, Delaware, this 18th day of May, $2020\,.$

16 /s/ Jeanne Cahill

Jeanne Cahill, RDR, CRR
Official Chancery Court Reporter
Registered Diplomate Reporter
Certified Realtime Reporter

IN THE COURT OF CHANCERY OF THE STATE OF DELAWARE

ORLANDO POLICE PENSION FUND, on behalf of itself and all other similarly situated stockholders of TWITTER, INC.,)))
Plaintiff, v.) C.A. No. 2022)
TWITTER, INC., PARAG AGRAWAL, MIMI ALEMAYEHOU, JACK DORSEY, EGON DURBAN, MARTHA LANE FOX, OMID KORDESTANI, FEI-FEI LI, PATRICK PICHETTE, DAVID ROSENBLATT, BRET TAYLOR, ROBERT ZOELLICK, and ELON MUSK, Defendants.))))))))))
[PROPOSED] ORDE	R GRANTING

[PROPOSED] ORDER GRANTING PLAINTIFF'S MOTION FOR EXPEDITED DISCOVERY AND PROCEEDINGS AND SETTING A PROMPT TRIAL

WHEREAS, Plaintiff filed its Verified Stockholder Class Action Complaint (the "Complaint") on May 6, 2022;

WHEREAS, Plaintiff filed its Motion for Expedited Discovery and Proceedings and Setting a Prompt Trial (the "Motion to Expedite") on May 6, 2022;

WHEREAS, the Court has considered the Motion to Expedite, the Complaint and supporting materials, and the briefs and arguments submitted by the parties and has found good cause for issuance of this Order;

IT IS HEREBY ORDERED this __ day of _____ 2022, that:

1. The Motion to Expedite is GRANTED;

2.	The Court hereby sets a trial for, 2022, and directs the parties
	to prepare and submit a scheduling order allowing trial be held on such
	date.
	[Vice] Chancellor